

Role of Very Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor in Lipid Metabolism and Atherosclerosis



Paul J. Tacken

Role of Very Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor in Lipid Metabolism and Atherosclerosis

PROEFSCHRIFT

ter verkrijging van de graad van Doctor aan de Universiteit Leiden, op gezag van de Rector Magnificus Dr. D.D. Breimer, hoogleraar in de faculteit der Wiskunde en Natuurwetenschappen en die der Geneeskunde, volgens besluit van het College voor Promoties te verdedigen op woensdag 21 februari 2001 te klokke 14.15 uur

door

Paulus Johannes Tacken

geboren te Sint Oedenrode in 1971

Promotiecommissie

Promotores:	Prof. dr. ir. L.M. Havekes
	ProI. dr. M.H. Hoiker
Co-promotor:	Dr. ir. K. Willems van Dijk
Referent:	Prof. dr. Th.J.C. van Berkel
Overige Leden:	Prof. dr. R.R. Frants
	Prof. dr. W.J. Schneider (University of Vienna, Austria)
	Prof. dr. A van der Laarse
	Dr. P.H.A. Quax

The studies presented in this thesis were performed at the department of Human and Clinical Genetics of the Leiden University Medical Center and the Gaubius Laboratory of TNO-Prevention and Health, Leiden.

This work was financially supported by the Netherlands Heart Foundation (projectnr. 95095).

ISBN 90-6743-761-1

Financial support by the Gaubius Laboratory of TNO Prevention and Health and the Netherlands Heart Foundation for the publication of this thesis is gratefully acknowledged.

The printing of this thesis was financially supported by Parke-Davis B.V. and Hope-Farms.

The copyright of the published chapters remains with the indicated journals.

Stellingen behorende bij het proefschrift:

"Role of very low density lipoprotein receptor in lipid metabolism and atherosclerosis"

- 1 De naam "apoE receptor 2" is toegewezen aan de receptor voordat deze voldoende gekarakteriseerd was (dit proefschrift).
- 2 LDL receptor familieleden binden niet alleen meerdere liganden *in vitro*, ook uit *in vivo* data blijkt dat één receptor met meerdere liganden interacteert.
- 3 Evenals verstoringen in de vetmassa kunnen leiden tot veranderingen in het lipoproteïnemetabolisme, kunnen verstoringen in het lipoproteïne-metabolisme leiden tot veranderingen in de vetmassa.
- 4 Aangezien vetopslag afhankelijk is van zowel genetische als omgevingsfactoren geldt dat, ook al komt "ieder pondje door het mondje", niet ieder pondje voor eenieder tot dezelfde gewichtstoename zal leiden (J. Friedman and J. Halaas, Nature, 395: 763-770, 1998).
- 5 Ondanks de vele hypotheses over de rol van LDL receptor familieleden bij atherosclerotische schuimcelvorming, is zo'n rol nog nooit onomstotelijk vastgesteld.
- 6 Het ontbreken van een duidelijk fenotype in een knock-out muis hoeft niet te betekenen dat het betreffende gen geen belangrijke fysiologische functie vervult.
- 7 De VLDL receptor transgene en knock-out muizen laten zien dat men, teneinde muismodellen goed te karakteriseren, de biologische parameters onder uiteenlopende omstandigheden dient te bestuderen (*dit proefschrift*).
- 8 Voor de "restricted-ovulator" kip geldt: Je ei niet kwijt kunnen is slecht voor hart- en bloedvaten (H. Bujo et al., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 92: 9905-9909, 1995).
- 9 Het is in deze drukke tijden goed te weten dat uit de relativiteitstheorie het volgende is af te leiden: als "de tijd vliegt", verloopt ze langzamer (A. Einstein, Annalen der Physik, 17: 891-921, 1905).
- 10 Aangezien "gedachte" verleden tijd is, kan men in het heden onmogelijk een originele gedachte hebben.
- 11 Wetenschap is zoeken naar de waarheid, en het niet vertrouwen als je haar gevonden hebt.

Contents

Chapter 1	General introduction	1
Chapter 2	Effective generation of VLDL receptor transgenic mice by overlapping genomic DNA fragments: high testis expression and disturbed spermatogenesis (Trans. Res., in press)	33
Chapter 3	LDL receptor deficiency unmasks altered VLDL triglyceride metabolism in VLDL receptor transgenic and knockout mice (J. Lipid Res. (2000), 42, p2055-2062)	49
Chapter 4	Protection from obesity in mice lacking the VLDL receptor (Submitted)	65
Chapter 5	VLDL receptor deficiency enhances intimal thickening after vascular injury but does not affect atherosclerotic lesion area (Submitted)	81
Chapter 6	VLDL binding to the apolipoprotein E receptor 2 is enhanced by lipoprotein lipase and does not require apolipoprotein E (Biochem. J. (2000), 347, p357-361)	93
Chapter 7	Living up to a name: The VLDL receptor in lipid metabolism (Submitted as review)	105
Chapter 8	General discussion & future perspectives	115
Summary		125
Samenvatting in het Nederlands		129
List of Publ	ications	132
Curriculum	Vitae	133

Chapter 1

General introduction

1.1 Introduction

1.2 Lipid metabolism

- 1.2.1 Lipoproteins and lipoprotein metabolism
- 1.2.2 The exogenous pathway
- 1.2.3 The endogenous pathway
- 1.2.4 The reverse cholesterol pathway
- 1.2.5 Lipid metabolism at the cellular level
- 1.2.6 Atherosclerosis
- 1.2.7 Adipocyte triglyceride storage
- 1.2.8 Obesity and insulin resistance
- 1.3 Receptors of the LDL receptor family
 - 1.3.1 The LDL receptor
 - 1.3.2 The LDL receptor family
 - 1.3.3 Non-mammalian receptors, Y1 and VTG receptor
 - 1.3.4 The LDL receptor related protein
 - 1.3.5 Megalin/gp330
 - 1.3.6 The apolipoprotein E receptor 2
 - 1.3.7 The VLDL receptor
 - 1.3.8 Lipoprotein receptors and atherosclerosis

1.4 Apolipoproteins

- 1.4.1 Apolipoprotein E
- 1.4.2 Apolipoprotein C
- 1.5 Lipoprotein lipase
- 1.6 Outline of this thesis
- 1.7 References

1.1 Introduction

Cardiovascular disease is the major cause of death in Western society, accounting for about one half of the total number of annual deaths. The main cause of cardiovascular disease is atherosclerosis, a complex multi-factorial disorder characterized by an accumulation of lipid laden cells in the vessel wall. Elevated levels of cholesterol and triglycerides in the blood are important risk factors for the development of atherosclerosis. In order to be transported by the bloodstream, cholesterol and triglycerides are packaged into water-soluble lipoproteins. Synthesis, processing and catabolism of lipoproteins need to be tightly regulated to retain a correct distribution of lipids in the body.

1.2 Lipid metabolism

1.2.1 Lipoproteins and lipoprotein metabolism

Triglycerides and cholesterol are the most common dietary lipids. Cholesterol is essential for biosynthesis of cellular membranes, steroid hormones and bile acids. Triglycerides can be used for energy storage in adipose tissue and as an energy source in tissues like heart and skeletal muscle. Cholesterol and triglycerides are taken up from the diet by the intestine, or are synthesized by the liver. They are packaged into spherical macromolecular particles, called lipoproteins. The lipoproteins consist of a core of nonpolar lipids such as triglycerides and cholesterol ester, and a polar surface monolayer containing phospholipids, free cholesterol and several proteins, called apolipoproteins.

The plasma lipoproteins can be divided into five different classes, according to their density: chylomicrons, very low density lipoproteins (VLDL), intermediate density lipoproteins (IDL), low density lipoproteins (LDL) and high density lipoproteins (HDL). Apart from differing in density, these classes of lipoproteins also differ in electrophoretic mobility, lipid content and apolipoprotein composition.

Lipoprotein trafficking throughout the body can be divided in three pathways. The exogenous pathway mediates uptake of dietary lipids by the body. The endogenous pathway mediates distribution of lipoproteins produced by the liver to the periphery. The reverse cholesterol pathway mediates transport of cholesterol from the periphery to the liver.

1.2.2 The exogenous pathway

Dietary lipids are absorbed in the intestine and packaged into chylomicrons. These chylomicrons are large, triglyceride rich particles containing apolipoprotein (apo) B48, apoA1 and apoA4. They are secreted by the epithelial cells into the lymph and thus enter the circulation. Subsequently, the chylomicrons aquire apoE, apoC1, apoC2 and apoC3. While in circulation, the chylomicron triglycerides are hydrolyzed by lipoprotein lipase (LPL), which is present on the surface of the endothelial cells of the vessel wall (1, 2). Upon triglyceride hydrolysis, free fatty acids (FFA) are released that can be used as energy source for heart and skeletal muscle, or can be stored as triglycerides by adipocytes. Thus chylomicrons become enriched in cholesterol, and the residual particle is referred to as chylomicron remnant. The chylomicron remnants are rapidly removed from the circulation by the liver via receptor

mediated endocytosis. The hepatic receptors mediating remnant uptake are the LDL receptor (LDLR) (3, 4) and the LDL receptor related protein (LRP) (5-7).

1.2.3 The endogenous pathway

In the endogenous pathway, hepatic cholesterol and triglycerides are packaged into VLDL particles and secreted into the bloodstream (8). Nascent VLDL contains apoB100 and is enriched with apoE and apoC upon entering the circulation. Similar to chylomicrons, VLDL triglycerides are hydrolyzed by LPL, leading to the formation of IDL. The IDL is either removed by the liver, or is subjected to further lipolysis (9). Additional loss of triglycerides, phospholipids, apoC and apoE results in the formation of LDL, which is taken up via receptor mediated endocytosis in the liver.

1.2.4 The reverse cholesterol pathway

Cholesterol in peripheral tissues can be transported back to the liver by HDL particles. Cells can release cholesterol in the interstitial fluid, where HDL serves as an acceptor. Recently, the ABC1 gene has been identified as a key determinant of active cellular cholesterol efflux (10-12). In the circulation the cholesterol is converted into cholesterol ester by lecithin:cholesterol acyl transferase (LCAT). The HDL cholesterol can be delivered to the liver in three ways (13). First, cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) can transfer cholesterol esters from HDL to VLDL, IDL and LDL. Second, HDL can acquire apoE in the circulation, allowing hepatic uptake via hepatic apoE receptors. Third, the scavenger receptor SR-B1 can bind HDL, leading to specific uptake of cholesterol esters (14, 15).

1.2.5 Lipid metabolism at the cellular level

Transcription factors like sterol regulatory element-binding proteins (SREBPs) and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) play a central role in maintaining cellular lipid homeostasis. SREBPs are bound to membranes of the endoplasmatic reticulum and the nuclear envelope (16). In sterol-depleted cells, the N-terminal domain of SREBPs is released from the membrane and travels to the nucleus. In the nucleus, the SREBPs bind to sterol regulating elements (SREs) in the promoters of multiple genes involved in cholesterol, unsaturated fatty acid and triglyceride biosynthesis (reviewed in (17)). In addition, SREBPs mediate cellular cholesterol uptake by enhancing LDLR expression. Accumulation of sterols within cells blocks the proteolytic release of SREBPs from membranes. This results in a reduced transcription of target genes involved in cholesterol biosynthesis (18, 19). Recent findings indicate that sterol sensing is mediated by SREBP cleavage-activating protein (SCAP). SCAP is involved in SREBP cleavage and becomes inactive when sterols overaccumulate in cells (20).

PPARs are ligand-dependent transcription factors. Three PPAR isotypes have been identified: α , β and γ . PPAR α is mainly expressed in brown adipose tissue, liver kidney, heart and skeletal muscle. PPAR β is expressed in many tissues, including gut, kidney and heart. PPAR γ is predominantly expressed in adipose tissue (21). PPARs exist as heterodimers with retinoic X receptors (RXRs) and bind to PPAR response elements (PPREs) within the promoter

regions of target genes. Upon binding of a ligand to either PPAR or RXR, the transcription of the target gene is activated (21). PPAR ligands shared by the three isotypes include polyunsaturated fatty acids and probably oxidized fatty acids. Ligands binding with high affinity to PPAR α include linoleic acid, phytanic acid and several eicosanoids (22, 23), while the prostaglandin 15-deoxy-D^{12,14}-prostaglandin J₂ is the most potent natural ligand for PPAR γ (24). The target genes of PPAR α belong to pathways of lipid transport and catabolism, including fatty acid transport across membranes, fatty acid binding in cells, fatty acid oxidation and lipoprotein assembly and transport (25). PPAR γ has been shown to be required for differentiation of adipose tissue *in vivo* (26). Furthermore, PPAR γ affects transcription of genes implicated in lipogenic pathways, including LPL, adipocyte fatty acid binding protein (aP2), acyl CoA synthase and fatty acid transport protein (CD36). PPAR γ expression itself has been shown to be regulated by insulin (27) and SREBP (28).

The cellular lipid metabolism needs to be tightly regulated, since imbalances in cellular uptake and expenditure of lipids can lead to disease. Examples of cells overaccumulating lipids are smooth muscle cells and macrophages in atherosclerosis and adipocytes in obesity.

1.2.6 Atherosclerosis

High levels of LDL and VLDL in the plasma are considered to be risk factors for the development of premature atherosclerosis. High plasma LDL and VLDL levels lead to accumulation of lipoproteins in the vessel wall, where they get oxidized. Various enzymes have been proposed to play a role in lipoprotein oxidation, including lipoxygenases (29-31), myeloperoxidase (32, 33), ceruloplasmin (34), haem proteins (35, 36) and NADPH oxidase (37). Oxidized lipoproteins attract monocytes and leukocytes, which infiltrate the vessel wall. Subsequently, the macrophages take up lipoproteins and become loaded with cholesterol. The appearance of these fat laden cells, also referred to as foam cells, is believed to be one of the first stages in the atherosclerotic process (38). In later stages, smooth muscle cells infiltrate the lesion and start secreting extracellular matrix components. This results in the formation of advanced fibrous plaques, which are covered by connective tissue and fibroblasts. In the core of these plaques, fat laden smooth muscle cells and macrophages can be found, together with T-lymphocytes, cholesterol crystals, mineralisation and necrotic debris (39). Rupture or fissure of the plaque causes hemorrhage, thrombosis and occlusion of the artery, and is the major cause of sudden death by myocardial infarcts.

1.2.7 Adipocyte triglyceride storage

In mammals, the major site of energy storage is the adipose tissue, where energy is stored in the form of triglycerides. Therefore, fatty acids are released from lipoproteins, taken up by the adipocyte and incorporated into triglycerides. Release of fatty acids from circulating chylomicrons and VLDL is mediated by LPL (40). Under normal circumstances, approximately half of the fatty acids released by LPL are trapped by the adipocyte, and half enter the general circulation (41). Transport of fatty acids across the cell membrane is mediated by fatty acid transporter proteins, such as CD36 and FATP (42-44). In the adipocyte, fatty acids are bound to

the adipocyte fatty acid binding protein (aP2) (45) and the keratinocyte fatty acid binding protein (mal1) (46). Until now, two pathways for triglyceride synthesis have been characterized biochemically: the glycerol-phosphate pathway and the monoacylglycerol pathway (reviewed in (47, 48)). The glycerol-phosphate pathway is believed to be present in all tissues (47), while the monoacylglycerol pathway has only been detected in small intestine enterocytes, rat suckling liver and rat adipocytes (49, 50). Acyl CoA:diacylglycerol acyltransferase (DGAT) is believed to catalyse the final step in both pathways for triglyceride synthesis. However, DGAT deficient mice are able to synthesize triglycerides, indicating that alternative mechanisms for triglyceride synthesis exist (51). Finally, fatty acids can be released from adipocyte triglyceride stores by triglyceride hydrolysis. Hormone sensitive lipase (HSL) has been identified as on of the enzymes mediating triglyceride hydrolysis in adipose tissue (52).

1.2.8 Obesity and insulin resistance

The mechanisms controlling adipose tissue mass are very complex. The most important control of adipose tissue mass is related to the balance between energy intake and energy expenditure. Energy intake can be controlled by regulation of appetite by a large number of peptides produced in brain and peripheral tissues (53-55). For example, leptin, which is produced by adipocytes, is part of a feedback mechanism to limit further food intake after prolonged feeding. Extreme obesity occurs in mice and humans with mutations in the genes encoding for leptin (56, 57) and the leptin receptor (58). Energy expenditure depends on energy used in exercise, basal metabolic rate and thermogenesis. In mammals, at least 20% of energy expenditure is due to an energy leak in the mitochondrial inner membrane that is controlled by uncoupling proteins (UCPs) (59, 60). Several polymorphisms in UCPs have been identified, of which some are associated with severe obesity (61).

The final site of regulation of adipose tissue mass is the adipocyte itself. Obesity may occur as a result of an increase in the number of adipocytes, an increase in the amount of triglycerides stored in the adipocyte, or both. Adipocyte number is believed to be dependent on the balance between the size of the precursor pool, rate and extent of differentiation, and the rate of cell loss through apoptosis (62). The rate and extent of adipocyte differentiation is controlled by transcription factors, including SREBP-1, C/EBP α and PPAR γ (63).

The amount of triglycerides stored in the adipocyte can be controlled by regulation of triglyceride synthesis, storage and release. Acylation stimulating protein (ASP) is produced by adipocytes and stimulates uptake of fatty acids and their conversion to triglycerides (64, 65). Furthermore, ASP reduces HSL activity, thereby reducing fatty acid release by the adipocyte (65). The rate at which fatty acids become available for the adipocyte is determined by LPL and insulin, which is the principal hormone regulating LPL. Insulin is produced by β -cells in the pancreas, and its release is stimulated by a postprandial rise in blood glucose levels. Apart from facilitating triglyceride synthesis in both liver and adipose tissue, insulin facilitates tissue glucose absorption and the conversion of glucose to glycogen in liver and muscle (66). Obesity leads to resistance to the actions of insulin. Insulin resistance is a characteristic feature of most patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus, and is almost universal in obese type 2 diabetic patients. Insulin resistance leads to increased β -cell insulin secretion and hyperinsulinemia (67, 68). Type

2 diabetes occurs when increased insulin secretion fails to compensate for insulin resistance (69). Sensitivity for insulin in obese type 2 diabetic patients often increases when the body weight is reduced (66). Furthermore, thiazolidinediones (TZDs) improve insulin action and have recently been introduced as therapeutic agents for treatment of type 2 diabetes (70). TZDs functions as agonist for PPAR γ , suggesting that TZDs exert their beneficial effects via PPAR γ (70-72). Interestingly, adipocyte fatty acid binding protein aP2 deficient mice develop diet induced obesity, but, in contrast to wild type mice, do not develop insulin resistance (73). This suggests that cytoplasmic fatty acid binding proteins are involved in the generation of insulin resistance.

1.3 Receptors of the LDL receptor family

1.3.1 The LDL receptor

The first evidence that LDL is cleared from the bloodstream by a specific receptor came from the work of Brown and Goldstein (74-76). They demonstrated that defects in the receptor for LDL cause Familial hypercholesterolemia (FH). FH is an inheritable disorder, characterized by elevated levels of plasma LDL cholesterol. As a consequence, FH patients develop premature atherosclerosis and coronary artery disease. Further studies on the LDLR in fibroblasts derived from FH patients revealed multiple mutations that disrupted either transport or processing of the LDLR (77, 78). The cloning of the human LDLR gene (79) and the sequencing of its full-length cDNA (80) made it possible to identify the genetic basis for hundreds of FH-associated mutations. The generation of LDLR deficient mice produced a mouse model for FH (81). When fed a high fat diet, LDLR deficient mice develop hypercholesterolemia, resulting in formation of atherosclerotic lesions (82). Therefore, the LDLR deficient mouse is often used as a mouse model to study atherogenesis.

The LDLR binds lipoproteins via apoB100 and apoE. A single molecule of apoB100 is present on all LDL particles, and can interact with a single LDLR (83). ApoE mediates binding of IDL and VLDL remnants to the LDLR (84). The LDLR has a higher affinity for apoE than for apoB100. In addition, multiple apoE molecules present on a single lipoprotein particle can simultaneously interact with a single LDLR, or can mediate binding of the lipoprotein particle to multiple LDLRs (85). Particles internalized by the LDLR are degraded in lysosomes, in which the apoliproteins are degraded into amino acids while the lipids are released into the cytosol. The LDLR itself can either be degraded, or recycles back to the cell surface (86).

In the endogenous pathway, about two-third of the hepatic clearance of circulating LDL particles is mediated by the LDLR, while one-third is removed via extrahepatic receptors (87). Studies on the exogenous pathway in mice indicate that the LDLR is responsible for the clearance of 55-75% of the chylomicron remnants (88, 89). Thus the LDLR is a key factor in the regulation of cholesterol homeostasis by the liver.

1.3.2 The LDLR family

The cloning of the LDLR gene triggered a search for homologous receptors that might play a role in lipoprotein metabolism. This resulted in the discovery of numerous receptors, which share both functional and structural features, and together form the LDLR family. These receptors appear to originate from a common ancient ancestor. LDLR family members identified in nonmammalian species include the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* receptor (90), the fruit fly Y1 protein (91), the mosquito vitellogenin receptor (92), the migratory locust insect lipophorin receptor (93), the Xenopus LDL receptors (94) and the chicken vitelogenin (VTG) receptor (95). Receptors expressed in mammals include the LDL receptor itself (79), the VLDL receptor (96), the apolipoprotein E receptor 2 (apoER2) (97), the LDL receptor related protein (LRP) (98), megalin/gp330 (99), LRP3 to LRP7 (100-103) and LR11 (104).

All receptors of the LDLR family exhibit similar structural features. They carry an aminoterminal domain composed of cysteine-rich ligand binding repeats. Furthermore, all receptors carry an epidermal growth factor homology domain required for pH-dependent dissociation of ligands in endosomes (105). The receptors are anchored to the plasma membrane by a single transmembrane spanning region. Finally, all receptors carry a cytoplasmic tail required for clustering of the receptor into coated pits, followed by endocytosis (106).

Several LDLR family members depend on receptor-associated protein (RAP) in order to be expressed on the cell surface. RAP binds strongly to LRP, gp330/megalin and VLDLR, but weakly to the LDLR itself. RAP is required for proper folding and export of the receptors from the endoplasmatic reticulum by preventing premature binding of other co-expressed receptor ligands. Thus RAP acts as a chaperone for newly synthesized receptors, and protects for ligand induced aggregation and degradation of receptors in the endoplasmatic reticulum (107). RAP is a useful tool in both *in vivo* and *in vitro* receptor studies. Its high binding affinity for lipoprotein receptors prevents other ligands from binding, thereby blocking receptor function.

Receptors of the LDLR family can be divided into two subgroups, the "low molecular weight" and the "high molecular weight" receptors. The low molecular weight receptors carry only a single EGF precursor and a single ligand binding domain, while the high molecular weight receptors carry multiple EGF precursor and ligand binding domains. The low molecular weight receptors include the LDLR, VLDLR, apoER2, insect lipophorin receptor and chicken VTG receptor. The high molecular weight receptors by sequence alignment indicates that the two subgroups evolved independently from a common ancestor (108, 109).

Although many of the LDLR family members are reported to bind lipoproteins in *in vitro* binding assays, they also bind numerous other ligands. For several of the LDLR family members, *in vivo* evidence is found that confirms a role in lipoprotein metabolism. Several other family members are involved in physiological pathways unrelated to the lipoprotein metabolism. The characteristics of the LDL receptor family members will be described below.

1.3.3 Non-mammalian receptors, Y1 and VTG receptor

In both fruit fly (*Drosophila melanogaster*) and chicken, naturally occurring mutations in LDLR family members have been identified that cause female sterility. In both species this is due to the inability to produce egg yolk, the food source for the developing embryo. In the fruit fly, the female sterile mutant yolkless (yl) fails to transport yolk proteins, called VTGs, into the oocyte (110). The yl gene codes for the Y1 receptor, which is present in wild type oocytes and is

absent in yl mutants. Remarkably, the fruit fly VTGs exhibit sequence similarity to LPL, a ligand for several of the mammalian LDLR family members (91). Thus it seems likely that the Y1 receptor regulates VTG uptake via receptor mediated endocytosis.

In chicken, the major egg yolk components, VTG and triglyceride-rich VLDL, are imported into the oocyte by the chicken VTG receptor (111). Molecular characterization of the VTG receptor revealed that it is the chicken homologue of the mammalian VLDLR (95). Two splice variants of the VTG receptor have been found, one containing and one lacking the exon that codes for the O-linked sugar domain. The variant lacking the O-linked sugar domain is predominantly expressed in germ cells, while the variant containing the O-linked sugar domain is predominantly expressed in somatic cells (112, 113). Up until now, no functional differences between the two forms have been detected.

Hens of the mutant restricted-ovulator chicken strain are sterile due to a point mutation in the VTG receptor gene. Due to the mutation they lack a functional VTG receptor, resulting in impaired oocytic uptake of yolk precursor from the circulation. Therefore, lipoproteins accumulate in the plasma causing premature atherosclerosis (114).

1.3.4 The LDL receptor related protein

The LRP was the first receptor with sequence homology to the LDLR to be cloned (98). The LRP is expressed in hepatocytes (98), neurons and astrocytes in the central nervous system, epithelial cells of the gastrointestinal tract, smooth muscle cells, fibroblasts, Leydig cells, granulosa cells in ovary, dendritic interstitial cells of kidney and monocyte-derived cells in liver, lung and lymphoid tissues (115). The LRP binds and internalizes lipoproteins containing apoE (116), and binding is enhanced by LPL (116). Apart from lipoproteins, the LRP binds numerous other ligands, including α_2 -macroglobulin (116), LPL (117), RAP (118), thrombin (119), thrombospondin-1 (120, 121), free urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA), uPA/urokinase plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI)-1 complex (122) and several other proteinase/serpin complexes (123).

Although the LDLR mediates hepatic chylomicron remnant uptake, humans and rabbits with LDLR gene defects display normal chylomicron remnant clearance (124, 125). Thus it seems likely that a second receptor is involved in hepatic chylomicron remnant clearance. To investigate whether the LRP mediates clearance of chylomicron remnants, LRP deficient mice have been generated (126). LRP deficient mice are not viable, and die in utero. The reason for this embryonic lethality remains unclear (126). To circumvent the problem of embryonic lethality, inducible LRP knockout mice were generated. Upon inducing the LRP gene defect in the liver of mice that are also deficient for the LDLR, chylomicron remnants accumulate in the plasma (7). It is estimated that in wild type mice, the LRP is responsible for clearance of approximately 20-25% of the chylomicron remnants (88, 89).

Apart from its role in lipoprotein metabolism, the LRP is reported to mediate cell migration *in vitro* in a process dependent on uPA (127, 128). Both uPA and the uPA receptor (uPAR) are described to play a role in cell migration (129). The uPAR has no internalization sequence and its catabolism is regulated by the LRP. Together these findings led to the hypothesis that LRP mediates cell migration by regulating uPAR catabolism.

1.3.5 Megalin/gp330

Megalin, also known as gp330, is the largest known mammalian LDLR family member (Mr = 330 kDa). It has been identified initially as the major autoantigen in an induced glomular nephritis model in rat, Heymann nephritis (130). Megalin binds many of the ligands that also bind to the LRP, including apoE rich lipoproteins (131), RAP (118), LPL (132), thrombin (119) and uPA-PAI-1 complex (131). In contrast to LRP, megalin was described to mediate internalization of LDL via apoB100 (133). Furthermore, LRP and megalin differ in their respective expression patterns. Megalin is expressed in absorptive epithelia of the intestine, the proximal tubules of the kidney, type II pneumocytes of the lung and ventricular system of the brain (134, 135).

Megalin deficient mice are born alive, but most die perinatally from respiration insufficiency. Megalin deficient mice manifest abnormalities epithelial tissues including lung and kidney. Furthermore, they are characterized by an abnormal formation of the forebrain and forebrain derived structures, including incomplete eye development, lack of olfactory bulbs and corpus callosum, a fused ventricular system and incomplete separation of forebrain hemispheres (136). Megalin deficient mice that survive to adulthood are unable to retrieve carrier-bound retinol and 25-(OH) vitamin D3 from the glomerular filtrate in kidney proximal tubules, indicating that megalin plays an important role in vitamin A and D homeostasis (137, 138).

There are several indications that the forebrain abnormalities of megalin deficient mice are caused by lack of cholesterol due to an inability in lipoprotein uptake from the extraembryoinic fluid. First, administration of the drug AY9944 to pregnant rats results in a similar phenotype as seen in megalin deficient mice (139). AY9944 inhibits 7dehydrocholesterol- Δ 7-reductase, an enzyme in the cholesterol biosynthetic pathway. Defects in this enzyme lead to Smith-Lemli-Opitz syndrome in humans, which is also characterized by forebrain abnormalities (140). Second, apoB100 deficient mice die during midgestation and display failure of neural development (141). The yolk sac repackages cholesterol and fat-soluble vitamins taken up from the maternal circulation in lipoproteins containing apoB100 (142, 143). Thus megalin could mediate both internalization of maternal lipoproteins by the yolk sac and internalization of newly synthesized apoB100 containing lipoproteins by the embryonic neuroepithelium.

1.3.6 The apolipoprotein E receptor 2

The apoER2, LDLR and VLDLR together constitute the subclass of mamalian "low molecular weight receptors". The position of their exon/intron boundaries are almost identical (see figure 1). However, the apoER2 contains a unique insertion sequence of 59 amino acids in the cytoplasmic domain. The apoER2 is expressed in brain, placenta and testis, and binds both apoE rich β -VLDL and reelin (97) (144). While the non-primate apoER2 contains 8 ligand binding repeats, the primate apoER2 receptor contains only 7. This is due to the skipping of a pseudo exon found in primate apoER2 (145).



Figure 1. Exon/intron boundaries of the LDLR, apoER2 and VLDLR

Comparison of the exon/intron structure of the VLDLR, apoER2 and VLDLR. The functional domains of the receptors are labeled in the lower portion of the figure. The ligand binding repeats are numbered 1 to 6. The growth factor repeats are lettered A to C. The positions at which introns interrupt the coding region are indicated by arrowheads. Exon numbers are shown between the arrowheads. This figure was adapted from Kim et al, J Biol Chem 272: 8498-4, 1997 with permission from the editor.

Several splice variants have been described for the apoER2. A study by Soutar et al. suggests that in human, besides the full length mRNA, the major mRNA species are variants lacking exon 5, 15 or 18. Although exon 5 codes for three ligand binding domains, deletion of this exon does not affect apoER2 β -VLDL binding affinity (146).

The apoER2 was only recently discovered, and its lipoprotein binding characteristics have not yet been studied extensively in *in vitro* binding assays. Whether the apoER2 performs a function in lipoprotein trafficking *in vivo* remains to be determined. ApoER2 deficient mice have been reported to display male fertility problems and minor changes in brain morphology (147).

1.3.7 The VLDL receptor

The VLDLR displays approximately 95% amino acid conservation between human (148-151), mouse (152, 153), rabbit (96) and rat (154), and 84% amino acid conservation between human and its chicken homologue, the VTG receptor (95). Thus compared to the LDLR, which displays 76% amino acid conservation between human and rabbit, the VLDLR is very well conserved throughout evolution.

The VLDLR is most abundantly expressed in heart, skeletal muscle and adipose tissue, but not in liver (149, 151-153, 155). VLDLR expression is localized in endothelial and smooth muscle cells of arteries and veins (156). Since heart and skeletal muscle use fatty acids as an energy source, and adipose tissue uses fatty acids for energy storage, the VLDLR was hypothesized to play a role in the delivery of fatty acids to these peripheral tissues.

The *in vitro* binding characteristics of the VLDLR partly overlap with those of the other LDL receptor family members. The VLDLR binds apoE rich VLDL (96, 148), chylomicrons (157), LPL (158), receptor associated protein (RAP) (159), reelin (144), thrombospondin-1 (160), uPA-PAI-1 complex (161) and several other proteinase/serpin complexes (123). The VLDLR in itself binds VLDL with low affinity in *in vitro* binding assays. However, enrichment with apoE and the presence of LPL both markedly increase VLDLR binding affinity for VLDL (158). Furthermore, the VLDLR is capable of reversing hypercholesterolemia in LDLR deficient mice when ectopically expressed in liver. This implies the VLDLR is capable of mediating lipoprotein uptake *in vivo* (162).

Similar to the chicken VTG receptor, two different splice variants of the VLDLR have been described, one containing and one lacking the O-linked sugar domain (148, 151). The variant with the O-linked sugar domain is preferentially expressed in heart and skeletal muscle, while the variant without the O-linked sugar domain is predominantly expressed in non-muscle tissues (163, 164). Furthermore, bovine aortic endothelial cells exclusively express the variant without the O-linked sugar domain, suggesting differential splicing is cell type specific (163). It remains to be determined whether the differential expression of two splice variants reflects differences in VLDLR function.

Several studies have investigated the role of diet in VLDLR expression. A study in rats by Jokinen et al. (154) shows no effect of fasting and refeeding on VLDLR mRNA and protein levels. In contrast, a study in mice by Kwok et al. (165) reveals an increase in heart and a decrease in epididymal fat VLDLR protein levels after fasting. A study by Tiebel et al (155) examines the effect of feeding an atherogenic diet on VLDLR mRNA expression levels in wild type, *LDLR-/-*, *apoE-/-* and *LDLR-/-;apoE-/-* mice. It shows downregulation of the VLDLR in heart and skeletal muscle upon feeding the atherogenic diet in LDLR-/- mice, but not in the other mouse models. In contrast, VLDLR mRNA expression is shown to be upregulated upon feeding of the atherogenic diet in adipose tissue of all mouse models, except *LDLR-/-;apoE-/*mice. Thus the effect of the diet on VLDLR expression seems to depend upon several factors, like the species studied and the presence or absence of other lipoprotein receptors and apoE.

VLDLR deficient mice display normal plasma cholesterol, triglyceride and lipoprotein levels and show no severe abnormalities. However, they display 15-20% reduction in body weight due to reduced adipose tissue mass (166). Thus the VLDLR might play a role in delivery of fatty acids to adipose tissue. The relatively mild phenotype of VLDLR receptor deficient mice could imply that the VLDLR is not a key player in lipoprotein metabolism. However, backup mechanisms (other receptors?) could compensate for its absence.

Similar to apoER2 deficient mice, VLDLR deficient mice display minor changes in brain morphology. However, apoER2 VLDLR double knockout mice display profound malformation of cerebral cortex, hippocampus and cerebellum, and die a few weeks after birth (147). The phenotype of apoER2 VLDLR double knockout mice is almost identical to the phenotype of both reelin and mDAB1 deficient mice (147). Reelin is a large extracellular matrix protein that is produced by Cajal-Retzius neurons in specific regions of the developing brain. Reelin controls neuronal migration and positioning in the developing brain (reviewed in (167)). *Reeler* mice have a defective reelin gene, resulting in malformation the cerebral cortex, hippocampus and cerebellum (168-170). The mammalian Disabled gene (mDAB1) is a cytoplasmatic adaptor protein that functions downstream of reelin, and is predominantly expressed in neurons. mDAB1 deficient mice develop a phenotype indistinguishable from *reeler* mice (171-173). Binding of reelin to the VLDLR and to the apoER2 is reported to induce phosphorylation of mDAB1 (144). These results indicate that the apoER2 and the VLDLR are the cell surface receptors that mediate the transmission of the Reelin signal across the neuronal cell membrane.

In addition to regulating neuronal migration via reelin *in vivo*, the VLDLR has been reported to mediate cell migration *in vitro* via a uPA dependent pathway, as was reported before for the LRP. Like the LRP, VLDLR regulates uPAR catabolism (174). This implies that the VLDLR mediates cell migration via the same pathway as discussed before for the LRP (see section "The LDL receptor related protein"). Studies on smooth muscle cell migration using RAP to block LRP and VLDLR function show either inhibition (128, 175) or no effect (176) on migration. In contrast, studies using other cell types show increased cellular migration when LRP and/or VLDLR are either blocked or absent (127, 174, 177). Thus, the effect of the receptors on uPA dependent migration and the underlying mechanisms are still poorly understood.

1.3.8 Lipoprotein receptors and atherosclerosis

As discussed before for the chicken VTG receptor and the LDLR, lipoprotein receptors can indirectly affect atherosclerosis by regulating plasma lipoprotein levels. Additionally, lipoprotein receptors could affect atherosclerotic plaque formation directly. Receptors of the LDLR family have been detected in smooth muscle and endothelial cells of both healthy and atherosclerotic arteries, and in the macrophage derived foam cells of the atherosclerotic plaque.

In humans, LDLR expression is limited to the outer media, and is not detected in the intima of healthy or atherosclerotic arteries (178, 179). However, wild type mice whose macrophage population was replaced by LDLR deficient macrophages via bone marrow transplantation display reduced atherosclerotic lesion formation. These mice show normal plasma lipid levels, implying the macrophage LDLR mediates macrophage cholesterol uptake and foam cell formation (180). In contrast, transplantation of wild type bone marrow into LDLR deficient mice does not affect atherosclerotic lesion formation (181, 182). These seemingly contrasting results can be explained by LDLR expression regulation. LDLR expression is downregulated by high cellular cholesterol levels (183). Therefore, the LDLR might be downregulated in the wild type macrophages upon transplantation into the hypercholesterolemic LDLR deficient mice. These data indicate that the LDLR can directly affect foam cell formation in mice under conditions of modestly high serum cholesterol levels.

The VLDLR, LRP and the recently discovered LR11 are expressed in the vessel wall. Expression levels of VLDLR, LRP and LR11 in rabbit aorta markedly increase upon feeding of an atherogenic high cholesterol diet (104, 184). LRP expression is induced threefold by the atherogenic diet, while VLDLR expression levels are increased up to a factor 100 (184). In plaques, LR11 expression is limited to smooth muscle cells (104), while the LRP is expressed in both smooth muscle cells and macrophages (178, 185, 186). The VLDLR is present in endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells and macrophages of the atherosclerotic plaque (184).

In contrast to the LDLR, the LRP and the VLDLR are not downregulated by intracellular cholesterol levels (148, 187, 188). Chinese hamster ovary cells overexpressing the VLDLR accumulate lipids and transform into foam cells upon incubation with β -VLDL (188). In a similar fashion, both the VLDLR and the LRP might contribute to lipid loading of smooth muscle cells and macrophages in the atherosclerotic plaque. In addition, both LRP and VLDLR could modulate the cellular composition of the plaque by affecting smooth muscle cell migration (see sections "The LDL receptor related protein" and "The VLDL receptor"). Finally, the VLDLR has been hypothesized to promote binding, uptake and/or transcytosis of lipoproteins by endothelial cells (189). Thus the VLDLR could modulate lipid influx into the vessel wall.

Figure 2 shows possible mechanisms by which LR11, LRP and VLDLR could affect atherosclerotic plaque formation. Future research on *in vivo* models will have to elucidate the relative roles of these receptors in the atherosclerotic process.



Figure 2. Possible mechanisms for involvement of lipoprotein receptors in atherosclerotic plaque formation

Lipoprotein receptors of the LDLR family could affect atherosclerotic plaque formation by mediating transport of lipids and lipoproteins into the plaque (1), foam cell formation (2) and smooth muscle cell migration (3).

L= lipoprotein particle, EC= endothelial cell, $M\Phi$ = macrophage

1.4 Apolipoproteins

Circulating lipoproteins carry specific apolipoproteins on their surface. Apolipoproteins play an important role in distribution and transport of lipoproteins. LDLR, VLDLR, LRP and megalin/gp330 are reported to interact with lipoproteins via apoE, while LDLR and megalin/gp330 can also bind lipoproteins via apoB100. ApoC1, apoC2 and apoC3 are reported to modulate binding of lipoproteins to lipoprotein receptors and LPL. The ApoEs and apoCs will be discussed in the next paragraphs.

1.4.1 Apolipoprotein E

ApoE is expressed by liver parenchymal cells, astrocytes and macrophages. Furthermore, apoE expression is detected in several organs, including spleen, lung, adrenal, ovary, kidney and muscle (190-193). ApoE is associated with circulating chylomicrons, chylomicron remnants, VLDL, IDL and HDL.

The human apoE gene has been shown to be polymorphic (194, 195). The apoE3 allele is the most common (70-80%), followed by the apoE4 (12-18%) and the apoE2 allele (3-12%) (196, 197). The apoE isoforms differ in their association with lipoproteins (198, 199), binding affinity for lipoprotein receptors (200-203) and interaction with HSPG (204, 205). ApoE deficiency and several rare dominant apoE mutations have been reported to cause a lipoprotein disorder called Familial dysbetalipoproteinemia (FD) (206-210). FD is characterized by accumulation of chylomicron and VLDL remnant lipoproteins in the plasma (211). Most FD patients are homozygous for the apoE2 allele, although only a small percentage of the homozygous apoE2 carriers eventually develop FD (212).

In addition to apoE genotype, apoE content is an important determinant of receptor binding properties of lipoproteins (213, 214). Lipoprotein apoE content has also been reported to affect the rate of triglyceride hydrolysis by LPL (215, 216). Thus regulation of apoE expression seems imperative for correct lipoprotein trafficking.

1.4.2 Apolipoprotein C

The human apoCs (apoC1, apoC2, apoC3 and apoC4) are regarded as members of a family because they all are low molecular weight proteins associated with chylomicrons, VLDL and HDL. All apoCs are expressed by the liver, while apoC2 and apoC3 are also expressed in intestine (217-221). Low apoC1 expression levels have also been found in lung, skin, testis and spleen (217). The apoCs are secreted in the circulation, where they rapidly exchange between HDL and chylomicrons/VLDL (222, 223).

Several apoC mutations, especially in the apoC2 gene, have been described, which are associated with altered plasma lipid concentrations. The clinical phenotype of apoC2 deficiency is similar to that of LPL deficiency, and is characterized by hypertriglyceridemia and high plasma chylomicron levels (224). ApoC2 has been reported to act as a cofactor for LPL mediated hydrolysis of triglycerides (225, 226).

Enrichment of chylomicrons and VLDL with a mixture of apoCs inhibits uptake by the liver (227-230). *In vitro* studies suggest that this is due to impaired binding of the apoC-enriched lipoprotein to their receptors. Lipoprotein binding to the LDLR is impaired by apoC1, apoC2

and apoC3 (231, 232). In addition, apoC1 and apoC2 also inhibit lipoprotein binding to the LRP (233).

In line with the previous data, apoC1 overexpression in mice results in increased plasma VLDL, triglyceride and cholesterol levels (234-236). The elevated lipid levels are due to impaired VLDL clearance by the liver (235-237). At least part of the effect of apoC1 on VLDL clearance can be attributed to inhibition of VLDL clearance by the LRP (238). In addition, apoC1 overexpression mice exhibit diminished abdominal adipose tissue stores and a complete deficiency of subcutaneous fat (239). In this respect it is interesting that apoC1 inhibits lipoprotein binding to the VLDLR (240), which plays a role in adipose tissue accretion (166). This suggests that apoC1 overexpression diminishes adipose tissue stores by inhibiting the binding of lipoproteins to the VLDLR.

1.5 Lipoprotein lipase

LPL is the principal enzyme responsible for the hydrolysis of triglycerides of circulating lipoproteins. Free fatty acids liberated by triglyceride hydrolysis enter either storage (241) or oxidative (242) pathways. Adipocytes, skeletal muscle cells and heart muscle cells are the major sites of LPL production. The LPL is secreted and transported to the luminal side of the vascular endothelium, where it is bound to heparan sulphate proteoglycans (HSPG) (243). LPL expression at relatively low levels is detected in a wide variety of tissues, including kidney, brain, aorta, spleen, lung, uterus intestine, mammary gland and diaphragm (244). Furthermore, LPL is expressed in smooth muscle cells and macrophages in the atherosclerotic plaque (245, 246).

In addition to HSPG binding, LPL contains a carboxy-terminal binding site for lipoprotein receptors of the LDLR family. LPL is reported to bind to LRP (116, 247-249), LDLR (250, 251), VLDLR (158) and megalin (132), thereby enhancing binding and internalization of lipoproteins. The mechanism behind LPL facilitated lipoprotein uptake by the lipoprotein receptors remains to be determined. It is proposed that LPL mediates lipoprotein binding to HSPG, which in turn transfers the LPL-lipoprotein complex to the lipoprotein receptor. However, Beisiegel et al. proposed that LPL promotes binding directly by bridging the lipoprotein particle to the receptor (116).

In humans, homozygous LPL deficiency is characterized by extreme hypertriglyceridemia and recurrent pancreatitis. While homozygous LPL deficiency is uncommon, heterozygous LPL deficiency is estimated to be present in 3-7% of the general population. Mutations in the LPL gene are reported to be the cause of familial chylomicronemia and premature atherosclerosis (252). Heterozygous LPL deficiency is associated with increased triglyceride and decreased HDL cholesterol levels (253-255).

LPL deficient mice display severe hypertriglyceridemia and die soon after birth. LPL heterozygous knockout mice are mildly hypertriglyceridemic, and display a decrease in VLDL catabolic rate (256). Muscle specific expression of catalytically inactive human LPL does not rescue LPL deficient mice from neonatal death. However, on an LPL heterozygous knockout background, muscle specific expression of catalytically inactive LPL lowers both plasma triglyceride and cholesterol levels. Furthermore, muscle uptake of radiolabeled VLDL

triglycerides and apolipoproteins is increased, implying LPL bridging of lipoproteins to lipoprotein receptors and/or HSPG occurs in vivo (257).

Specific expression of catalytically active human LPL in heart muscle causes lowering of plasma triglycerides in wild type mice, and rescues LPL deficient mice from neonatal death (258). LPL deficient mice expressing catalytically active human LPL in heart and skeletal muscle, but not adipose tissue, develop normally with regard to weight gain and body mass composition. However, the chemical composition of the adipose tissue of these mice indicates that adipocytes compensate for LPL deficiency by marked increase of *de novo* fatty acid synthesis (259). The role of adipose tissue LPL on profound weight gain has been assessed by crossbreeding mice with adipose tissue LPL deficiency with a mouse model for morbid obesity, the *ob/ob* mouse. The *ob/ob* mouse displays an increased appetite due to a deficiency in leptin, a protein produced by adipose tissue (260). Leptin acts in the hypothalamus to regulate neuronal activity and the production of neuropeptides that help to coordinate appetite and metabolism (54, 261, 262). Adipose tissue LPL deficiency results in decreased weight and fat mass in *ob/ob* mice, implying that LPL mediates adipose tissue triglyceride storage during profound weight gain (259).

The effect of LPL on atherosclerosis has been studied in transgenic mice. Transgenic mice expressing high levels of LPL in several tissues, excluding vessel wall macrophages, display high plasma LPL levels. The LPL transgenic mice have low serum cholesterol and triglyceride levels and display reduced atherosclerotic lesion formation. LPL heterozygote knockout mice also display reduced atherosclerotic lesion formation, despite an increase in cholesterol and triglyceride levels (263). These data suggest that plasma LPL can protect from atherosclerosis by lowering plasma lipoprotein levels. In contrast, LPL production by vessel wall macrophages could increase atherosclerotic lesion formation by inducing foam cell formation. This is supported by the finding that mice deficient for macrophage LPL display reduced atherosclerotic lesion size (264). Thus the contribution of LPL to atherosclerosis can be both pro- and anti-atherogenic, depending on the site of its expression.

1.6 Outline of this thesis

The studies presented in this thesis investigate the two receptors most closely related to the LDLR: the VLDLR and the apoER2. The role of the VLDLR in lipoprotein metabolism has been poorly defined. Studies in mice deficient for hepatic LRP and LDLR have suggested an extrahepatic, RAP-sensitive pathway for the metabolism of triglyceride rich lipoproteins (265). The VLDLR is present on vascular endothelium, and is expressed in tissues active in free fatty acid metabolism. Therefore, the VLDLR has been hypothesized to play a role in peripheral free fatty acid delivery. In addition, the expression of VLDLR in endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells and macrophages of atherosclerotic lesions could suggest a role for the VLDLR in atherosclerosis.

To examine the VLDLR *in vivo*, we have generated two transgenic mouse models that overexpress the human VLDLR. Chapter 2 discusses the generation of VLDLR transgenic mice by coinjection of two overlapping genomic human VLDLR fragments into murine zygotes (VLDLR-Tg mice). Human VLDLR expression in these mice is controlled by endogenous promoter sequences present in the construct. Chapter 3 discusses the generation of VLDLR transgenic mice that overexpress the human VLDLR under control of the preproendothelin-1 promoter, which drives expression mainly in endothelial cells (PVL mice).

The role of the VLDLR in lipoprotein metabolism has been investigated in both PVL and VLDLR deficient mice (chapter 3). The effect of VLDLR deficiency and endothelial overexpression have been studied under conditions of impaired liver lipoprotein clearance. Therefore, both PVL and VLDLR deficient mice have been studied on an LDLR deficient background. Furthermore, dietary stress has been applied by feeding of a high fat diet, and/or prolonged fasting.

VLDLR deficient mice display a moderate reduction of adipose tissue mass (166). Chapter 4 discusses the effect of the VLDLR on obesity and obesity induced insulin resistance. Therefore, adult VLDLR deficient mice and wild type littermates have been fed a high fat/high caloric diet, which was reported before to induce obesity and insulin resistance in wild type mice. As a second model for obesity, VLDLR deficient mice have been studied on an *ob/ob* background.

Chapter 5 discusses the role of the VLDLR in atherosclerosis. First, the role of the VLDLR in smooth muscle cell migration has been determined *in vivo*. Smooth muscle cell migration is thought to be important in atherosclerotic neointima formation. We studied intimal thickening after vascular injury in VLDLR deficient mice as a model for smooth muscle cell migration. Second, the hypothesis has been tested that the VLDLR directs lipoproteins to the vessel wall, thereby affecting atherosclerosis. Therefore, atherosclerosis was studied in PVL mice on an LDLR deficient background. Third, the effect of VLDLR deficient background.

Finally, the lipoprotein binding characteristics of the recently discovered apoER2 have been investigated *in vitro*. Chapter 6 discusses the effect of different apoE variants and apoE deficiency upon VLDL binding to the apoER2. In addition, the effect of LPL on VLDL binding by the apoER2 has been determined.

Our studies clearly demonstrate involvement of the VLDLR in lipid metabolism. The results of our studies will be discussed in chapter 8.

1.7 References

- Olivecrona, T. and Bengtsson-Olivercrona, G. Lipases involved in lipoprotein metabolism, Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 1: 116-121, 1990.
- Olivecrona, T. and Bengtsson-Olivercrona, G. Lipoprotein lipase and hepatic lipase, Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 1: 220-230, 1990.
- Windler, E. E., Greeve, J., Daerr, W. H., and Greten, H. Binding of rat chylomicrons and their remnants to the hepatic low- density-lipoprotein receptor and its role in remnant removal, Biochem J. 252: 553-61, 1988.
- Choi, S. Y., Fong, L. G., Kirven, M. J., and Cooper, A. D. Use of an anti-low density lipoprotein receptor antibody to quantify the role of the LDL receptor in the removal of chylomicron remnants in the mouse in vivo, J Clin Invest. 88: 1173-81, 1991.
- Willnow, T. E., Sheng, Z., Ishibashi, S., and Herz, J. Inhibition of hepatic chylomicron remnant uptake by gene transfer of a receptor antagonist, Science. 264: 1471-4, 1994.

- Willnow, T. E., Armstrong, S. A., Hammer, R. E., and Herz, J. Functional expression of low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein is controlled by receptor-associated protein in vivo, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 92: 4537-41, 1995.
- Rohlmann, A., Gotthardt, M., Hammer, R. E., and Herz, J. Inducible inactivation of hepatic LRP gene by cre-mediated recombination confirms role of LRP in clearance of chylomicron remnants, J Clin Invest. 101: 689-95, 1998.
- Gibbons, G. F. Assembly and secretion of hepatic very-low-density lipoprotein, Biochem. J. 268: 1-13, 1990.
- Rubinstein, A., Gibson, J. C., Paterniti, J. R., Jr., Kakis, G., Little, A., Ginsberg, H. N., and Brown, W. V. Effect of heparin-induced lipolysis on the distribution of apolipoprotein e among lipoprotein subclasses. Studies with patients deficient in hepatic triglyceride lipase and lipoprotein lipase, J Clin Invest. 75: 710-21, 1985.
- Brooks-Wilson, A., Marcil, M., Clee, S. M., Zhang, L. H., Roomp, K., van Dam, M., Yu, L., Brewer, C., Collins, J. A., Molhuizen, H. O., Loubser, O., Ouelette, B. F., Fichter, K., Ashbourne-Excoffon, K. J., Sensen, C. W., Scherer, S., Mott, S., Denis, M., Martindale, D., Frohlich, J., Morgan, K., Koop, B., Pimstone, S., Kastelein, J. J., Hayden, M. R., and et al. Mutations in ABC1 in Tangier disease and familial high-density lipoprotein deficiency, Nat Genet. 22: 336-45, 1999.
- Rust, S., Rosier, M., Funke, H., Real, J., Amoura, Z., Piette, J. C., Deleuze, J. F., Brewer, H. B., Duverger, N., Denefle, P., and Assmann, G. Tangier disease is caused by mutations in the gene encoding ATPbinding cassette transporter 1, Nat Genet. 22: 352-5, 1999.
- Bodzioch, M., Orso, E., Klucken, J., Langmann, T., Bottcher, A., Diederich, W., Drobnik, W., Barlage, S., Buchler, C., Porsch-Ozcurumez, M., Kaminski, W. E., Hahmann, H. W., Oette, K., Rothe, G., Aslanidis, C., Lackner, K. J., and Schmitz, G. The gene encoding ATP-binding cassette transporter 1 is mutated in Tangier disease, Nat Genet. 22: 347-51, 1999.
- 13. Tall, A. R., Jiang, X., Luo, Y., and Silver, D. 1999 George Lyman Duff memorial lecture: lipid transfer proteins, HDL metabolism, and atherogenesis, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 20: 1185-8, 2000.
- Acton, S., Rigotti, A., Landschulz, K. T., Xu, S., Hobbs, H. H., and Krieger, M. Identification of scavenger receptor SR-BI as a high density lipoprotein receptor, Science. 271: 518-20, 1996.
- Kozarsky, K. F., Donahee, M. H., Rigotti, A., Iqbal, S. N., Edelman, E. R., and Krieger, M. Overexpression of the HDL receptor SR-BI alters plasma HDL and bile cholesterol levels, Nature. 387: 414-7, 1997.
- Brown, M. S. and Goldstein, J. L. The SREBP pathway: regulation of cholesterol metabolism by proteolysis of a membrane-bound transcription factor, Cell. 89: 331-40, 1997.
- 17. Horton, J. D. and Shimomura, I. Sterol regulatory element-binding proteins: activators of cholesterol and fatty acid biosynthesis, Curr Opin Lipidol. 10: 143-50, 1999.
- Pai, J. T., Guryev, O., Brown, M. S., and Goldstein, J. L. Differential stimulation of cholesterol and unsaturated fatty acid biosynthesis in cells expressing individual nuclear sterol regulatory element-binding proteins, J Biol Chem. 273: 26138-48, 1998.
- Horton, J. D., Shimomura, I., Brown, M. S., Hammer, R. E., Goldstein, J. L., and Shimano, H. Activation of cholesterol synthesis in preference to fatty acid synthesis in liver and adipose tissue of transgenic mice overproducing sterol regulatory element-binding protein-2, J Clin Invest. 101: 2331-9, 1998.
- Brown, M. S. and Goldstein, J. L. A proteolytic pathway that controls the cholesterol content of membranes, cells, and blood, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 96: 11041-8, 1999.
- Desvergne, B. and Wahli, W. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors: nuclear control of metabolism, Endocr Rev. 20: 649-88, 1999.
- 22. Lin, Q., Ruuska, S. E., Shaw, N. S., Dong, D., and Noy, N. Ligand selectivity of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha, Biochemistry. 38: 185-90, 1999.
- Ellinghaus, P., Wolfrum, C., Assmann, G., Spener, F., and Seedorf, U. Phytanic acid activates the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha (PPARalpha) in sterol carrier protein 2-/ sterol carrier protein x-deficient mice, J Biol Chem. 274: 2766-72, 1999.

- 24. Forman, B. M., Tontonoz, P., Chen, J., Brun, R. P., Spiegelman, B. M., and Evans, R. M. 15-Deoxy-delta 12, 14-prostaglandin J2 is a ligand for the adipocyte determination factor PPAR gamma, Cell. 83: 803-12, 1995.
- 25. Kersten, S., Desvergne, B., and Wahli, W. Roles of PPARs in health and disease, Nature. 405: 421-4, 2000.
- Rosen, E. D., Sarraf, P., Troy, A. E., Bradwin, G., Moore, K., Milstone, D. S., Spiegelman, B. M., and Mortensen, R. M. PPAR gamma is required for the differentiation of adipose tissue in vivo and in vitro, Mol Cell. 4: 611-7, 1999.
- Rieusset, J., Andreelli, F., Auboeuf, D., Roques, M., Vallier, P., Riou, J. P., Auwerx, J., Laville, M., and Vidal, H. Insulin acutely regulates the expression of the peroxisome proliferator- activated receptor-gamma in human adipocytes, Diabetes. 48: 699-705, 1999.
- 28. Fajas, L., Schoonjans, K., Gelman, L., Kim, J. B., Najib, J., Martin, G., Fruchart, J. C., Briggs, M., Spiegelman, B. M., and Auwerx, J. Regulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma expression by adipocyte differentiation and determination factor 1/sterol regulatory element binding protein 1: implications for adipocyte differentiation and metabolism, Mol Cell Biol. 19: 5495-503, 1999.
- 29. Parthasarathy, S., Wieland, E., and Steinberg, D. A role for endothelial cell lipoxygenase in the oxidative modification of low density lipoprotein, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 86: 1046-50, 1989.
- Belkner, J., Wiesner, R., Rathman, J., Barnett, J., Sigal, E., and Kuhn, H. Oxygenation of lipoproteins by mammalian lipoxygenases, Eur J Biochem. 213: 251-61, 1993.
- Cyrus, T., Witztum, J. L., Rader, D. J., Tangirala, R., Fazio, S., Linton, M. F., and Funk, C. D. Disruption of the 12/15-lipoxygenase gene diminishes atherosclerosis in apo E-deficient mice, J Clin Invest. 103: 1597-604, 1999.
- 32. Schmitt, D., Shen, Z., Zhang, R., Colles, S. M., Wu, W., Salomon, R. G., Chen, Y., Chisolm, G. M., and Hazen, S. L. Leukocytes utilize myeloperoxidase-generated nitrating intermediates as physiological catalysts for the generation of biologically active oxidized lipids and sterols in serum, Biochemistry. 38: 16904-15, 1999.
- Podrez, E. A., Schmitt, D., Hoff, H. F., and Hazen, S. L. Myeloperoxidase-generated reactive nitrogen species convert LDL into an atherogenic form in vitro, J Clin Invest. 103: 1547-60, 1999.
- Ehrenwald, E., Chisolm, G. M., and Fox, P. L. Intact human ceruloplasmin oxidatively modifies low density lipoprotein, J Clin Invest. 93: 1493-501, 1994.
- Balla, G., Jacob, H. S., Eaton, J. W., Belcher, J. D., and Vercellotti, G. M. Hemin: a possible physiological mediator of low density lipoprotein oxidation and endothelial injury, Arterioscler Thromb. 11: 1700-11, 1991.
- Paganga, G., Rice-Evans, C., Rule, R., and Leake, D. The interaction between ruptured erythrocytes and low-density lipoproteins, FEBS Lett. 303: 154-8, 1992.
- Bey, E. A. and Cathcart, M. K. In vitro knockout of human p47phox blocks superoxide anion production and LDL oxidation by activated human monocytes, J Lipid Res. 41: 489-95, 2000.
- 38. Stary, H. C., Chandler, A. B., Dinsmore, R. E., Fuster, V., Glagov, S., Insull, W., Jr., Rosenfeld, M. E., Schwartz, C. J., Wagner, W. D., and Wissler, R. W. A definition of advanced types of atherosclerotic lesions and a histological classification of atherosclerosis. A report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association, Circulation. 92: 1355-74, 1995.
- 39. Ross, R. Atherosclerosis--an inflammatory disease, N Engl J Med. 340: 115-26, 1999.
- Santamarina-Fojo, S. and Brewer, H. B., Jr. Lipoprotein lipase: structure, function and mechanism of action, Int J Clin Lab Res. 24: 143-7, 1994.
- Frayn, K. N., Shadid, S., Hamlani, R., Humphreys, S. M., Clark, M. L., Fielding, B. A., Boland, O., and Coppack, S. W. Regulation of fatty acid movement in human adipose tissue in the postabsorptive-topostprandial transition, Am J Physiol. 266: E308-17, 1994.
- 42. Ibrahimi, A., Bonen, A., Blinn, W. D., Hajri, T., Li, X., Zhong, K., Cameron, R., and Abumrad, N. A. Muscle-specific overexpression of FAT/CD36 enhances fatty acid oxidation by contracting muscle,

reduces plasma triglycerides and fatty acids, and increases plasma glucose and insulin, J Biol Chem. 274: 26761-6, 1999.

- 43. Schaffer, J. E. and Lodish, H. F. Expression cloning and characterization of a novel adipocyte long chain fatty acid transport protein, Cell. 79: 427-36, 1994.
- 44. Nozaki, S., Tanaka, T., Yamashita, S., Sohmiya, K., Yoshizumi, T., Okamoto, F., Kitaura, Y., Kotake, C., Nishida, H., Nakata, A., Nakagawa, T., Matsumoto, K., Kameda-Takemura, K., Tadokoro, S., Kurata, Y., Torniyama, Y., Kawamura, K., and Matsuzawa, Y. CD36 mediates long-chain fatty acid transport in human myocardium: complete myocardial accumulation defect of radiolabeled long-chain fatty acid analog in subjects with CD36 deficiency, Mol Cell Biochem. 192: 129-35, 1999.
- 45. Hunt, C. R., Ro, J. H., Dobson, D. E., Min, H. Y., and Spiegelman, B. M. Adipocyte P2 gene: developmental expression and homology of 5'-flanking sequences among fat cell-specific genes, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 83: 3786-90, 1986.
- 46. Krieg, P., Feil, S., Furstenberger, G., and Bowden, G. T. Tumor-specific overexpression of a novel keratinocyte lipid-binding protein. Identification and characterization of a cloned sequence activated during multistage carcinogenesis in mouse skin, J Biol Chem. 268: 17362-9, 1993.
- Bell, R. M. and Coleman, R. A. Enzymes of glycerolipid synthesis in eukaryotes, Annu Rev Biochem. 49: 459-87, 1980.
- 48. Lehner, R. and Kuksis, A. Biosynthesis of triacylglycerols, Prog Lipid Res. 35: 169-201, 1996.
- 49. Coleman, R. A. and Haynes, E. B. Hepatic monoacylglycerol acyltransferase. Characterization of an activity associated with the suckling period in rats, J Biol Chem. 259: 8934-8, 1984.
- Jamdar, S. C. and Cao, W. F. Properties of monoglycerol acyltransferase in rat adipocytes, Arch Biochem Biophys. 296: 419-25, 1992.
- Smith, S. J., Cases, S., Jensen, D. R., Chen, H. C., Sande, E., Tow, B., Sanan, D. A., Raber, J., Eckel, R. H., and Farese, R. V., Jr. Obesity resistance and multiple mechanisms of triglyceride synthesis in mice lacking Dgat, Nat Genet. 25: 87-90, 2000.
- Osuga, J., Ishibashi, S., Oka, T., Yagyu, H., Tozawa, R., Fujimoto, A., Shionoiri, F., Yahagi, N., Kraemer, F. B., Tsutsumi, O., and Yamada, N. Targeted disruption of hormone-sensitive lipase results in male sterility and adipocyte hypertrophy, but not in obesity, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 97: 787-92, 2000.
- 53. Flier, J. S. and Maratos-Flier, E. Obesity and the hypothalamus: novel peptides for new pathways, Cell. 92: 437-40, 1998.
- Friedman, J. M. and Halaas, J. L. Leptin and the regulation of body weight in mammals, Nature. 395: 763-70, 1998.
- 55. Hagan, M. M., Rushing, P. A., Schwartz, M. W., Yagaloff, K. A., Burn, P., Woods, S. C., and Seeley, R. J. Role of the CNS melanocortin system in the response to overfeeding, J Neurosci. 19: 2362-7, 1999.
- Zhang, Y., Proenca, R., Maffei, M., Barone, M., Leopold, L., and Friedman, J. M. Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue, Nature. 372: 425-32, 1994.
- 57. Montague, C. T., Farooqi, I. S., Whitehead, J. P., Soos, M. A., Rau, H., Wareham, N. J., Sewter, C. P., Digby, J. E., Mohammed, S. N., Hurst, J. A., Cheetham, C. H., Earley, A. R., Barnett, A. H., Prins, J. B., and O'Rahilly, S. Congenital leptin deficiency is associated with severe early-onset obesity in humans, Nature. 387: 903-8, 1997.
- 58. Lee, G. H., Proenca, R., Montez, J. M., Carroll, K. M., Darvishzadeh, J. G., Lee, J. I., and Friedman, J. M. Abnormal splicing of the leptin receptor in diabetic mice, Nature. 379: 632-5, 1996.
- Ricquier, D. and Bouillaud, F. The uncoupling protein homologues: UCP1, UCP2, UCP3, StUCP and AtUCP, Biochem J. 345 Pt 2: 161-79, 2000.
- 60. Klein, J., Fasshauer, M., Benito, M., and Kahn, C. R. Insulin and the beta3-adrenoceptor differentially regulate uncoupling protein-1 expression, Mol Endocrinol. 14: 764-73, 2000.
- 61. Argyropoulos, G., Brown, A. M., Willi, S. M., Zhu, J., He, Y., Reitman, M., Gevao, S. M., Spruill, I., and Garvey, W. T. Effects of mutations in the human uncoupling protein 3 gene on the respiratory quotient and fat oxidation in severe obesity and type 2 diabetes, J Clin Invest, 102: 1345-51, 1998.
- 62. Kahn, C. R. Triglycerides and toggling the tummy, Nat Genet. 25: 6-7, 2000.

- 63. Wu, Z., Puigserver, P., and Spiegelman, B. M. Transcriptional activation of adipogenesis, Curr Opin Cell Biol. 11: 689-94, 1999.
- 64. Cianflone, K., Maslowska, M., and Sniderman, A. D. Acylation stimulating protein (ASP), an adipocyte autocrine: new directions, Semin Cell Dev Biol. 10: 31-41, 1999.
- 65. Van Harmelen, V., Reynisdottir, S., Cianflone, K., Degerman, E., Hoffstedt, J., Nilsell, K., Sniderman, A., and Arner, P. Mechanisms involved in the regulation of free fatty acid release from isolated human fat cells by acylation-stimulating protein and insulin, J Biol Chem. 274: 18243-51, 1999.
- O'Riordan, J. H. L., Malan, P. G., and Gould, R. P. Essentials of endocrinology, Vol. 2nd edition. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific Publications, 1988.
- 67. Reaven, G. M. Banting lecture 1988. Role of insulin resistance in human disease, Diabetes. 37: 1595-607, 1988.
- 68. Taylor, S. I. Deconstructing type 2 diabetes, Cell. 97: 9-12, 1999.
- Warram, J. H., Martin, B. C., Krolewski, A. S., Soeldner, J. S., and Kahn, C. R. Slow glucose removal rate and hyperinsulinemia precede the development of type II diabetes in the offspring of diabetic parents, Ann Intern Med. 113: 909-15, 1990.
- Saltiel, A. R. and Olefsky, J. M. Thiazolidinediones in the treatment of insulin resistance and type II diabetes, Diabetes. 45: 1661-9, 1996.
- Ibrahimi, A., Teboul, L., Gaillard, D., Amri, E. Z., Ailhaud, G., Young, P., Cawthorne, M. A., and Grimaldi, P. A. Evidence for a common mechanism of action for fatty acids and thiazolidinedione antidiabetic agents on gene expression in preadipose cells, Mol Pharmacol. 46: 1070-6, 1994.
- Spiegelman, B. M. PPAR-gamma: adipogenic regulator and thiazolidinedione receptor, Diabetes. 47: 507-14, 1998.
- 73. Hotamisligil, G. S., Johnson, R. S., Distel, R. J., Ellis, R., Papaioannou, V. E., and Spiegelman, B. M. Uncoupling of obesity from insulin resistance through a targeted mutation in aP2, the adipocyte fatty acid binding protein, Science. 274: 1377-9, 1996.
- 74. Brown, M. S. and Goldstein, J. L. Familial hypercholesterolemia: defective binding of lipoproteins to cultured fibroblasts associated with impaired regulation of 3-hydroxy-3- methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase activity, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 71: 788-92, 1974.
- 75. Brown, M. S., Dana, S. E., and Goldstein, J. L. Regulation of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase activity in cultured human fibroblasts. Comparison of cells from a normal subject and from a patient with homozygous familial hypercholesterolemia, J Biol Chem. 249: 789-96, 1974.
- 76. Brown, M. S. and Goldstein, J. L. Receptor-mediated control of cholesterol metabolism, Science. 191: 150-4, 1976.
- 77. Tolleshaug, H., Goldstein, J. L., Schneider, W. J., and Brown, M. S. Posttranslational processing of the LDL receptor and its genetic disruption in familial hypercholesterolemia, Cell. 30: 715-24, 1982.
- Tolleshaug, H., Hobgood, K. K., Brown, M. S., and Goldstein, J. L. The LDL receptor locus in familial hypercholesterolemia: multiple mutations disrupt transport and processing of a membrane receptor, Cell. 32: 941-51, 1983.
- Sudhof, T. C., Goldstein, J. L., Brown, M. S., and Russell, D. W. The LDL receptor gene: a mosaic of exons shared with different proteins, Science. 228: 815-22, 1985.
- Yamamoto, T., Davis, C. G., Brown, M. S., Schneider, W. J., Casey, M. L., Goldstein, J. L., and Russell, D. W. The human LDL receptor: a cysteine-rich protein with multiple Alu sequences in its mRNA, Cell. 39: 27-38, 1984.
- Ishibashi, S., Brown, M. S., Goldstein, J. L., Gerard, R. D., Hammer, R. E., and Herz, J. Hypercholesterolemia in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice and its reversal by adenovirusmediated gene delivery, J Clin Invest. 92: 883-93, 1993.
- Ishibashi, S., Goldstein, J. L., Brown, M. S., Herz, J., and Burns, D. K. Massive xanthomatosis and atherosclerosis in cholesterol-fed low density lipoprotein receptor-negative mice, J Clin Invest. 93: 1885-93, 1994.

- Van Driel, I. R., Brown, M. S., and Goldstein, J. L. Stoichiometric binding of low density lipoprotein (LDL) and monoclonal antibodies to LDL receptors in a solid phase assay, J Biol Chem. 264: 9533-8, 1989.
- Innerarity, T. L. and Mahley, R. W. Enhanced binding by cultured human fibroblasts of apo-E-containing lipoproteins as compared with low density lipoproteins, Biochemistry. 17: 1440-7, 1978.
- van Driel, I. R., Davis, C. G., Goldstein, J. L., and Brown, M. S. Self-association of the low density lipoprotein receptor mediated by the cytoplasmic domain, J Biol Chem. 262: 16127-34, 1987.
- Basu, S. K., Goldstein, J. L., Anderson, R. G., and Brown, M. S. Monensin interrupts the recycling of low density lipoprotein receptors in human fibroblasts, Cell. 24: 493-502, 1981.
- Kita, T., Brown, M. S., Bilheimer, D. W., and Goldstein, J. L. Delayed clearance of very low density and intermediate density lipoproteins with enhanced conversion to low density lipoprotein in WHHL rabbits, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 79: 5693-7, 1982.
- de Faria, E., Fong, L. G., Komaromy, M., and Cooper, A. D. Relative roles of the LDL receptor, the LDL receptor-like protein, and hepatic lipase in chylomicron remnant removal by the liver, J Lipid Res. 37: 197-209, 1996.
- Ishibashi, S., Perrey, S., Chen, Z., Osuga, J., Shimada, M., Ohashi, K., Harada, K., Yazaki, Y., and Yamada, N. Role of the low density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor pathway in the metabolism of chylomicron remnants. A quantitative study in knockout mice lacking the LDL receptor, apolipoprotein E, or both, J Biol Chem. 271: 22422-7, 1996.
- 90. Yochem, J. and Greenwald, I. A gene for a low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 90: 4572-6, 1993.
- Schonbaum, C. P., Lee, S., and Mahowald, A. P. The Drosophila yolkless gene encodes a vitellogenin receptor belonging to the low density lipoprotein receptor superfamily, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 92: 1485-9, 1995.
- Sappington, T. W., Kokoza, V. A., Cho, W. L., and Raikhel, A. S. Molecular characterization of the mosquito vitellogenin receptor reveals unexpected high homology to the Drosophila yolk protein receptor, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 93: 8934-9, 1996.
- Dantuma, N. P., Potters, M., De Winther, M. P., Tensen, C. P., Kooiman, F. P., Bogerd, J., and Van der Horst, D. J. An insect homolog of the vertebrate very low density lipoprotein receptor mediates endocytosis of lipophorins, J Lipid Res. 40: 973-8, 1999.
- Mehta, K. D., Chen, W. J., Goldstein, J. L., and Brown, M. S. The low density lipoprotein receptor in Xenopus laevis. I. Five domains that resemble the human receptor, J Biol Chem. 266: 10406-14, 1991.
- 95. Bujo, H., Hermann, M., Kaderli, M. O., Jacobsen, L., Sugawara, S., Nimpf, J., Yamamoto, T., and Schneider, W. J. Chicken oocyte growth is mediated by an eight ligand binding repeat member of the LDL receptor family, Embo J. 13: 5165-75, 1994.
- Takahashi, S., Kawarabayasi, Y., Nakai, T., Sakai, J., and Yamamoto, T. Rabbit very low density lipoprotein receptor: a low density lipoprotein receptor-like protein with distinct ligand specificity, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 89: 9252-6, 1992.
- 97. Kim, D. H., Iijima, H., Goto, K., Sakai, J., Ishii, H., Kim, H. J., Suzuki, H., Kondo, H., Saeki, S., and Yamamoto, T. Human apolipoprotein E receptor 2. A novel lipoprotein receptor of the low density lipoprotein receptor family predominantly expressed in brain, J Biol Chem. 271: 8373-80, 1996.
- Herz, J., Hamann, U., Rogne, S., Myklebost, O., Gausepohl, H., and Stanley, K. K. Surface location and high affinity for calcium of a 500-kd liver membrane protein closely related to the LDL-receptor suggest a physiological role as lipoprotein receptor, Embo J. 7: 4119-27, 1988.
- 99. Saito, A., Pietromonaco, S., Loo, A. K., and Farquhar, M. G. Complete cloning and sequencing of rat gp330/"megalin," a distinctive member of the low density lipoprotein receptor gene family, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 91: 9725-9, 1994.
- Ishii, H., Kim, D. H., Fujita, T., Endo, Y., Saeki, S., and Yamamoto, T. T. cDNA cloning of a new lowdensity lipoprotein receptor-related protein and mapping of its gene (LRP3) to chromosome bands 19q12q13. 2, Genomics. 51: 132-5, 1998.

- Tomita, Y., Kim, D. H., Magoori, K., Fujino, T., and Yamamoto, T. T. A novel low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein with type II membrane protein-like structure is abundant in heart, J Biochem (Tokyo). 124: 784-9, 1998.
- 102. Hey, P. J., Twells, R. C., Phillips, M. S., Yusuke, N., Brown, S. D., Kawaguchi, Y., Cox, R., Guochun, X., Dugan, V., Hammond, H., Metzker, M. L., Todd, J. A., and Hess, J. F. Cloning of a novel member of the low-density lipoprotein receptor family, Gene. 216: 103-11, 1998.
- 103. Brown, S. D., Twells, R. C., Hey, P. J., Cox, R. D., Levy, E. R., Soderman, A. R., Metzker, M. L., Caskey, C. T., Todd, J. A., and Hess, J. F. Isolation and characterization of LRP6, a novel member of the low density lipoprotein receptor gene family, Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 248: 879-88, 1998.
- 104. Kanaki, T., Bujo, H., Hirayama, S., Ishii, I., Morisaki, N., Schneider, W. J., and Saito, Y. Expression of LR11, a mosaic LDL receptor family member, is markedly increased in atherosclerotic lesions, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 19: 2687-95, 1999.
- 105. Davis, C. G., Goldstein, J. L., Sudhof, T. C., Anderson, R. G., Russell, D. W., and Brown, M. S. Aciddependent ligand dissociation and recycling of LDL receptor mediated by growth factor homology region, Nature. 326: 760-5, 1987.
- 106. Chen, W. J., Goldstein, J. L., and Brown, M. S. NPXY, a sequence often found in cytoplasmic tails, is required for coated pit-mediated internalization of the low density lipoprotein receptor, J Biol Chem. 265: 3116-23, 1990.
- 107. Willnow, T. E., Rohlmann, A., Horton, J., Otani, H., Braun, J. R., Hammer, R. E., and Herz, J. RAP, a specialized chaperone, prevents ligand-induced ER retention and degradation of LDL receptor-related endocytic receptors, Embo J. 15: 2632-9, 1996.
- 108. Kawooya, J. K., Osir, E. O., and Law, J. H. Uptake of the major hemolymph lipoprotein and its transformation in the insect egg, J Biol Chem. 263: 8740-7, 1988.
- Sappington, T. W. and Raikhel, A. S. Ligand-binding domains in vitellogenin receptors and other LDLreceptor family members share a common ancestral ordering of cysteine-rich repeats, J Mol Evol. 46: 476-87, 1998.
- 110. DiMario, P. J. and Mahowald, A. P. Female sterile (1) yolkless: a recessive female sterile mutation in Drosophila melanogaster with depressed numbers of coated pits and coated vesicles within the developing oocytes, J Cell Biol. 105: 199-206, 1987.
- 111. Barber, D. L., Sanders, E. J., Aebersold, R., and Schneider, W. J. The receptor for yolk lipoprotein deposition in the chicken oocyte, J Biol Chem. 266: 18761-70, 1991.
- 112. Bujo, H., Lindstedt, K. A., Hermann, M., Dalmau, L. M., Nimpf, J., and Schneider, W. J. Chicken oocytes and somatic cells express different splice variants of a multifunctional receptor, J Biol Chem. 270: 23546-51, 1995.
- Lindstedt, K. A., Bujo, H., Mahon, M. G., Nimpf, J., and Schneider, W. J. Germ cell-somatic cell dichotomy of a low-density lipoprotein receptor gene family member in testis, DNA Cell Biol. 16: 35-43, 1997.
- Bujo, H., Yamamoto, T., Hayashi, K., Hermann, M., Nimpf, J., and Schneider, W. J. Mutant oocytic low density lipoprotein receptor gene family member causes atherosclerosis and female sterility, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 92: 9905-9, 1995.
- Moestrup, S. K., Gliemann, J., and Pallesen, G. Distribution of the alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor/low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein in human tissues, Cell Tissue Res. 269: 375-82, 1992.
- Beisiegel, U., Weber, W., and Bengtsson-Olivecrona, G. Lipoprotein lipase enhances the binding of chylomicrons to low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 88: 8342-6, 1991.
- 117. Chappell, D. A., Fry, G. L., Waknitz, M. A., Iverius, P. H., Williams, S. E., and Strickland, D. K. The low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein/alpha 2- macroglobulin receptor binds and mediates catabolism of bovine milk lipoprotein lipase, J Biol Chem. 267: 25764-7, 1992.

- Kounnas, M. Z., Argraves, W. S., and Strickland, D. K. The 39-kDa receptor-associated protein interacts with two members of the low density lipoprotein receptor family, alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor and glycoprotein 330, J Biol Chem. 267: 21162-6, 1992.
- 119. Stefansson, S., Lawrence, D. A., and Argraves, W. S. Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 and vitronectin promote the cellular clearance of thrombin by low density lipoprotein receptor-related proteins 1 and 2, J Biol Chem. 271: 8215-20, 1996.
- 120. Mikhailenko, I., Kounnas, M. Z., and Strickland, D. K. Low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein/alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor mediates the cellular internalization and degradation of thrombospondin. A process facilitated by cell-surface proteoglycans, J Biol Chem. 270: 9543-9, 1995.
- Godyna, S., Liau, G., Popa, I., Stefansson, S., and Argraves, W. S. Identification of the low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein (LRP) as an endocytic receptor for thrombospondin-1, J Cell Biol. 129: 1403-10, 1995.
- 122. Nykjaer, A., Petersen, C. M., Moller, B., Jensen, P. H., Moestrup, S. K., Holtet, T. L., Etzerodt, M., Thogersen, H. C., Munch, M., Andreasen, P. A., and et al. Purified alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor/LDL receptor-related protein binds urokinase.plasminogen activator inhibitor type-1 complex. Evidence that the alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor mediates cellular degradation of urokinase receptor-bound complexes, J Biol Chem. 267: 14543-6, 1992.
- 123. Kasza, A., Petersen, H. H., Heegaard, C. W., Oka, K., Christensen, A., Dubin, A., Chan, L., and Andreasen, P. A. Specificity of serine proteinase/serpin complex binding to very-low- density lipoprotein receptor and alpha2-macroglobulin receptor/low- density-lipoprotein-receptor-related protein, Eur J Biochem. 248: 270-81, 1997.
- 124. Kita, T., Goldstein, J. L., Brown, M. S., Watanabe, Y., Hornick, C. A., and Havel, R. J. Hepatic uptake of chylomicron remnants in WHHL rabbits: a mechanism genetically distinct from the low density lipoprotein receptor, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 79: 3623-7, 1982.
- Rubinsztein, D. C., Cohen, J. C., Berger, G. M., van der Westhuyzen, D. R., Coetzee, G. A., and Gevers,
 W. Chylomicron remnant clearance from the plasma is normal in familial hypercholesterolemic homozygotes with defined receptor defects, J Clin Invest. 86: 1306-12, 1990.
- 126. Herz, J., Clouthier, D. E., and Hammer, R. E. LDL receptor-related protein internalizes and degrades uPA-PAI-1 complexes and is essential for embryo implantation, Cell. 71: 411-21, 1992.
- 127. Webb, D. J., Nguyen, D. H., and Gonias, S. L. Extracellular signal-regulated kinase functions in the urokinase receptor-dependent pathway by which neutralization of low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein promotes fibrosarcoma cell migration and matrigel invasion, J Cell Sci. 113: 123-34, 2000.
- 128. Okada, S. S., Grobmyer, S. R., and Barnathan, E. S. Contrasting effects of plasminogen activators, urokinase receptor, and LDL receptor-related protein on smooth muscle cell migration and invasion, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 16: 1269-76, 1996.
- 129. Blasi, F. Proteolysis, cell adhesion, chemotaxis, and invasiveness are regulated by the u-PA-u-PAR-PAI-1 system, Thromb Haemost. 82: 298-304, 1999.
- 130. Kerjaschki, D., Exner, M., Ullrich, R., Susani, M., Curtiss, L. K., Witztum, J. L., Farquhar, M. G., and Orlando, R. A. Pathogenic antibodies inhibit the binding of apolipoproteins to megalin/gp330 in passive Heymann nephritis, J Clin Invest. 100: 2303-9, 1997.
- 131. Willnow, T. E., Goldstein, J. L., Orth, K., Brown, M. S., and Herz, J. Low density lipoprotein receptorrelated protein and gp330 bind similar ligands, including plasminogen activator-inhibitor complexes and lactoferrin, an inhibitor of chylomicron remnant clearance, J Biol Chem. 267: 26172-80, 1992.
- Kounnas, M. Z., Chappell, D. A., Strickland, D. K., and Argraves, W. S. Glycoprotein 330, a member of the low density lipoprotein receptor family, binds lipoprotein lipase in vitro, J Biol Chem. 268: 14176-81, 1993.
- 133. Stefansson, S., Chappell, D. A., Argraves, K. M., Strickland, D. K., and Argraves, W. S. Glycoprotein 330/low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein-2 mediates endocytosis of low density lipoproteins via interaction with apolipoprotein B100, J Biol Chem. 270: 19417-21, 1995.

- 134. Zheng, G., Bachinsky, D. R., Stamenkovic, I., Strickland, D. K., Brown, D., Andres, G., and McCluskey, R. T. Organ distribution in rats of two members of the low-density lipoprotein receptor gene family, gp330 and LRP/alpa 2MR, and the receptor-associated protein (RAP), J Histochem Cytochem. 42: 531-42, 1994.
- 135. Lundgren, S., Carling, T., Hjalm, G., Juhlin, C., Rastad, J., Pihlgren, U., Rask, L., Akerstrom, G., and Hellman, P. Tissue distribution of human gp330/megalin, a putative Ca(2+)-sensing protein, J Histochem Cytochem. 45: 383-92, 1997.
- 136. Willnow, T. E., Hilpert, J., Armstrong, S. A., Rohlmann, A., Hammer, R. E., Burns, D. K., and Herz, J. Defective forebrain development in mice lacking gp330/megalin, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 93: 8460-4, 1996.
- 137. Christensen, E. I., Moskaug, J. O., Vorum, H., Jacobsen, C., Gundersen, T. E., Nykjaer, A., Blomhoff, R., Willnow, T. E., and Moestrup, S. K. Evidence for an essential role of megalin in transpithelial transport of retinol, J Am Soc Nephrol. 10: 685-95, 1999.
- 138. Nykjaer, A., Dragun, D., Walther, D., Vorum, H., Jacobsen, C., Herz, J., Melsen, F., Christensen, E. I., and Willnow, T. E. An endocytic pathway essential for renal uptake and activation of the steroid 25-(OH) vitamin D3, Cell. 96: 507-15, 1999.
- 139. Roux, C., Horvath, C., and Dupuis, R. Teratogenic action and embryo lethality of AY 9944R. Prevention by a hypercholesterolemia-provoking diet, Teratology. 19: 35-8, 1979.
- 140. Tint, G. S., Irons, M., Elias, E. R., Batta, A. K., Frieden, R., Chen, T. S., and Salen, G. Defective cholesterol biosynthesis associated with the Smith-Lemli- Opitz syndrome, N Engl J Med. 330: 107-13, 1994.
- 141. Farese, R. V., Jr., Ruland, S. L., Flynn, L. M., Stokowski, R. P., and Young, S. G. Knockout of the mouse apolipoprotein B gene results in embryonic lethality in homozygotes and protection against diet-induced hypercholesterolemia in heterozygotes, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 92: 1774-8, 1995.
- 142. Farese, R. V., Jr., Cases, S., Ruland, S. L., Kayden, H. J., Wong, J. S., Young, S. G., and Hamilton, R. L. A novel function for apolipoprotein B: lipoprotein synthesis in the yolk sac is critical for maternal-fetal lipid transport in mice, J Lipid Res. 37: 347-60, 1996.
- 143. Farese, R. V., Jr. and Herz, J. Cholesterol metabolism and embryogenesis, Trends Genet. 14: 115-20, 1998.
- 144. Hiesberger, T., Trommsdorff, M., Howell, B. W., Goffinet, A., Mumby, M. C., Cooper, J. A., and Herz, J. Direct binding of Reelin to VLDL receptor and ApoE receptor 2 induces tyrosine phosphorylation of disabled-1 and modulates tau phosphorylation, Neuron. 24: 481-9, 1999.
- 145. Kim, H. J., Kim, D. H., Magoori, K., Saeki, S., and Yamamoto, T. T. Evolution of the apolipoprotein E receptor 2 gene by exon loss, J Biochem (Tokyo). *124*: 451-6, 1998.
- 146. Sun, X. M. and Soutar, A. K. Expression in vitro of alternatively spliced variants of the messenger RNA for human apolipoprotein E receptor-2 identified in human tissues by ribonuclease protection assays, Eur J Biochem. 262: 230-9, 1999.
- 147. Trommsdorff, M., Gotthardt, M., Hiesberger, T., Shelton, J., Stockinger, W., Nimpf, J., Hammer, R. E., Richardson, J. A., and Herz, J. Reeler/Disabled-like disruption of neuronal migration in knockout mice lacking the VLDL receptor and ApoE receptor 2, Cell. 97: 689-701, 1999.
- 148. Sakai, J., Hoshino, A., Takahashi, S., Miura, Y., Ishii, H., Suzuki, H., Kawarabayasi, Y., and Yamamoto, T. Structure, chromosome location, and expression of the human very low density lipoprotein receptor gene, J Biol Chem. 269: 2173-82, 1994.
- 149. Gafvels, M. E., Caird, M., Britt, D., Jackson, C. L., Patterson, D., and Strauss, J. F. d. Cloning of a cDNA encoding a putative human very low density lipoprotein/apolipoprotein E receptor and assignment of the gene to chromosome 9pter-p23, Somat Cell Mol Genet. 19: 557-69, 1993.
- 150. Oka, K., Tzung, K. W., Sullivan, M., Lindsay, E., Baldini, A., and Chan, L. Human very-low-density lipoprotein receptor complementary DNA and deduced amino acid sequence and localization of its gene (VLDLR) to chromosome band 9p24 by fluorescence in situ hybridization, Genomics. 20: 298-300, 1994.

- 151. Webb, J. C., Patel, D. D., Jones, M. D., Knight, B. L., and Soutar, A. K. Characterization and tissuespecific expression of the human 'very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) receptor' mRNA, Hum Mol Genet. 3: 531-7, 1994.
- 152. Gafvels, M. E., Paavola, L. G., Boyd, C. O., Nolan, P. M., Wittmaack, F., Chawla, A., Lazar, M. A., Bucan, M., Angelin, B. O., and Strauss, J. F., 3rd Cloning of a complementary deoxyribonucleic acid encoding the murine homolog of the very low density lipoprotein/apolipoprotein-E receptor: expression pattern and assignment of the gene to mouse chromosome 19, Endocrinology. 135: 387-94, 1994.
- 153. Oka, K., Ishimura-Oka, K., Chu, M. J., Sullivan, M., Krushkal, J., Li, W. H., and Chan, L. Mouse verylow-density-lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR) cDNA cloning, tissue-specific expression and evolutionary relationship with the low- density-lipoprotein receptor, Eur J Biochem. 224: 975-82, 1994.
- 154. Jokinen, E. V., Landschulz, K. T., Wyne, K. L., Ho, Y. K., Frykman, P. K., and Hobbs, H. H. Regulation of the very low density lipoprotein receptor by thyroid hormone in rat skeletal muscle, J Biol Chem. 269: 26411-8, 1994.
- 155. Tiebel, O., Oka, K., Robinson, K., Sullivan, M., Martinez, J., Nakamuta, M., Ishimura-Oka, K., and Chan, L. Mouse very low-density lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR): gene structure, tissue-specific expression and dietary and developmental regulation, Atherosclerosis. 145: 239-51, 1999.
- 156. Multhaupt, H. A., Gafvels, M. E., Kariko, K., Jin, H., Arenas-Elliot, C., Goldman, B. I., Strauss, J. F., 3rd, Angelin, B., Warhol, M. J., and McCrae, K. R. Expression of very low density lipoprotein receptor in the vascular wall. Analysis of human tissues by in situ hybridization and immunohistochemistry, Am J Pathol. 148: 1985-97, 1996.
- 157. Niemeier, A., Gafvels, M., Heeren, J., Meyer, N., Angelin, B., and Beisiegel, U. VLDL receptor mediates the uptake of human chylomicron remnants in vitro, J Lipid Res. 37: 1733-42, 1996.
- 158. Takahashi, S., Suzuki, J., Kohno, M., Oida, K., Tamai, T., Miyabo, S., Yamamoto, T., and Nakai, T. Enhancement of the binding of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins to the very low density lipoprotein receptor by apolipoprotein E and lipoprotein lipase, J Biol Chem. 270: 15747-54, 1995.
- 159. Battey, F. D., Gafvels, M. E., FitzGerald, D. J., Argraves, W. S., Chappell, D. A., Strauss, J. F., 3rd, and Strickland, D. K. The 39-kDa receptor-associated protein regulates ligand binding by the very low density lipoprotein receptor, J Biol Chem. 269: 23268-73, 1994.
- 160. Mikhailenko, I., Krylov, D., Argraves, K. M., Roberts, D. D., Liau, G., and Strickland, D. K. Cellular internalization and degradation of thrombospondin-1 is mediated by the amino-terminal heparin binding domain (HBD). High affinity interaction of dimeric HBD with the low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein, J Biol Chem. 272: 6784-91, 1997.
- 161. Argraves, K. M., Battey, F. D., MacCalman, C. D., McCrae, K. R., Gafvels, M., Kozarsky, K. F., Chappell, D. A., Strauss, J. F., 3rd, and Strickland, D. K. The very low density lipoprotein receptor mediates the cellular catabolism of lipoprotein lipase and urokinase-plasminogen activator inhibitor type I complexes, J Biol Chem. 270: 26550-7, 1995.
- 162. Kobayashi, K., Oka, K., Forte, T., Ishida, B., Teng, B., Ishimura-Oka, K., Nakamuta, M., and Chan, L. Reversal of hypercholesterolemia in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice by adenovirusmediated gene transfer of the very low density lipoprotein receptor, J Biol Chem. 271: 6852-60, 1996.
- 163. Magrane, J., Reina, M., Pagan, R., Luna, A., Casaroli-Marano, R. P., Angelin, B., Gafvels, M., and Vilaro, S. Bovine aortic endothelial cells express a variant of the very low density lipoprotein receptor that lacks the O-linked sugar domain, J Lipid Res. 39: 2172-81, 1998.
- 164. Iijima, H., Miyazawa, M., Sakai, J., Magoori, K., Ito, M. R., Suzuki, H., Nose, M., Kawarabayasi, Y., and Yamamoto, T. T. Expression and characterization of a very low density lipoprotein receptor variant lacking the O-linked sugar region generated by alternative splicing, J Biochem (Tokyo). 124: 747-55, 1998.
- 165. Kwok, S., Singh-Bist, A., Natu, V., and Kraemer, F. B. Dietary regulation of the very low density lipoprotein receptor in mouse heart and fat, Horm Metab Res. 29: 524-9, 1997.

- 166. Frykman, P. K., Brown, M. S., Yamamoto, T., Goldstein, J. L., and Herz, J. Normal plasma lipoproteins and fertility in gene-targeted mice homozygous for a disruption in the gene encoding very low density lipoprotein receptor, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 92: 8453-7, 1995.
- Curran, T. and D'Arcangelo, G. Role of reelin in the control of brain development, Brain Res Brain Res Rev. 26: 285-94, 1998.
- D'Arcangelo, G., Miao, G. G., Chen, S. C., Soares, H. D., Morgan, J. I., and Curran, T. A protein related to extracellular matrix proteins deleted in the mouse mutant reeler, Nature. 374: 719-23, 1995.
- 169. Hirotsune, S., Takahara, T., Sasaki, N., Hirose, K., Yoshiki, A., Ohashi, T., Kusakabe, M., Murakami, Y., Muramatsu, M., Watanabe, S., and et al. The reeler gene encodes a protein with an EGF-like motif expressed by pioneer neurons, Nat Genet. 10: 77-83, 1995.
- Ogawa, M., Miyata, T., Nakajima, K., Yagyu, K., Seike, M., Ikenaka, K., Yamamoto, H., and Mikoshiba, K. The reeler gene-associated antigen on Cajal-Retzius neurons is a crucial molecule for laminar organization of cortical neurons, Neuron. 14: 899-912, 1995.
- 171. Howell, B. W., Hawkes, R., Soriano, P., and Cooper, J. A. Neuronal position in the developing brain is regulated by mouse disabled-1, Nature. 389: 733-7, 1997.
- 172. Sheldon, M., Rice, D. S., D'Arcangelo, G., Yoneshima, H., Nakajima, K., Mikoshiba, K., Howell, B. W., Cooper, J. A., Goldowitz, D., and Curran, T. Scrambler and yotari disrupt the disabled gene and produce a reeler-like phenotype in mice, Nature. 389: 730-3, 1997.
- 173. Sweet, H. O., Bronson, R. T., Johnson, K. R., Cook, S. A., and Davisson, M. T. Scrambler, a new neurological mutation of the mouse with abnormalities of neuronal migration, Mamm Genome. 7: 798-802, 1996.
- 174. Webb, D. J., Nguyen, D. H., Sankovic, M., and Gonias, S. L. The very low density lipoprotein receptor regulates urokinase receptor catabolism and breast cancer cell motility in vitro, J Biol Chem. 274: 7412-20, 1999.
- 175. Wijnberg, M. J., Quax, P. H., Nieuwenbroek, N. M., and Verheijen, J. H. The migration of human smooth muscle cells in vitro is mediated by plasminogen activation and can be inhibited by alpha2-macroglobulin receptor associated protein, Thromb Haemost. 78: 880-6, 1997.
- 176. Degryse, B., Resnati, M., Rabbani, S. A., Villa, A., Fazioli, F., and Blasi, F. Src-dependence and pertussistoxin sensitivity of urokinase receptor- dependent chemotaxis and cytoskeleton reorganization in rat smooth muscle cells, Blood. 94: 649-62, 1999.
- 177. Weaver, A. M., Hussaini, I. M., Mazar, A., Henkin, J., and Gonias, S. L. Embryonic fibroblasts that are genetically deficient in low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein demonstrate increased activity of the urokinase receptor system and accelerated migration on vitronectin, J Biol Chem. 272: 14372-9, 1997.
- 178. Luoma, J., Hiltunen, T., Sarkioja, T., Moestrup, S. K., Gliemann, J., Kodama, T., Nikkari, T., and Yla-Herttuala, S. Expression of alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor/low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein and scavenger receptor in human atherosclerotic lesions, J Clin Invest. 93: 2014-21, 1994.
- 179. Yla-Herttuala, S., Rosenfeld, M. E., Parthasarathy, S., Sigal, E., Sarkioja, T., Witztum, J. L., and Steinberg, D. Gene expression in macrophage-rich human atherosclerotic lesions. 15- lipoxygenase and acetyl low density lipoprotein receptor messenger RNA colocalize with oxidation specific lipid-protein adducts, J Clin Invest. 87: 1146-52, 1991.
- 180. Herijgers, N., Van Eck, M., Groot, P. H., Hoogerbrugge, P. M., and Van Berkel, T. J. Low density lipoprotein receptor of macrophages facilitates atherosclerotic lesion formation in C57Bl/6 mice, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 20: 1961-7, 2000.
- 181. Herijgers, N., Van Eck, M., Groot, P. H., Hoogerbrugge, P. M., and Van Berkel, T. J. Effect of bone marrow transplantation on lipoprotein metabolism and atherosclerosis in LDL receptor-knockout mice, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 17: 1995-2003, 1997.
- 182. Boisvert, W. A., Spangenberg, J., and Curtiss, L. K. Role of leukocyte-specific LDL receptors on plasma lipoprotein cholesterol and atherosclerosis in mice, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 17: 340-7, 1997.
- Brown, M. S. and Goldstein, J. L. Regulation of the activity of the low density lipoprotein receptor in human fibroblasts, Cell. 6: 307-16, 1975.

Chapter 1

- 184. Hiltunen, T. P., Luoma, J. S., Nikkari, T., and Yla-Herttuala, S. Expression of LDL receptor, VLDL receptor, LDL receptor-related protein, and scavenger receptor in rabbit atherosclerotic lesions: marked induction of scavenger receptor and VLDL receptor expression during lesion development, Circulation. 97: 1079-86, 1998.
- 185. Daugherty, A. and Rateri, D. L. Presence of LDL receptor-related protein/alpha 2-macroglobulin receptors in macrophages of atherosclerotic lesions from cholesterol- fed New Zealand and heterozygous Watanabe heritable hyperlipidemic rabbits, Arterioscler Thromb. 14: 2017-24, 1994.
- Lupu, F., Heim, D., Bachmann, F., and Kruithof, E. K. Expression of LDL receptor-related protein/alpha
 2-macroglobulin receptor in human normal and atherosclerotic arteries, Arterioscler Thromb. 14: 1438-44, 1994.
- 187. Krieger, M. and Herz, J. Structures and functions of multiligand lipoprotein receptors: macrophage scavenger receptors and LDL receptor-related protein (LRP), Annu Rev Biochem. 63: 601-37, 1994.
- 188. Suzuki, J., Takahashi, S., Oida, K., Shimada, A., Kohno, M., Tamai, T., Miyabo, S., Yamamoto, T., and Nakai, T. Lipid accumulation and foam cell formation in Chinese hamster ovary cells overexpressing very low density lipoprotein receptor, Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 206: 835-42, 1995.
- Wyne, K. L., Pathak, K., Seabra, M. C., and Hobbs, H. H. Expression of the VLDL receptor in endothelial cells, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 16: 407-15, 1996.
- 190. Wallis, S. C., Rogne, S., Gill, L., Markham, A., Edge, M., Woods, D., Williamson, R., and Humphries, S. The isolation of cDNA clones for human apolipoprotein E and the detection of apoE RNA in hepatic and extra-hepatic tissues, Embo J. 2: 2369-73, 1983.
- 191. Blue, M. L., Williams, D. L., Zucker, S., Khan, S. A., and Blum, C. B. Apolipoprotein E synthesis in human kidney, adrenal gland, and liver, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 80: 283-7, 1983.
- 192. Boyles, J. K., Pitas, R. E., Wilson, E., Mahley, R. W., and Taylor, J. M. Apolipoprotein E associated with astrocytic glia of the central nervous system and with nonmyelinating glia of the peripheral nervous system, J Clin Invest. 76: 1501-13, 1985.
- 193. Mahley, R. W. Apolipoprotein E: cholesterol transport protein with expanding role in cell biology, Science. 240: 622-30, 1988.
- 194. Zannis, V. I. and Breslow, J. L. Human very low density lipoprotein apolipoprotein E isoprotein polymorphism is explained by genetic variation and posttranslational modification, Biochemistry. 20: 1033-41, 1981.
- 195. Utermann, G., Steinmetz, A., and Weber, W. Genetic control of human apolipoprotein E polymorphism: comparison of one- and two-dimensional techniques of isoprotein analysis, Hum Genet. 60: 344-51, 1982.
- 196. Weisgraber, K. H., Rall, S. C., Jr., and Mahley, R. W. Human E apoprotein heterogeneity. Cysteinearginine interchanges in the amino acid sequence of the apo-E isoforms, J Biol Chem. 256: 9077-83, 1981.
- 197. Rall, S. C., Jr., Weisgraber, K. H., and Mahley, R. W. Human apolipoprotein E. The complete amino acid sequence, J Biol Chem. 257: 4171-8, 1982.
- Dong, L. M., Wilson, C., Wardell, M. R., Simmons, T., Mahley, R. W., Weisgraber, K. H., and Agard, D.
 A. Human apolipoprotein E. Role of arginine 61 in mediating the lipoprotein preferences of the E3 and E4 isoforms, J Biol Chem. 269: 22358-65, 1994.
- 199. Dong, L. M. and Weisgraber, K. H. Human apolipoprotein E4 domain interaction. Arginine 61 and glutamic acid 255 interact to direct the preference for very low density lipoproteins, J Biol Chem. 271: 19053-7, 1996.
- 200. Weisgraber, K. H., Innerarity, T. L., and Mahley, R. W. Abnormal lipoprotein receptor-binding activity of the human E apoprotein due to cysteine-arginine interchange at a single site, J Biol Chem. 257: 2518-21, 1982.
- 201. Havel, R. J., Chao, Y., Windler, E. E., Kotite, L., and Guo, L. S. Isoprotein specificity in the hepatic uptake of apolipoprotein E and the pathogenesis of familial dysbetalipoproteinemia, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 77: 4349-53, 1980.
- 202. Schneider, W. J., Kovanen, P. T., Brown, M. S., Goldstein, J. L., Utermann, G., Weber, W., Havel, R. J., Kotite, L., Kane, J. P., Innerarity, T. L., and Mahley, R. W. Familial dysbetalipoproteinemia. Abnormal

binding of mutant apoprotein E to low density lipoprotein receptors of human fibroblasts and membranes from liver and adrenal of rats, rabbits, and cows, J Clin Invest. 68: 1075-85, 1981.

- 203. Rall, S. C., Jr., Weisgraber, K. H., Innerarity, T. L., Bersot, T. P., Mahley, R. W., and Blum, C. B. Identification of a new structural variant of human apolipoprotein E, E2(Lys146 leads to Gln), in a type III hyperlipoproteinemic subject with the E3/2 phenotype, J Clin Invest. 72: 1288-97, 1983.
- 204. Ji, Z. S., Fazio, S., and Mahley, R. W. Variable heparan sulfate proteoglycan binding of apolipoprotein E variants may modulate the expression of type III hyperlipoproteinemia, J Biol Chem. 269: 13421-8, 1994.
- 205. Mann, W. A., Meyer, N., Weber, W., Meyer, S., Greten, H., and Beisiegel, U. Apolipoprotein E isoforms and rare mutations: parallel reduction in binding to cells and to heparin reflects severity of associated type III hyperlipoproteinemia, J Lipid Res. 36: 517-25, 1995.
- 206. Ghiselli, G., Schaefer, E. J., Gascon, P., and Breser, H. B., Jr. Type III hyperlipoproteinemia associated with apolipoprotein E deficiency, Science. 214: 1239-41, 1981.
- 207. Havekes, L., de Wit, E., Leuven, J. G., Klasen, E., Utermann, G., Weber, W., and Beisiegel, U. Apolipoprotein E3-Leiden. A new variant of human apolipoprotein E associated with familial type III hyperlipoproteinemia, Hum Genet. 73: 157-63, 1986.
- 208. Havel, R. J., Kotite, L., Kane, J. P., Tun, P., and Bersot, T. Atypical familial dysbetalipoproteinemia associated with apolipoprotein phenotype E3/3, J Clin Invest. 72: 379-87, 1983.
- 209. Emi, M., Wu, L. L., Robertson, M. A., Myers, R. L., Hegele, R. A., Williams, R. R., White, R., and Lalouel, J. M. Genotyping and sequence analysis of apolipoprotein E isoforms, Genomics. 3: 373-9, 1988.
- 210. Mann, W. A., Gregg, R. E., Sprecher, D. L., and Brewer, H. B., Jr. Apolipoprotein E-1Harrisburg: a new variant of apolipoprotein E dominantly associated with type III hyperlipoproteinemia, Biochim Biophys Acta. 1005: 239-44, 1989.
- 211. Brewer, H. B., Jr., Zech, L. A., Gregg, R. E., Schwartz, D., and Schaefer, E. J. NIH conference. Type III hyperlipoproteinemia: diagnosis, molecular defects, pathology, and treatment, Ann Intern Med. 98: 623-40, 1983.
- 212. Utermann, G., Langenbeck, U., Beisiegel, U., and Weber, W. Genetics of the apolipoprotein E system in man, Am J Hum Genet. 32: 339-47, 1980.
- 213. Bohnet, K., Pillot, T., Visvikis, S., Sabolovic, N., and Siest, G. Apolipoprotein (apo) E genotype and apoE concentration determine binding of normal very low density lipoproteins to HepG2 cell surface receptors, J Lipid Res. 37: 1316-24, 1996.
- 214. van Dijk, K. W., van Vlijmen, B. J., van't Hof, H. B., van der Zee, A., Santamarina-Fojo, S., van Berkel, T. J., Havekes, L. M., and Hofker, M. H. In LDL receptor-deficient mice, catabolism of remnant lipoproteins requires a high level of apoE but is inhibited by excess apoE, J Lipid Res. 40: 336-344, 1999.
- 215. Yamada, N. and Murase, T. Modulation, by apolipoprotein E, of lipoprotein lipase activity, Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 94: 710-5, 1980.
- 216. Jong, M. C., Dahlmans, V. E., Hofker, M. H., and Havekes, L. M. Nascent very-low-density lipoprotein triacylglycerol hydrolysis by lipoprotein lipase is inhibited by apolipoprotein E in a dose-dependent manner, Biochem J. 328: 745-50, 1997.
- 217. Lauer, S. J., Walker, D., Elshourbagy, N. A., Reardon, C. A., Levy-Wilson, B., and Taylor, J. M. Two copies of the human apolipoprotein C-I gene are linked closely to the apolipoprotein E gene, J Biol Chem. 263: 7277-86, 1988.
- 218. Myklebost, O., Williamson, B., Markham, A. F., Myklebost, S. R., Rogers, J., Woods, D. E., and Humphries, S. E. The isolation and characterization of cDNA clones for human apolipoprotein CII, J Biol Chem. 259: 4401-4, 1984.
- 219. Zannis, V. I., Cole, F. S., Jackson, C. L., Kurnit, D. M., and Karathanasis, S. K. Distribution of apolipoprotein A-I, C-II, C-III, and E mRNA in fetal human tissues. Time-dependent induction of apolipoprotein E mRNA by cultures of human monocyte-macrophages, Biochemistry. 24: 4450-5, 1985.
- 220. Ogami, K., Hadzopoulou-Cladaras, M., Cladaras, C., and Zannis, V. I. Promoter elements and factors required for hepatic and intestinal transcription of the human ApoCIII gene, J Biol Chem. 265: 9808-15, 1990.

Chapter 1

- 221. Allan, C. M., Walker, D., Segrest, J. P., and Taylor, J. M. Identification and characterization of a new human gene (APOC4) in the apolipoprotein E, C-I, and C-II gene locus, Genomics. 28: 291-300, 1995.
- Bilheimer, D. W., Eisenberg, S., and Levy, R. I. The metabolism of very low density lipoprotein proteins.
 I. Preliminary in vitro and in vivo observations, Biochim Biophys Acta. 260: 212-21, 1972.
- Eisenberg, S., Bilheimer, D. W., and Levy, R. I. The metabolism of very low density lipoprotein proteins. II. Studies on the transfer of apoproteins between plasma lipoproteins, Biochim Biophys Acta. 280: 94-104, 1972.
- 224. Fojo, S. S. and Brewer, H. B. Hypertriglyceridaemia due to genetic defects in lipoprotein lipase and apolipoprotein C-II, J Intern Med. 231: 669-77, 1992.
- 225. Havel, R. J., Fielding, C. J., Olivecrona, T., Shore, V. G., Fielding, P. E., and Egelrud, T. Cofactor activity of protein components of human very low density lipoproteins in the hydrolysis of triglycerides by lipoproteins lipase from different sources, Biochemistry. 12: 1828-33, 1973.
- 226. LaRosa, J. C., Levy, R. I., Herbert, P., Lux, S. E., and Fredrickson, D. S. A specific apoprotein activator for lipoprotein lipase, Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 41: 57-62, 1970.
- 227. Windler, E., Chao, Y., and Havel, R. J. Regulation of the hepatic uptake of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins in the rat. Opposing effects of homologous apolipoprotein E and individual C apoproteins, J Biol Chem. 255: 8303-7, 1980.
- 228. Windler, E., Chao, Y., and Havel, R. J. Determinants of hepatic uptake of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins and their remnants in the rat, J Biol Chem. 255: 5475-80, 1980.
- 229. Windler, E. E., Kovanen, P. T., Chao, Y. S., Brown, M. S., Havel, R. J., and Goldstein, J. L. The estradiolstimulated lipoprotein receptor of rat liver. A binding site that membrane mediates the uptake of rat lipoproteins containing apoproteins B and E, J Biol Chem. 255: 10464-71, 1980.
- 230. Windler, E. and Havel, R. J. Inhibitory effects of C apolipoproteins from rats and humans on the uptake of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins and their remnants by the perfused rat liver, J Lipid Res. 26: 556-65, 1985.
- 231. Schayek, E. and Eisenberg, S. Mechanisms of inhibition by apolipoprotein C of apolipoprotein Edependent cellular metabolism of human triglyceride-rich lipoproteins through the low density lipoprotein receptor pathway, J Biol Chem. 266: 18259-67, 1991.
- 232. Clavey, V., Lestavel-Delattre, S., Copin, C., Bard, J. M., and Fruchart, J. C. Modulation of lipoprotein B binding to the LDL receptor by exogenous lipids and apolipoproteins CI, CII, CIII, and E, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 15: 963-71, 1995.
- 233. Kowal, R. C., Herz, J., Weisgraber, K. H., Mahley, R. W., Brown, M. S., and Goldstein, J. L. Opposing effects of apolipoproteins E and C on lipoprotein binding to low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein, J Biol Chem. 265: 10771-9, 1990.
- 234. Simonet, W. S., Bucay, N., Pitas, R. E., Lauer, S. J., and Taylor, J. M. Multiple tissue-specific elements control the apolipoprotein E/C-I gene locus in transgenic mice, J Biol Chem. 266: 8651-4, 1991.
- 235. Jong, M. C., Dahlmans, V. E., van Gorp, P. J., Breuer, M. L., Mol, M. J., van der Zee, A., Frants, R. R., Hofker, M. H., and Havekes, L. M. Both lipolysis and hepatic uptake of VLDL are impaired in transgenic mice coexpressing human apolipoprotein E*3Leiden and human apolipoprotein C1, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 16: 934-40, 1996.
- Shachter, N. S., Ebara, T., Ramakrishnan, R., Steiner, G., Breslow, J. L., Ginsberg, H. N., and Smith, J. D. Combined hyperlipidemia in transgenic mice overexpressing human apolipoprotein Cl, J Clin Invest. 98: 846-55, 1996.
- 237. Jong, M. C., van Ree, J. H., Dahlmans, V. E., Frants, R. R., Hofker, M. H., and Havekes, L. M. Reduced very-low-density lipoprotein fractional catabolic rate in apolipoprotein C1-deficient mice, Biochem J. 321: 445-50, 1997.
- 238. Jong, M. C., Dahlmans, V. E., van Gorp, P. J., van Dijk, K. W., Breuer, M. L., Hofker, M. H., and Havekes, L. M. In the absence of the low density lipoprotein receptor, human apolipoprotein C1 overexpression in transgenic mice inhibits the hepatic uptake of very low density lipoproteins via a receptor- associated protein-sensitive pathway, J Clin Invest. 98: 2259-67, 1996.

- 239. Jong, M. C., Gijbels, M. J., Dahlmans, V. E., Gorp, P. J., Koopman, S. J., Ponec, M., Hofker, M. H., and Havekes, L. M. Hyperlipidemia and cutaneous abnormalities in transgenic mice overexpressing human apolipoprotein C1, J Clin Invest. 101: 145-52, 1998.
- 240. Jong, M. C., van Dijk, K. W., Dahlmans, V. E., Van der Boom, H., Kobayashi, K., Oka, K., Siest, G., Chan, L., Hofker, M. H., and Havekes, L. M. Reversal of hyperlipidaemia in apolipoprotein C1 transgenic tnice by adenovirus-mediated gene delivery of the low-density-lipoprotein receptor, but not by the verylow-density-lipoprotein receptor, Biochem J. 338: 281-7, 1999.
- 241. Cryer, A. Lipoprotein lipase and the uptake of lipids by adipose cells during development, Reprod Nutr Dev. 25: 255-70, 1985.
- 242. Rogers, M. P. and Robinson, D. S. Effects of cold exposure on heart clearing factor lipase and triglyceride utilization in the rat, J Lipid Res. 15: 263-72, 1974.
- Saxena, U., Klein, M. G., and Goldberg, I. J. Transport of lipoprotein lipase across endothelial cells, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 88: 2254-8, 1991.
- 244. Semenkovich, C. F., Chen, S. H., Wims, M., Luo, C. C., Li, W. H., and Chan, L. Lipoprotein lipase and hepatic lipase mRNA tissue specific expression, developmental regulation, and evolution, J Lipid Res. 30: 423-31, 1989.
- 245. O'Brien, K. D., Gordon, D., Deeb, S., Ferguson, M., and Chait, A. Lipoprotein lipase is synthesized by macrophage-derived foam cells in human coronary atherosclerotic plaques, J Clin Invest. 89: 1544-50, 1992.
- 246. Yla-Herttuala, S., Lipton, B. A., Rosenfeld, M. E., Goldberg, I. J., Steinberg, D., and Witztum, J. L. Macrophages and smooth muscle cells express lipoprotein lipase in human and rabbit atherosclerotic lesions, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 88: 10143-7, 1991.
- 247. Chappell, D. A., Fry, G. L., Waknitz, M. A., Muhonen, L. E., Pladet, M. W., Iverius, P. H., and Strickland, D. K. Lipoprotein lipase induces catabolism of normal triglyceride-rich lipoproteins via the low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein/alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor in vitro. A process facilitated by cell-surface proteoglycans, J Biol Chem. 268: 14168-75, 1993.
- 248. Nykjaer, A., Bengtsson-Olivecrona, G., Lookene, A., Moestrup, S. K., Petersen, C. M., Weber, W., Beisiegel, U., and Gliemann, J. The alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor/low density lipoprotein receptorrelated protein binds lipoprotein lipase and beta-migrating very low density lipoprotein associated with the lipase, J Biol Chem. 268: 15048-55, 1993.
- 249. Williams, S. E., Inoue, I., Tran, H., Fry, G. L., Pladet, M. W., Iverius, P. H., Lalouel, J. M., Chappell, D. A., and Strickland, D. K. The carboxyl-terminal domain of lipoprotein lipase binds to the low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein/alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor (LRP) and mediates binding of normal very low density lipoproteins to LRP, J Biol Chem. 269: 8653-8, 1994.
- 250. Salinelli, S., Lo, J. Y., Mims, M. P., Zsigmond, E., Smith, L. C., and Chan, L. Structure-function relationship of lipoprotein lipase-mediated enhancement of very low density lipoprotein binding and catabolism by the low density lipoprotein receptor. Functional importance of a properly folded surface loop covering the catalytic center, J Biol Chem. 271: 21906-13, 1996.
- 251. Medh, J. D., Bowen, S. L., Fry, G. L., Ruben, S., Andracki, M., Inoue, I., Lalouel, J. M., Strickland, D. K., and Chappell, D. A. Lipoprotein lipase binds to low density lipoprotein receptors and induces receptormediated catabolism of very low density lipoproteins in vitro, J Biol Chem. 271: 17073-80, 1996.
- 252. Benlian, P., De Gennes, J. L., Foubert, L., Zhang, H., Gagne, S. E., and Hayden, M. Premature atherosclerosis in patients with familial chylomicronemia caused by mutations in the lipoprotein lipase gene, N Engl J Med. 335: 848-54, 1996.
- 253. Wilson, D. E., Emi, M., Iverius, P. H., Hata, A., Wu, L. L., Hillas, E., Williams, R. R., and Lalouel, J. M. Phenotypic expression of heterozygous lipoprotein lipase deficiency in the extended pedigree of a proband homozygous for a missense mutation, J Clin Invest. 86: 735-50, 1990.
- 254. Bijvoet, S., Gagne, S. E., Moorjani, S., Gagne, C., Henderson, H. E., Fruchart, J. C., Dallongeville, J., Alaupovic, P., Prins, M., Kastelein, J. J., and Hayden, M. R. Alterations in plasma lipoproteins and
apolipoproteins before the age of 40 in heterozygotes for lipoprotein lipase deficiency, J Lipid Res. 37: 640-50, 1996.

- 255. Nordestgaard, B. G., Abildgaard, S., Wittrup, H. H., Steffensen, R., Jensen, G., and Tybjaerg-Hansen, A. Heterozygous lipoprotein lipase deficiency: frequency in the general population, effect on plasma lipid levels, and risk of ischemic heart disease, Circulation. 96: 1737-44, 1997.
- 256. Weinstock, P. H., Bisgaier, C. L., Aalto-Setala, K., Radner, H., Ramakrishnan, R., Levak-Frank, S., Essenburg, A. D., Zechner, R., and Breslow, J. L. Severe hypertriglyceridemia, reduced high density lipoprotein, and neonatal death in lipoprotein lipase knockout mice. Mild hypertriglyceridemia with impaired very low density lipoprotein clearance in heterozygotes, J Clin Invest. 96: 2555-68, 1995.
- 257. Merkel, M., Kako, Y., Radner, H., Cho, I. S., Ramasamy, R., Brunzell, J. D., Goldberg, I. J., and Breslow, J. L. Catalytically inactive lipoprotein lipase expression in muscle of transgenic mice increases very low density lipoprotein uptake: direct evidence that lipoprotein lipase bridging occurs in vivo, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 95: 13841-6, 1998.
- 258. Levak-Frank, S., Hofmann, W., Weinstock, P. H., Radner, H., Sattler, W., Breslow, J. L., and Zechner, R. Induced mutant mouse lines that express lipoprotein lipase in cardiac muscle, but not in skeletal muscle and adipose tissue, have normal plasma triglyceride and high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol levels, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 96: 3165-70, 1999.
- 259. Weinstock, P. H., Levak-Frank, S., Hudgins, L. C., Radner, H., Friedman, J. M., Zechner, R., and Breslow, J. L. Lipoprotein lipase controls fatty acid entry into adipose tissue, but fat mass is preserved by endogenous synthesis in mice deficient in adipose tissue lipoprotein lipase, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 94: 10261-6, 1997.
- Zhang, Y., Proenca, R., Maffei, M., Barone, M., Leopold, L., and Friedman, J. M. Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue, Nature. 372: 425-32, 1994.
- Elmquist, J. K., Maratos-Flier, E., Saper, C. B., and Flier, J. S. Unraveling the central nervous system pathways underlying responses to leptin, Nat Neurosci. 1: 445-50, 1998.
- Spiegelman, B. M. and Flier, J. S. Adipogenesis and obesity: rounding out the big picture, Cell. 87: 377-89, 1996.
- 263. Clee, S. M., Bissada, N., Miao, F., Miao, L., Marais, A. D., Henderson, H. E., Steures, P., McManus, J., McManus, B., LeBoeuf, R. C., Kastelein, J. J., and Hayden, M. R. Plasma and vessel wall lipoprotein lipase have different roles in atherosclerosis, J Lipid Res. 41: 521-31, 2000.
- Babaev, V. R., Patel, M. B., Semenkovich, C. F., Fazio, S., and Linton, M. F. Macrophage lipoprotein lipase promotes foam cell formation and atherosclerosis in low density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice, J Biol Chem. 275: 26293-9, 2000.
- 265. van Vlijmen, B. J., Rohlmann, A., Page, S. T., Bensadoun, A., Bos, I. S., van Berkel, T. J., Havekes, L. M., and Herz, J. An extrahepatic receptor-associated protein-sensitive mechanism is involved in the metabolism of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins, J Biol Chem. 274: 35219-26, 1999.

CHAPTER 2

Effective generation of VLDL receptor transgenic mice by overlapping genomic DNA fragments: high testis expression and disturbed spermatogenesis

P. J. Tacken, A. van der Zee, T. L. Beumer[†], R. J. Florijn, M. J. J. Gijbels, L. M. Havekes^{‡*}, R. R. Frants, K. Willems van Dijk, M. H. Hofker[#]

Department of Human and Clinical Genetics, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden; [†] Department of Cell Biology, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht; [‡] TNO Prevention and Health, Gaubius Laboratory, Leiden; ^{*} Departments of Cardiology and General Internal Medicine, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden; [#] Present address: Cardiovascular Research Institute Maastricht, Maastricht, The Netherlands

(Transgenic Res., in press)

Abstract

The generation of functional transgenes via microinjection of overlapping DNA fragments has been reported previously to be successful, but is still not a widely applied approach. Here we show that the method is very reliable, and should be considered, in case a single large insert clone of the desired gene is not available. In the present study, two large DNA fragments consisting of overlapping cosmids, together constituting the human very low density lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR) gene (35 kb), were used to generate VLDLR transgenic (VLDLR-Tg) mice. Three transgenic founders were born, of which two (strain #2 and #3) generated transgenic offspring. Using Fiber-FISH analysis, the integration site was shown to contain at least 44 and 64 DNA fragments in mouse strains #2 and #3, respectively. This copy number resulted in integration sites of 1.5 and 2.5 megabase in size. Notably, over 90% of the fragments in both mouse strains #2 and #3 were flanked by their complementary fragment. In line with this observation, Southern blot analysis demonstrated that the correct recombination between fragments predominated in the transgenic insertion. Human VLDLR expression was detected in testis, kidney and brain of both mouse strains. Since this pattern did not parallel the endogenous VLDLR expression, some crucial regulatory elements were probably not present in the cosmid clones. Human VLDLR expression in testis was detected in germ cells up to the meiotic stage by in situ mRNA analysis. Remarkably, in the F1 generation of both VLDLR-Tg mouse strains the testis was atrophic and giant cells were detected in the semineferous tubuli. Furthermore, male VLDLR-Tg mice transmitted the transgene to their progeny with low frequencies. This could imply that VLDLR overexpression in the germ cells disturbed spermatogenesis.

Introduction

Particularly in cases where it is not possible to isolate a fragment that contains the entire gene of interest, the use of smaller overlapping DNA fragments, followed by co-injection into murine zygotes, is a convenient and efficient technique to generate transgenic mice. Previously, two independent studies showed that co-injection of 2-3 overlapping DNA fragments resulted in the correct reconstitution and expression of a transgene (1, 2). In the study by Pieper, a lambda library was used to isolate three relatively small (7, 13 and 17 kb) overlapping fragments, together constituting the human serum albumin gene. Co-injection of these fragments was reported to lead to reconstitution of the gene in 74% of the transgenic mice generated. Migchielsen used 2 cosmid clone inserts (29 and 39 kb) to successfully generate transgenic mice expressing the human adenosine-deaminase gene. In the present study, the technique of co-injecting overlapping DNA fragments was applied because no large insert clones were available for the gene of interest, the human very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) receptor (VLDLR). Furthermore, our detailed analysis of the integration site using Southern blot and fiber-FISH analysis showed, that the homologous recombination, which is thought to mediate the reconstitution of the VLDLR gene, is a highly efficient process.

The VLDLR is a member of the low density lipoprotein receptor (LDLR) family (3), that has been reported to bind multiple ligands. The VLDLR binds apoE rich VLDL (3, 4), receptor associated protein (RAP) (5), lipoprotein lipase (6), urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI-1) complexes (7) and several other serpin proteinase/serpin complexes (8). However, the physiological importance of these ligand-binding capacities remains to be elucidated. Homozygous VLDLR knockout mice show a modest decrease in body weight, body mass index, and adipose tissue mass (9). This relatively mild phenotype could be explained by the presence of many LDLR family members, that show distinct, but overlapping ligand binding characteristics. Mice that are deficient for both the VLDLR and the closely related apolipoprotein E receptor 2 were reported to display disturbed neuronal migration during fetal brain development (10). To complement the VLDLR knockout model, our aim was to study the VLDLR in an overexpression mouse model.

The expression pattern of the human transgene partly overlapped with the endogenous expression pattern of the mouse, and was characterized by high-level testis expression in germ cells. Interestingly, the early generations of the VLDLR-Tg mice showed atrophy of the testis, and a reduced transmission of the transgene. This was observed in two independent mouse strains, and suggests that the development of germ cells overexpressing the VLDLR was disturbed.

Methods

Generation of transgenic mice

A human cosmid library, generated by partially digesting human DNA with *MboI* and subcloning the fragments in SupercosI, was screened for the VLDLR gene. Therefore, the complete human VLDLR cDNA (pHV58), a kind gift of dr. Lawrence Chan, was used as a probe. Positive cosmid clones were analyzed by Southern blot analysis, making use of a series of small cDNA probes spanning the VLDLR gene. Cosmid clone 3.1 spanned a region of 15 kb 5' of the gene to exon 15. Cosmid clone 10.9 spanned a region of exon 4 to 23 kb 3' of the gene. To separate the inserts from the vector, both cosmids were digested with *NotI*, precipitated, and resuspended in TE (10 mM Tris-HC1, pH 7.5, 0.1 mM EDTA) buffer. The DNA solution was then layered onto a continuous linear gradient of 10 to 40% sucrose in 1 M NaCl, 10 mM Tris-HC1, pH 8.0, 1 mM EDTA, and centrifuged at 130,000 g. Gradient fractions were collected to determine which fractions only contained the insert, and these were pooled. Gradient medium was removed by five successive rinses with TE in a Centricon 100 microconcentrator (Amicon, Danvers, U.S.A.). Both fragments were diluted in TE to a concentration of 7 ng/ml. This mixture was injected into B:CBA zygotes to generate transgenic mice according to standard procedures (11).

To screen for mice carrying correctly reconstituted human VLDLR genes, mouse liver DNA was digested with *StuI*. The region of overlap between the inserts of the two cosmids is flanked by *StuI* restriction sites. This *StuI* fragment of approximately 9 kb is therefore diagnostic for correct integration of the transgene by homologous recombination between the two

overlapping DNA fragments (figure 1). Detection of the diagnostic fragment was performed by Southern blot analysis. An exon 6 to 14 spanning *HincII* restriction fragment of the cDNA, pHV58.H, was used as probe. Founder offspring was characterized by PCR on tailtip DNA with forward primer U19 (CCTTTGAGGTCTAAACAAAT) and reverse primer L19 (TTTACAGATGGCCTATACAA), both localized in exon 19 and specific for the human VLDLR gene. Transgenic offspring was bred onto a C57BL/6 background.

Fiber-FISH

DNA fibers were prepared from mouse lymphocytes according to the halo technique (12) as modified by Florijn et al (13). Cosmids 3.1 and 10.9 were labelled by standard nick-translation with digoxigenin-11-dUTP or biotin-11-dUTP. The hybridization solution consisted of 3 ng probe per μ l for each cosmid. Probes were dissolved in 30% formamide, 10% dextran sulphate, 2xSSC, 50 mM sodium phosphate pH 7.0, 5 mM EDTA containing a 10 times excess of Cot1 DNA. Probe mixes were directly applied to slides containing DNA fibers and denatured for 2 min at 80°C. Hybridization was overnight at 37°C in a moist chamber. Post hybridization washes consisted of 3 x 10 min washes with 2xSSC at 37°C. Bi-colour immunofluorescence detection of digoxigenin and biotin in FITC and Texas Red, respectively, was accomplished as described in Florijn et al. (14). Also fluorescence microscopy, imaging and analysis was performed according to Florijn et al. (14). Three slides of an F3 male of both mouse strain #2 and strain #3 were analyzed.

Quantitative analysis of mouse versus transgene expression

A semi-quantitative RT-PCR method was used to examine the level of transgene expression relative to endogenous mouse VLDLR expression, as described before (see Chapter 3). RNA of different mouse tissues was isolated with RNAzolTM (Biotecx Laboratories, USA), and RT-PCR was performed with the use of SuperscriptTM II RNase H Reverse transcriptase (GibcoBRL, USA), both according to the manufacturer's protocol.

Splice variant specific PCR

Relative expression levels of the two VLDLR variants that include or lack exon 16, coding for the O-linked sugar domain, were determined by PCR with forward primer VR4 (AATATACCTGTTCCTGTCCC, bp 2305 to 2324 in human) and reverse primer VR1 (TTCAAGTACACAGGATTGTC, bp 2610 to 2629 in human). Both primers show 100% sequence identity to mouse and human VLDLR sequences.

Northern blot analysis

mRNA was isolated from aorta, heart, brain, adrenal, muscle, testis, kidney, liver, spleen and adipose tissue of transgenic and wild type mice. Northern blot analysis was performed using the pHV58 cDNA as probe. Membranes were reprobed with a rat GAPDH probe (15).

Histological analysis

Organs from transgenic mice and wild type littermates were obtained and fixed in formalin. After fixation, samples were embedded in paraffin and 5 μ m sections were cut. Sections were stained with hematoxylin/eosin.

RNA in situ hybridization

In the F2 generation of both mouse strains, testes from VLDLR transgenic mice and wild-type littermates were dissected, fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and embedded in paraffin (Stemcowax, Adamas Instruments BV, Amerongen, The Netherlands). Five- μ m sections were mounted on RNAse free 3-aminopropyl triethoxysilane-coated slides (Sigma Chemical Co, St Louis, MO) and dried at 42°C. Sections were de-waxed and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde, treated with 20 μ g/ml proteinase K (Roche Diagnostics Nederland B.V., Almere, The Netherlands) for 20 min and fixed again. To avoid non-specific binding of probe to amino acid residues, sections were treated with acetic anhydride in 0.1 M triethanolamine HCl (pH 8.0) for 10 min. Sections were dehydrated till 100% EtOH and air dried.

DIG labeled human VLDLR probes (bp 2305 to 3217), both sense and antisense, were prepared by using the DIG-mRNA labeling kit (Roche Diagnostics Nederland B.V.). Probes were quantified and dissolved in hybridization mix (50% deionized formamide, 0.3 M NaCl, 20 mM Tris-HCl, 5 mM EDTA (pH8.0), 10% dextrane sulphate, 1x Denhardt's solution, 0.5 mg/ml tRNA) at 0.1 ng/µl. Probe was heated at 80°C for 2 min before pipetting onto the sections. Hybridization was performed at 55°C, for 16 h. Sections were washed in 5X SSC at 55°C and 50% formamide, 2X SSC at 65°C for 30 min, subsequently. Sections were extensively washed in NTE buffer (0.5 M NaCl, 10 mM Tris-HCl, 5 mM EDTA) at 37°C. Unbound probe was degraded by RNase treatment in 20g/ml RNase A in NTE buffer at 37°C. Finally, sections were washed in 2X SSC at 65°C, and 0.1X SSC at room temperature.

To visualize bound DIG-labeled probe, sections were incubated in PBS, containing 10% horse serum for 1 h at RT, to block non-specific binding of antibodies, where after sections were incubated with a monoclonal mouse anti-DiG antibody (Roche Diagnostics Nederland B.V.), 1:200 in PBS containing 5% horse serum, in a humidified chamber at room temperature. After extensive washing steps in PBS, slides were incubated for 60 min with a secondary biotinylated anti-mouse IgG (Elite ABC-peroxidase staining kit, Vector Laboratories Inc., Burlingame, CA), diluted 1:200 in PBS including 5% normal horse serum, in a humidified chamber at room temperature. The avidin-biotin complex reaction was performed according to the manufacturer's protocol. To visualize bound antibodies, sections were washed in PBS and covered with 0.3 $\mu g/\mu l$ 3, 3' diaminodibenzene (DAB, Dako Corp., Carpintera, CA) in PBS, to which 0.03% H₂O₂ was added. Sections were counter-stained with Mayer's hematoxylin.





Figure 1: Generation and Southern blot analysis of VLDLR-Tg mice

Schematic representation of the inserts of cosmids 3.1 and 10.9. StuI sites flank the diagnostic fragment. Probe pHV58.H spans exon 6 to 14 within the diagnostic fragment. Boxed area represents the human VLDLR gene, which contains 19 exons. Bottom line represents an EcoRI restriction map of the human VLDLR region (A). Genomic DNA of mice from mouse strain #2 and mouse strain #3 and their wild type littermates (Wt) was digested with *StuI* and subjected to electrophoresis. The human VLDLR was detected by Southern blot analysis, using the pHV58.H probe (B).

Generation and characterization of transgenic mice

The screening of the cosmid library, using PHV58 as a probe, resulted in the isolation of 6 VLDLR positive clones. Cosmids 3.1 (40 kb insert) and 10.9 (35 kb insert) were used to generate transgenic mice, since they spanned the largest genomic region surrounding the VLDLR. Together they comprised the entire human VLDLR gene, including 15 kb of 5' and 23 kb of 3' sequences (figure 1A). The DNA was injected into murine zygotes, which were implanted into pseudo-pregnant foster mothers. The offspring was characterized by PCR. Three transgenic founders were identified, of which two (strain #2 and #3) generated transgenic offspring. Strain #2 and strain #3 DNA was further analyzed by Southern blotting, using the pHV58.H probe. This cDNA probe, which spans exon 6 to 14 of the human VLDLR, hybridizes to an 8 kb *StuI* fragment that is diagnostic for correctly reconstituted transgenes. Figure 1B shows that in both mouse strains the diagnostic 8 kb fragment was the predominant restriction fragment recognized by the pHV58.H probe. However, in both mouse strains several larger bands were found. This could be attributed to border fragments and fragments that did not recombine correctly.



Figure 2: Structure of transgene integration site

Panel (A) shows Fiber-FISH analysis of the transgene integration site in mouse strain #2, using cosmids 3.1 (green) and 10.9 (red) as probe. White dots mark each individual integrated DNA fragment. Panel (B) shows recombination between fragment 3.1 and 10.9 in detail together with a schematic representation. Overlapping region between cosmids 3.1 and 10.9 stains yellow.

Fiber-FISH analysis of transgene integration site

Fiber fish analysis of lymphocyte DNA of mice of the F3 generation of strains #2 and #3 revealed that the transgenic DNA fragments were integrated as large tandem repeats. Many, or perhaps all of the integration sites that were visualized were only partly representing the transgenic insertion, because of limitations to the maximum size of fibers that can be demonstrated with the fiber-FISH technique. Analysis of the fibers indicated that in both mouse strain #2 and #3 there is a single integration site, since the same pattern of alternating fragments recurred in all fibers analyzed in each strain. The largest intact fiber found in mouse strain #2 carried 44 integrated transgenic DNA fragments, implying an integration site of at least 1.5 megabase (figure 2A). The largest intact fiber found in strain #3 mice showed an integration site containing 64 transgenic DNA fragments , implying an integration site of at least 2.5 megabase. Figure 2B shows recombination between fragment 3.1 and 10.9 in detail. In strain #2 mice, 98% of the fragments that integrated were flanked by their complementary fragment at either side (figure 2A). In strain #3 mice 93% of the fragments were flanked by their complementary fragment at either side (figure 10.1 meta).



Figure 3: Expression of human VLDLR transgene

To determine human versus mouse VLDLR RNA expression levels, semiquantitative RT-PCR was performed on total RNA isolated from various VLDLR-Tg strain #2 mouse tissues. PCR products were separated by electrophoresis on an ethidium stained 3% agarose gel (A). Relative expression levels of VLDLR splice variants were determined by PCR in testis of wild type (Wt), strain #2 (#2) and strain #3 (#3) mice and heart of Wt mice as described in Methods. The 325 kb band represents the splice variant containing, while the 241 kb band represents the variant lacking the Olinked sugar domain (B). Northern blot analysis of VLDLR-Tg strain #2 (#2) and wild type (Wt) RNA was performed with the ³²P-labeled pHV58 probe. The membranes were re-probed with a ³²P-labeled GAPDH cDNA probe (C).

Analysis of transgene expression

The semi-qantitative PCR method was used to determine the relative amount of human versus endogenous mouse VLDLR expression (see chapter 3). This method is based on the competition of 2 primers, one specific for mouse and one specific for human VLDLR sequences, for a common third primer. Mouse strain #2 and #3 showed identical expression patterns. In testis, human VLDLR expression levels were very high when compared to endogenous mouse VLDLR levels (figure 3A). In kidney and in brain expression levels were comparable to those of the endogenous VLDLR gene. In the other tissues tested, human VLDLR expression levels were below the detection level of the semi-quantitative PCR. This means human VLDLR expression levels were at least 16 times lower than endogenous VLDLR expression levels.

In both mice and humans, two splice variants of the VLDLR are expressed, one lacking and one containing exon 16, which codes for the O-linked sugar domain. The relative amount of expression of both variants is tissue dependent. In mouse heart, the variant containing exon 16 is the most abundant, while in testis the variant lacking exon 16 is the most abundant. To examine if both VLDLR splice variants are expressed correctly in the transgenic mice, RT-PCR was performed with primers spanning exon 15 to 18. Figure 3B shows that both variants were expressed in the testis of both transgenic mouse strains, and that their relative amounts of expression did not differ significantly from those in the wild type mouse.

Northern blot analysis of mouse mRNA was reported to reveal a 9.7 kb and 4 kb band (16), while that of human mRNA reveals a 4 and a 6 kb band (17). Figure 3C shows that there was cross-reaction between the human pHV58 cDNA probe and the mouse mRNA. However, both testis and kidney show higher VLDLR expression levels in transgenic as compared to wild type mice. Both 4 and 6 kb bands were detected, indicating that the human VLDLR transgene is transcribed correctly.

Transgene inheritance

Transgenic founder mice are often chimeric, resulting in low numbers of transgenic offspring in the F1 generation. Remarkably, both mouse strains #2 and #3 also showed significantly less transgenic than wild type offspring in the F2 generation when male F1 hemizygous VLDLR-Tg mice were used for breeding (table 1). When female F1 hemizygous VLDLR-Tg mice were used for breeding, transgene inheritance followed Mendelian rules (table 1). This abnormal transgene inheritance pattern was also found in the F3 generation of strain #3, but not of strain #2, VLDLR-Tg mice and was also absent in subsequent generations.

Generation of breeding parents	Strain	Number of VLDLR-Tg male breeding parents	Offspring of male VLDLR-Tg breeding parent Transgenic/total (%)	Number of VLDLR-Tg female breeding parents	Offspring of female VLDLR-Tg breeding parent Transgenic/total (%)
F1	#2	2	8/37 (22%)*	4	21/39 (54%)
	#3	3	26/88 (29%)*	5	33/68 (49%)
F2	#2	3	26/52 (50%)	4	28/53 (53%)
	#3	3	17/56 (30%)*	5	26/58 (45%)

Table I: Efficiency of transgene transmission to progeny

Male and female VLDLR-Tg mice were bred with non-transgenic C57BL/6 mice to generate transgenic offspring. * = significantly different from 50%, using the chi-square test (P<0.05).



Figure 4: Histological analysis of VLDLR-Tg mice

Epididymis of strain #2 harboured no sperm cells (A), while large numbers of sperm cells (s) were observed in epididymis of wild type littermates (B). The seminiferous tubules in strain #2 testis showed atrophy with multinucleated giant cells (arrows); inset shows a multinucleated giant cell in detail (C). In testis of wild type littermates no abnormalities were observed (D). Panels (E) and (F) show human VLDLR mRNA *in situ* hybridisation on seminiferous tubules of strain #2 and wild type littermates, respectively. Positive staining indicates human VLDLR expression in early developmental stages of strain #2 germ cells.

Histological analysis of transgenic mice

Histological analysis of VLDLR-Tg mice did reveal gross abnormalities in the testis of mice in the F1 generation of mouse strain #2 and #3. In mouse strain #2, but not strain #3, these

abnormalities were also detected in the F2 generation. The epididymis of these mice harbored no or only small numbers of mature sperm cells (figure 4A and 4B). The seminiferous tubules showed signs of atrophy, and large amounts of giant cells were present (figure 4C and 4D). In the F2 generation of both mouse lines, analysis of human VLDLR expression in testis by RNA in situ hybridisation revealed that expression was detected in Sertoli cells (not shown) and in germ cells up to the meiotic division (figure 4E and 4F). Expression of human VLDLR mRNA in Leydig cells was difficult to establish due to high background staining. However, Leydig cell staining was often more intense in VLDLR-Tg mice than in wild type littermates. Thus the transgene appeared to be expressed in both somatic as well as germ cells.

Discussion

The present study describes the efficient generation of VLDLR-Tg mice using two overlapping DNA fragments. Southern blot analysis revealed that most fragments were recombined correctly by homologous recombination to reconstitute intact human VLDLR genes. Fiber-FISH analysis was used to study the structure of the transgenic insertion more closely. The cosmid fragments were shown to be integrated in very large arrays in both mouse strains, thereby generating integration sites of at least 1.5 and 2.5 megabase. Furthermore, fiber-FISH analysis revealed that more than 90% of the integrated cosmid inserts were flanked by their complementary fragment. The large number of correctly reconstituted VLDLR genes in the transgenic insertion could be explained by the fact that extrachromosomal (homologous) recombination (ECR) is very active in fertilized oocytes. This process is followed by integration of the recombined molecule into the genome. In cultured mammalian cells, the frequency of ECR between cotransferred plasmids varies widely (18). However, ECR frequencies observed upon stable transfection are higher than those observed in transient transfection assays. This has led to the hypothesis that ECR is coupled to subsequent integration of the recombinant molecule (19). Therefore, the number of successful integrations in founders #2 and #3 does not necessarily reflect ECR frequencies in murine zygotes.

Northern blot analysis on VLDLR-Tg mouse tissues revealed that the size of the human VLDLR transcripts was correct. However, the expression pattern of the VLDLR transgene only partly overlapped the natural expression pattern of the VLDLR. In human, as well as in mouse, the VLDLR is expressed in heart, skeletal muscle, kidney, adipose tissue, ovary, testis and brain (16, 17, 20-22). In both VLDLR-Tg mouse strains, human VLDLR expression was only detected in testis, kidney and brain. Most likely, not all regulatory elements necessary to obtain a natural expression pattern lie within 15 kb 5' and 23 kb 3' of the human VLDLR gene. It is not exceptional for regulatory elements to be located at large distances from the genes they regulate. Genes that were reported before to have regulatory regions that are located at a distance of more than 15 kb up- or downstream of the coding region include apoE, human growth hormone and beta-globin (23-26).

When male F1 transgenic mice of both mouse strains were mated with wild type mice, the majority of the F2 offspring consisted of non-transgenic mice. This effect on transgene inheritance was not seen when female F1 transgenic mice were mated with wild type mice. The skewing in progeny of F1 generation male transgenic mice coincided with abnormalities in their testis. The testis showed signs of atrophy and large amounts of giant cells were observed. Giant cells are thought to be a marker for disturbed germ cell development. Presumably these cells are formed upon a blockade in sperm maturation, causing the cells to fuse. Taken together, these data suggest that the VLDLR transgene makes the sperm cell more prone to a blockade in its development. The effect of the VLDLR transgene on germ cell viability could be due to either the physical presence of the VLDLR transgene in the mouse genome or to its expression. Unfortunately we could not establish why the phenotype disappeared in later generations. We could not detect changes in transgene copy number and global expression levels between subsequent generations (data not shown). In addition, no differences were detected in the F2 generation between cell type specific transgene expression in testes of both mouse strains. Since the testes of F2 generation strain #2 mice showed signs of atrophy while those of strain #3 mice appeared normal, it seems unlikely that the disappearance of the phenotype is related to a change in cell type specific transgene expression. This is supported by the observation that the relative expression levels of the two VLDLR splice variants, which are differently expressed in a cell type specific manner (27-29), remained the same in the F1 to F4 generation (data not shown).

Human VLDLR expression in VLDLR-Tg mouse germ cells was confirmed by *in situ* mRNA analysis. It revealed that the human VLDLR was expressed in developing germ cells up to the meiotic stage and in Sertoli cells. This resembles the situation in the chicken, where the chicken homologue of the VLDLR was also reported to be expressed in the developing germ cells. In chicken however, expression is confined to the late post-meiotic stage of spermatogenesis (27).

The high VLDLR expression levels in VLDLR-Tg germ cells could interfere with germ cell migration. During their development, germ cells migrate from the basal side inward towards the luminal side of the seminiferous tubules. The VLDLR was described before to regulate cell migration, both via the reelin-signaling pathway (10) and via catabolism of the uPA receptor (uPAR) (30). Interestingly, fertility problems were reported before in male mice that are deficient for another member of the LDLR family, the apolipoprotein E receptor 2 (10).

In the present study both independently generated VLDLR-Tg mouse strains showed a similar phenotype. Thus it seems unlikely that the integration site itself is the cause of the disturbed germ cell development. Furthermore, in our experience with the generation of transgenic mice using large YACs, we never detected aberrations in germ cells or skewing in the numbers of transgenic offspring. This is supported by other reports on YAC transgenic mice, in which a normal 50% transmission of the transgene to the progeny was found (31, 32).

In conclusion, we have shown that the use of two overlapping DNA fragments resulted in large integration sites, containing a high percentage of reconstituted, transcriptionally active transgenes. This makes it a useful and convenient technique for generating transgenic mice.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to dr. Lawrence Chan for providing the PHV58 human VLDLR cDNA. This research was supported by the Netherlands Hart Foundation. Marten Hofker is an Established Investigator of the Netherlands Heart Foundation.

References

- Pieper, F. R., de Wit, I. C., Pronk, A. C., Kooiman, P. M., Strijker, R., Krimpenfort, P. J., Nuyens, J. H., and de Boer, H. A. Efficient generation of functional transgenes by homologous recombination in murine zygotes, Nucleic Acids Res. 20: 1259-64, 1992.
- Migchielsen, A. A., Breuer, M. L., Hershfield, M. S., and Valerio, D. Full genetic rescue of adenosine deaminase-deficient mice through introduction of the human gene, Hum Mol Genet. 5: 1523-32, 1996.
- Takahashi, S., Kawarabayasi, Y., Nakai, T., Sakai, J., and Yamamoto, T. Rabbit very low density lipoprotein receptor: a low density lipoprotein receptor-like protein with distinct ligand specificity, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 89: 9252-6, 1992.
- Sakai, J., Hoshino, A., Takahashi, S., Miura, Y., Ishii, H., Suzuki, H., Kawarabayasi, Y., and Yamamoto, T. Structure, chromosome location, and expression of the human very low density lipoprotein receptor gene, J Biol Chem. 269: 2173-82, 1994.
- Battey, F. D., Gafvels, M. E., FitzGerald, D. J., Argraves, W. S., Chappell, D. A., Strauss, J. F., 3rd, and Strickland, D. K. The 39-kDa receptor-associated protein regulates ligand binding by the very low density lipoprotein receptor, J Biol Chem. 269: 23268-73, 1994.
- Takahashi, S., Suzuki, J., Kohno, M., Oida, K., Tamai, T., Miyabo, S., Yamamoto, T., and Nakai, T. Enhancement of the binding of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins to the very low density lipoprotein receptor by apolipoprotein E and lipoprotein lipase, J Biol Chem. 270: 15747-54, 1995.
- Argraves, K. M., Battey, F. D., MacCalman, C. D., McCrae, K. R., Gafvels, M., Kozarsky, K. F., Chappell, D. A., Strauss, J. F., 3rd, and Strickland, D. K. The very low density lipoprotein receptor mediates the cellular catabolism of lipoprotein lipase and urokinase-plasminogen activator inhibitor type I complexes, J Biol Chem. 270: 26550-7, 1995.
- Kasza, A., Petersen, H. H., Heegaard, C. W., Oka, K., Christensen, A., Dubin, A., Chan, L., and Andreasen, P. A. Specificity of serine proteinase/serpin complex binding to very-low- density lipoprotein receptor and alpha2-macroglobulin receptor/low- density-lipoprotein-receptor-related protein, Eur J Biochem. 248: 270-81, 1997.
- Frykman, P. K., Brown, M. S., Yamamoto, T., Goldstein, J. L., and Herz, J. Normal plasma lipoproteins and fertility in gene-targeted mice homozygous for a disruption in the gene encoding very low density lipoprotein receptor, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 92: 8453-7, 1995.
- Trommsdorff, M., Gotthardt, M., Hiesberger, T., Shelton, J., Stockinger, W., Nimpf, J., Hammer, R. E., Richardson, J. A., and Herz, J. Reeler/Disabled-like disruption of neuronal migration in knockout mice lacking the VLDL receptor and ApoE receptor 2, Cell. 97: 689-701, 1999.
- 11. Hogan, B., Constantini, F., and Lacey, E. Manipulating the Mouse Embryo: a Laboratory Manual. Cold Spring Harbour, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, 1986.
- Wiegant, J., Kalle, W., Mullenders, L., Brookes, S., Hoovers, J. M., Dauwerse, J. G., van Ommen, G. J., and Raap, A. K. High-resolution in situ hybridization using DNA halo preparations, Hum Mol Genet. 1: 587-91, 1992.
- Florijn, R. J., Bonden, L. A., Vrolijk, H., Wiegant, J., Vaandrager, J. W., Baas, F., den Dunnen, J. T., Tanke, H. J., van Ommen, G. J., and Raap, A. K. High-resolution DNA Fiber-FISH for genomic DNA mapping and colour bar- coding of large genes, Hum Mol Genet. 4: 831-6, 1995.

- Florijn, R. J., van de Rijke, F. M., Vrolijk, H., Blonden, L. A., Hofker, M. H., den Dunnen, J. T., Tanke, H. J., van Ommen, G. J., and Raap, A. K. Exon mapping by fiber-FISH or LR-PCR, Genomics. 38: 277-82, 1996.
- 15. Fort, P., Marty, L., Piechaczyk, M., el Sabrouty, S., Dani, C., Jeanteur, P., and Blanchard, J. M. Various rat adult tissues express only one major mRNA species from the glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate-dehydrogenase multigenic family, Nucleic Acids Res. 13: 1431-42, 1985.
- Oka, K., Ishimura-Oka, K., Chu, M. J., Sullivan, M., Krushkal, J., Li, W. H., and Chan, L. Mouse verylow-density-lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR) cDNA cloning, tissue-specific expression and evolutionary relationship with the low- density-lipoprotein receptor, Eur J Biochem. 224: 975-82, 1994.
- Gafvels, M. E., Caird, M., Britt, D., Jackson, C. L., Patterson, D., and Strauss, J. F. d. Cloning of a cDNA encoding a putative human very low density lipoprotein/apolipoprotein E receptor and assignment of the gene to chromosome 9pter-p23, Somat Cell Mol Genet. 19: 557-69, 1993.
- Bollag, R. J., Waldman, A. S., and Liskay, R. M. Homologous recombination in mammalian cells, Annu Rev Genet. 23: 199-225, 1989.
- Wong, E. A. and Capecchi, M. R. Analysis of homologous recombination in cultured mammalian cells in transient expression and stable transformation assays, Somat Cell Mol Genet. 12: 63-72, 1986.
- 20. Gafvels, M. E., Paavola, L. G., Boyd, C. O., Nolan, P. M., Wittmaack, F., Chawla, A., Lazar, M. A., Bucan, M., Angelin, B. O., and Strauss, J. F., 3rd Cloning of a complementary deoxyribonucleic acid encoding the murine homolog of the very low density lipoprotein/apolipoprotein-E receptor: expression pattern and assignment of the gene to mouse chromosome 19, Endocrinology. 135: 387-94, 1994.
- Tiebel, O., Oka, K., Robinson, K., Sullivan, M., Martinez, J., Nakamuta, M., Ishimura-Oka, K., and Chan, L. Mouse very low-density lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR): gene structure, tissue-specific expression and dietary and developmental regulation, Atherosclerosis. 145: 239-51, 1999.
- Webb, J. C., Patel, D. D., Jones, M. D., Knight, B. L., and Soutar, A. K. Characterization and tissuespecific expression of the human 'very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) receptor' mRNA, Hum Mol Genet. 3: 531-7, 1994.
- Simonet, W. S., Bucay, N., Lauer, S. J., and Taylor, J. M. A far-downstream hepatocyte-specific control region directs expression of the linked human apolipoprotein E and C-I genes in transgenic mice, J Biol Chem. 268: 8221-9, 1993.
- Jones, B. K., Monks, B. R., Liebhaber, S. A., and Cooke, N. E. The human growth hormone gene is regulated by a multicomponent locus control region, Mol Cell Biol. 15: 7010-21, 1995.
- Tuan, D. Y., Solomon, W. B., London, I. M., and Lee, D. P. An erythroid-specific, developmental-stageindependent enhancer far upstream of the human "beta-like globin" genes, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 86: 2554-8, 1989.
- Talbot, D., Collis, P., Antoniou, M., Vidal, M., Grosveld, F., and Greaves, D. R. A dominant control region from the human beta-globin locus conferring integration site-independent gene expression, Nature. 338: 352-5, 1989.
- Lindstedt, K. A., Bujo, H., Mahon, M. G., Nimpf, J., and Schneider, W. J. Germ cell-somatic cell dichotomy of a low-density lipoprotein receptor gene family member in testis, DNA Cell Biol. 16: 35-43, 1997.
- Magrane, J., Reina, M., Pagan, R., Luna, A., Casaroli-Marano, R. P., Angelin, B., Gafvels, M., and Vilaro, S. Bovine aortic endothelial cells express a variant of the very low density lipoprotein receptor that lacks the O-linked sugar domain, J Lipid Res. 39: 2172-81, 1998.
- Iijima, H., Miyazawa, M., Sakai, J., Magoori, K., Ito, M. R., Suzuki, H., Nose, M., Kawarabayasi, Y., and Yamamoto, T. T. Expression and characterization of a very low density lipoprotein receptor variant lacking the O-linked sugar region generated by alternative splicing, J Biochem (Tokyo). 124: 747-55, 1998.
- Webb, D. J., Nguyen, D. H., Sankovic, M., and Gonias, S. L. The very low density lipoprotein receptor regulates urokinase receptor catabolism and breast cancer cell motility in vitro, J Biol Chem. 274: 7412-20, 1999.

- Hodgson, J. G., Smith, D. J., McCutcheon, K., Koide, H. B., Nishiyama, K., Dinulos, M. B., Stevens, M. E., Bissada, N., Nasir, J., Kanazawa, I., Disteche, C. M., Rubin, E. M., and Hayden, M. R. Human huntingtin derived from YAC transgenes compensates for loss of murine huntingtin by rescue of the embryonic lethal phenotype, Hum Mol Genet. 5: 1875-85, 1996.
- 32. Davisson, R. L., Kim, H. S., Krege, J. H., Lager, D. J., Smithies, O., and Sigmund, C. D. Complementation of reduced survival, hypotension, and renal abnormalities in angiotensinogen-deficient mice by the human renin and human angiotensinogen genes, J Clin Invest. 99: 1258-64, 1997.

CHAPTER 3

LDL receptor deficiency unmasks altered VLDL triglyceride metabolism in VLDL receptor transgenic and knockout mice

P. J. Tacken, B. Teusink[¶], M. C. Jong[¶], D. Harats^{*}, L. M. Havekes^{¶†}, K. Willems van Dijk, M. H. Hofker^{*}

Department of Human and Clinical Genetics, Leiden University Medical Center, The Netherlands; ¹ TNO Prevention and Health, Gaubius Laboratory, The Netherlands; ¹ Institute of Lipid and Atherosclerosis Research, Sheba Medical Center, Tel-Hashomer, Israel; [†] Departments of Cardiology and Internal Medicine, Leiden University Medical Center, The Netherlands; * Present address: Cardiovascular Research Institute Maastricht, Maastricht, The Netherlands

(J. Lipid Res. (2000), 41, 2055-2062)

Abstract

The very low density lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR) has been proposed to play a role in the delivery of fatty acids to peripheral tissues. However, despite reduced adipose tissue mass in VLDLR deficient (VLDLR-/-) mice this has been difficult to substantiate. In the present study, VLDLR deficient and VLDLR overexpressing (PVL) mice were crossbred onto a low density lipoprotein receptor knockout (LDLR-/-) background to study the VLDLR under conditions of relatively high serum VLDL and triglyceride levels. Absence of the VLDLR resulted in a significant increase in serum triglyceride levels (1.9 fold) when mice were fed a high fat diet. In contrast, overexpression of the VLDLR resulted in a significant decrease in serum triglyceride levels (2.0 fold) under similar conditions. When kept on a chow diet, a period of prolonged fasting revealed a significant increase in serum triglyceride levels in VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- mice (2.3 fold) as compared with LDLR-/- controls. This could not be attributed to altered apolipoprotein B and VLDL triglyceride production rates. Furthermore, no major differences in nascent VLDL triglyceride content were found between VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- mice and LDLR-/controls. However, the triglyceride content of circulating VLDL of VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- mice (63%) was relatively high as compared with LDLR-/- controls (49%). These observations suggest that the VLDLR affects peripheral uptake of VLDL triglycerides. In conclusion, under conditions of LDLR deficiency in combination with high fat feeding or prolonged fasting the effect of the VLDLR on VLDL triglyceride metabolism was revealed.

Introduction

The VLDLR is a member of the low density lipoprotein receptor (LDLR) family (1). It has been described to bind apolipoprotein E (apoE) rich very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) (1, 2) and lipoprotein lipase (LPL) (3), suggesting a role for the VLDLR in lipid metabolism. However, other ligands such as receptor-associated protein (RAP) (4) and urokinase-type plasminogen activator plasminogen activator inhibitor complexes (5) were also described to bind to the VLDLR. In addition, the VLDLR was found to play a role in transmission of extracellular signals to intra-cellular signaling processes, in a molecular pathway that regulates neuronal migration (6).

The VLDLR is expressed in blood vessels, where expression is located in endothelial and smooth muscle cells (7). Furthermore, expression levels are high in heart, skeletal muscle and adipose tissue, but expression is absent from liver. Heart, skeletal muscle and adipose tissue are active in fatty acid metabolism. Together with the observation that the VLDLR can bind apoE rich VLDL this has led to the hypothesis that the VLDLR is involved in delivery of fatty acids to extra-hepatic organs. This hypothesis is supported by observations in mice showing upregulation of VLDLR mRNA levels in heart and downregulation in adipose tissue after prolonged periods of fasting (8). In addition, *LDLR-/-* mice fed an atherogenic diet show downregulation of VLDLR mRNA levels in heart and upregulation in adipose tissue (9). However, plasma cholesterol and triglyceride levels were not affected in *VLDLR-/-* mice. So far the only *in vivo*

evidence implying a role for the VLDLR in lipid metabolism is the observation that VLDLR-/mice show reduced adipose tissue mass (10).

In wild type as well as in VLDLR-/- mice, high density lipoprotein (HDL) is the predominant lipoprotein in plasma, while plasma levels of VLDL are relatively low. Thus differences in VLDL metabolism between wild type and VLDLR-/- mice are difficult to detect. We chose to study the VLDLR in the LDLR-/- mouse model, which displays relatively high serum VLDL and triglyceride levels (11). Both the VLDLR-/- mouse and a newly generated transgenic mouse model that expresses the human VLDLR in endothelial and smooth muscle cells (PVL mouse) were used. These mice were fed either a chow or a high fat diet, and serum lipid levels were studied both after 4 hours and after overnight fasting.

LDLR deficiency in combination with a high fat diet or overnight fasting led to elevated serum triglyceride levels in the absence of the VLDLR. In contrast, overexpression of the VLDLR led to lowering of serum triglyceride levels. While there was no major difference in nascent VLDL triglyceride content between VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- mice and LDLR-/- controls, VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- mice showed a relatively high circulating VLDL triglyceride content. This suggests the VLDLR has an effect on the peripheral uptake of VLDL triglycerides.

Methods

Generation of transgenic mice

To express an additional VLDLR in the endothelium, an expression construct was generated using the human VLDLR cDNA in combination with the preproendothelin-1 promoter. This promoter was previously shown *in vivo* to express a luciferase reporter gene mainly in endothelial cells, and to a lesser extent in smooth muscle cells of the vessel wall of transgenic mice (12). The pHV58 plasmid, carrying the human VLDLR cDNA, was generously provided by L. Chan (13). The HL3 reporter plasmid, carrying the firefly luciferase gene under control of the 5.9 kb promoter region of the endothelin-1 gene, was described before as p5.9mPPET-LUC (12). The HL3 reporter plasmid was digested with *NotI* to remove the luciferase reporter gene. The pHV58 plasmid was digested with *NotI* to isolate the human VLDLR cDNA, that was subsequently subcloned in the *NotI* digested HL3 reporter plasmid, generating the PVL plasmid containing the human VLDLR cDNA under control of 5.9kb of the preproendothelin-1 promoter region (see figure 1).



Figure 1. Generation and Southern blot analysis of PVL transgenic mice

Schematic representation of the generation of the PVL construct (A). Genomic DNA of wild type and PVL mice was digested with *XhoI* and subjected to electrophoresis. PVL construct was detected using the ³²P-labeled pHV58.H probe (B).

The PVL plasmid DNA was digested with *XhoI* to obtain the insert, and subsequently was layered onto a continuous linear gradient of 10 to 40% sucrose in 1.0 M NaCl, 10.0 mM Tris HCl, pH 8.0, 1 mM EDTA, and centrifuged at 35000 rpm. Gradient fractions were collected to determine which fractions only contained the PVL insert, and these were pooled. Gradient medium was removed by five successive rinses with injection buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, pH7.5, 0.1 mM EDTA) in a Centricon 100 microconcentrator (Amicon, Danvers, Massachusetts, USA.). The PVL insert was diluted in injection buffer to a concentration of 6 ng/ml. This mixture was injected into B:CBA zygotes to generate transgenic mice according to standard procedures (14).

To screen for transgenic mice, offspring was characterized by PCR on tailtip DNA with forward primer U19 (CCTTTGAGGTCTAAACAAAT) and reverse primer L19 (TTTACAGATGGCCTATACAA), both localized in exon 19 of the human VLDLR. The size of the inserted construct was verified by digesting tailtip DNA with *XhoI*, followed by Southern blot analysis using an exon 6 to 14 spanning *HincII* restriction fragment of the pHV58 cDNA, pHV58.H, as a probe (figure 1B). Eight out of 40 offspring that were characterized by PCR were shown to carry the transgene (data not shown). Six of the founder mice produced transgenic offspring. All experiments in the present paper were performed with the mouse line that showed the highest human versus mouse VLDLR expression as was determined by semi-quantitative RT-PCR (data not shown).

Semi-quantitative analysis of human versus mouse VLDLR expression.

To measure the level of transgene expression relative to endogenous mouse VLDLR expression, a semi-quantitative RT-PCR method was developed. Reverse primer VR1

(TTCAAGTACACAGGATTGTC) shows 100% sequence identity to the human (bp 2610 to 2629) and mouse (bp 2678 to 2697) VLDLR cDNA sequence. Forward primer MVR1 (ACAGTGAGACAAAAGATATC, bp 2454 to 2473) is specific for mouse, and forward primer HVR5 (AACTCAACAGAAATTTCCAGC, bp 2406 to 2425) specific for human VLDLR cDNA sequence. Both the MVR1 and HVR5 primer will compete for the VR1 primer in a PCR. MVR1 and VR1 amplify 244 bp of mouse VLDLR sequence, while HVR5 and VR1 amplify 224 bp of human VLDLR sequence. Calibration of the RT-PCR reaction, using human and mouse VLDLR cDNA mixed in different relative amounts, proved that both amplifications were equally efficient (data not shown). Semi-quantitative RT-PCR was performed on total RNA isolated from various mouse tissues for 34 cycles at 52 °C. PCR products were separated by electrophoresis on an ethidium stained 3% agarose (agarose MP, Boehringer Mannheim, Mannheim, Germany) gel. The gel was photographed using the ImaGotm (B&L Systems, Maarssen, The Netherlands) and the relative amount of human vs. mouse product was calculated with ImageQuant software (Molecular dynamics, Sunnyvale, California, USA).

Northern blot analysis of total 10 μ g of total heart RNA of PVL mice and wild type littermates was performed, using pHV58.H as a probe. Membranes were re-probed with rat GAPDH cDNA (15).

RNA of mouse tissues was isolated with RNAzolTM (Biotecx Laboratories, Houston, Texas, USA), and RT-PCR was performed with the use of SuperscriptTM II RNase H Reverse transcriptase (GibcoBRL, Gaithersburg, Maryland, USA), both according to the manufacturer's protocol.

Antibody

The rabbit polyclonal anti-human antibody, raised against amino acids 1-724 of the human VLDLR, was generously provided by H. Hobbs. The antibody has also been shown to recognize mouse VLDLR protein (16).

Western blot analysis

Membrane proteins fractions of mouse heart were isolated. Therefore, hearts were frozen in liquid nitrogen, homogenized with a tight fitting pestle in a solution of 0.25 M sucrose, 50 mM Tris (pH 7.4) and completeTM EDTA free mini protein inhibitor cocktail (Boehringer Mannheim, Mannheim, Germany). Subsequently the suspension was centrifuged at 600 g, followed by centrifugation of the supernatant at 10000 g. Finally, the supernatant was centrifuged at 130000 g. The resulting pellet containing the membrane proteins was resuspended in TBS (10 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, 2 mM CaCl₂ and 2 mM MgCl₂). Protein concentration was determined with the Pierce BCA protein assay (Pierce, Rockford, Illinois, USE) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Eighty microgram of protein was subjected to SDS-PAGE on a 6% polyacridamidegel. Proteins were blotted onto HybondTM ECLTM nitrocellulose membrane (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Little Chalfont, UK). The membrane was washed extensively in wash buffer, containing 0.1% (v/v) Tween-20 (Sigma, St. Louis, Missouri, USA) in phosphate buffered saline (PBS). Subsequently the membrane was blocked with blockbuffer, containing 0.1% (v/v) Tween-20 millionie was blocked with blockbuffer, containing 0.1% (v/v) Tween-20 millionie was blocked with blockbuffer, containing 0.1% (v/v) Tween-20 millionie was blocked with blockbuffer, containing 0.1% (v/v) Tween-20 millionie was blocked with blockbuffer, containing 0.1% (v/v) Tween-20 millionie was blocked with blockbuffer, containing 0.1% (v/v) Tween-20 millionie was blocked with blockbuffer, containing 0.1% (v/v) Tween-20 millionie was blocked with blockbuffer, containing 0.1% (v/v) Tween-20 millionie was blocked with blockbuffer, containing 0.1% (v/v) Tween-20 millionie was blocked with blockbuffer, containing 0.1% (v/v) Tween-20 millionie was blocked with blockbuffer. The membrane was then extensively

washed in blockbuffer, followed by incubation with a peroxidized anti rabbit IgG antibody (NIF824, Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Little Chalfont, UK). Finally the membrane was washed with wash buffer, followed by washing with PBS and ECLTM detection according to the manufacturers protocol (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Little Chalfont, UK).

Mice

VLDLR-/- mice were obtained from Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbor, Maine, USA) and were bred to LDLR-/- mice to produce VLDLR+/-;LDLR+/- mice. VLDLR+/-;LDLR+/- mice were subsequently bred to LDLR-/- mice to produce VLDLR+/-;LDLR-/- mice. VLDLR+/-;LDLR-/- mice were bred to produce VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- and LDLR-/- littermates. PVL mice were crossed back onto a C57bl6/J background, and generation N3 mice were used. PVL mice were bred to LDLR-/- mice to produce PVL;LDLR+/- mice. PVL;LDLR+/- mice were bred to LDLR-/- mice to generate PVL;LDLR-/- mice. PVL;LDLR-/- mice were bred to LDLR-/- mice to generate PVL;LDLR-/- mice. PVL;LDLR-/- mice were bred to LDLR-/- mice to generate PVL;LDLR-/- mice. PVL;LDLR-/- mice were bred to PVL;LDLR-/- mice to produce PVL;LDLR-/- mice were bred to LDLR-/- mice to produce PVL;LDLR-/- and LDLR-/- littermates. For protein expression analysis, PVL mice were bred onto a VLDLR-/- background using a similar strategy as was used for generating PVL;LDLR-/- mice.

All studies in this paper were performed using 10 to 20 weeks old females. Littermates were housed in groups. Mice were fed either a regular breeding chow diet or a high fat diet. The chow diet contained 6.2% fat (Hope Farms, Woerden, The Netherlands). The high fat diet contained 15% cacao butter, 0.25% cholesterol, 40.5% sucrose, 10% cornstarch, 1% corn oil and 5.95% cellulose (w/w) (Hope Farms, Woerden, The Netherlands).

Serum cholesterol and triglyceride analysis

Mice were fasted for 4 hours (9 am to 1 pm) or overnight (5 pm to 9 am), and blood was collected in Microvette CB 300 tubes (Sarstedt, Nuernbrecht, Germany), that were immediately placed on ice. Tubes were spun in an eppendorf centrifuge at 4 °C at 4000 rpm. Serum cholesterol and triglyceride levels were determined using commercially available kits (kit no. 236691 from Boehringer Mannheim and kit 337-B from Sigma, respectively).

Serum FPLC analysis

For the analysis of the distribution of cholesterol and triglycerides over the different lipoprotein fractions pooled samples of mouse serum were analyzed on a Smart-system (Pharmacia, Uppsala, Sweden) with a Superose 6 column as described previously (17).

VLDL production

VLDL triglyceride production rate was determined essentially as described before (18). Groups of 6 VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- mice and 6 LDLR-/- control mice fed a chow diet were fasted overnight. Tran ³⁵S-labeltm (ICN Pharmaceuticals, Irvine, California, USA) was dissolved in PBS and 100 μ Ci was injected into the tail vein. After 30 minutes, Triton WR1339 (Sigma) was injected into the tail vein. At 0, 30, 60 and 90 minutes after Triton injection blood samples were collected in Microvette tubes (Sarstedt), and were placed on ice. Serum triglyceride levels were measured as described above, and a curve fit was performed using GraphPad Prism (GraphPad

Software, San Diego, California, USA). VLDL was isolated by ultracentrifugation (d<1.006 g/ml) from blood samples collected 90 minutes after Triton injection. Part of the VLDL was used to determine the apoB production rate. ApoB was specifically precipitated by isopropanol precipitation (19). The pellet was dissolved at 60°C in a 20% sodium dodecyl sulphate solution, and radioactivity of the sample was determined.

VLDL lipid analysis

To determine the lipid composition of circulating and nascent VLDL, VLDL lipid content was measured both before and 90 minutes after Triton treatment. Analysis of mouse serum that was incubated with Triton showed that Triton treatment does not affect lipid composition of the different lipoprotein fractions (data not shown). Therefore, the lipid composition of nascent VLDL can be calculated from the difference between VLDL lipid content before and after Triton treatment. VLDL total cholesterol content was determined as described above. VLDL triglyceride, free cholesterol and phospholipid content were determined with enzymatic assay kits (701904 and 310328 from Boehringer Mannheim) and the analytical kit B (Wako Chemicals GmbH, Neuss, Germany) respectively. VLDL cholesterol ester content was calculated by subtracting free cholesterol from total cholesterol content.

Results

Characterization of VLDLR transgenic mice (PVL)

To overexpress the VLDLR in mouse endothelium, transgenic mice (PVL) were generated using the human VLDLR cDNA under control of the preproendothelin-1 promoter. A semi-quantitative RT-PCR was developed to determine the level of human VLDLR expression relative to endogenous mouse VLDLR expression in PVL mice. Semi-quantitative RT-PCR performed on RNA isolated from PVL mouse tissues revealed that mouse and human VLDLR expression levels were in the same range in heart, aorta and kidney. In skeletal muscle, human VLDLR expression levels were lower than endogenous mouse VLDLR expression levels, whereas the opposite was true for testis and liver (figure 2A). Northern blot analysis of PVL mouse heart RNA, using the pHV58.H probe, revealed expression of a 3.8 kb message (figure 2B). To assess the expression of the human VLDLR protein, heart membrane protein fractions were isolated from wild type, PVL, VLDLR-/- and PVL; VLDLR-/- mice. Western blot analysis using a rabbit polyclonal anti-human VLDLR antibody revealed two bands in wild type mice that were absent in the VLDLR-/- mouse. These two protein bands, which have been described before (10), presumably represent the precursor and the mature form of the VLDLR. Expression of the human VLDLR protein was detected in PVL; VLDLR-/- mice, and revealed two protein bands of the same size as those of the endogenous VLDLR. The intensity of the bands detected in the PVL mice was stronger than those in wild type littermates (figure 2C), implying that total VLDLR expression is higher in PVL than in wild type mice.



Figure 2. Expression analysis of PVL transgenic mice

To determine human versus mouse VLDLR RNA expression levels, semiquantitative RT-PCR was performed on total RNA isolated from various PVL mouse tissues. PCR products were separated by electrophoresis on an ethidium stained 3% agarose gel (A). Northern blot analysis of PVL and wild type (Wt) RNA was performed with the ³²P-labeled pHV58.H probe. Membranes were re-probed with a ³²P-labeled GAPDH cDNA probe (B). Membrane protein fractions were isolated from PVL: VLDLR-/-, VLDLR-/-, PVL and Wt mouse heart.

Eighty microgram of protein was subjected to SDS-PAGE on a 6% polyacrylamidegel. VLDLR protein was detected using a rabbit polyclonal anti-human VLDLR antibody (C).

Serum lipid levels of VLDLR-/- and PVL mice on LDLR-/- background

When fed a standard chow diet, PVL (data not shown) and VLDLR-/- (10) mice show normal serum lipid levels. To study the VLDLR under conditions of relatively high serum VLDL and triglyceride levels, both PVL and VLDLR-/- mice were first crossed onto an LDLR-/background. Subsequently, serum lipid levels were studied on chow and high fat diet, both after 4 hours and after overnight fasting (table 1). VLDLR;LDLR-/- mice showed a significant elevation of serum triglyceride levels (2.3 fold) on a chow diet after overnight fasting when compared with LDLR-/- controls. When fed a high fat diet for 6 weeks, VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- mice showed significantly elevated serum triglyceride levels both after 4 hours (1.9 fold) and after overnight fasting (2.4 fold) when compared with controls. In contrast, after 4 hours fasting, PVL;LDLR-/- mice displayed a significant decrease in serum triglyceride levels both on chow (1.2 fold) and on high fat diet (2.0) when compared with LDLR-/- controls. No significant differences in serum triglyceride levels were found between PVL;LDLR-/- mice and LDLR-/controls on a chow diet after overnight fasting. No significant differences in total serum cholesterol levels were found between VLDLR-/- mice and LDLR-/- controls or between PVL;LDLR-/- and LDLR-/- controls under all circumstances studied.

			4 hour fast		overnight fast	
mousemodel	diet	n	cholesterol	triglycerides	cholesterol	triglycerides
			(mM)	(mM)	(mM)	(mM)
VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/-	chow	15	6.22 ± 1.78	0.73 ± 0.27	8.44 ± 1.32	4.18 ± 1.73 *
LDLR-/- ^{a)}	chow	19	5.25 ± 1.18	0.54 ± 0.22	7.88 ± 1.41	1.79 ± 0.63
VLDLR-/-LDLR-/-	W	18	44.76 ± 14.04	5.47 ± 2.51 *	42.76 ± 14.04	1.23 ± 0.16 *
$LDLR-/^{a}$	W	20	38.57 ± 14.79	2.91 ± 1.59	$\textbf{38.57} \pm \textbf{14.79}$	0.52 ± 0.11
PVL; <i>LDLR-/-</i>	chow	16	5.33 ± 0.54	0.57 ± 0.15 *	6.52 ± 0.89	1.53 ± 0.66
LDLR-/- ^{a)}	chow	20	$\textbf{5.70} \pm \textbf{1.09}$	$\textbf{0.71} \pm \textbf{0.25}$	6.44 ± 0.69	1.72 ± 0.42
PVL; <i>LDLR-/</i> -	W	9	47.16 ± 10.28	1.74 ± 0.55 *	n.d.	n.d.
LDLR-/-a)	W	13	49.92 ± 10.07	3.47 ± 1.70	n.d.	n.d

Table I. Serum cholesterol and triglyceride levels of VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- mice, PVL;LDLR-/- mice and LDLR-/- controls

Serum cholesterol and triglyceride concentrations were measured in VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- mice and LDLR-/-/- littermates and in PVL;LDLR-/- mice and LDLR-/- littermates. All littermates were housed in groups. Lipid levels were measured in mice that were fasted for 4 hours or were fasted overnight. Mice were kept on a chow diet or on a high fat diet (W). ^{a)} Note that LDLR-/- control groups for PVL and VLDLR-/- mice differ in their genetic background. Values shown are means \pm SD. n.d. = not determined, ^{*} = significantly different from LDLR-/- littermates (P<0.05), using the Student's t-test.



Figure 3. Serum FPLC profiles of VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- mice, PVL;LDLR-/- mice and LDLR-/- controls

Mouse sera isolated from various mouse models under different dietary conditions were subjected to FPLC fractionation. Cholesterol (thin lines) and triglycerde (thick lines) levels of each fraction were determined as described in Methods. Pooled sera were analyzed from 15 VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- and 19 LDLR-/- littermates that were kept on a chow diet and fasted for 4 hours or overnight, 18 VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- and 20 LDLR-/- littermates that were kept on a high fat diet and fasted for 4 hours, 16 PVL;LDLR-/- and 20 LDLR-/- littermates that were kept on a chow diet and fasted for 4 hours, and 9 PVL;LDLR-/- and 13 LDLR-/- mice that were kept on a high fat diet and fasted for 4 hours.

Serum FPLC analysis showed that the effect of the VLDLR on serum triglyceride levels was mainly due to an effect on VLDL triglycerides. While *VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/-* mice show elevated VLDL triglyceride levels, PVL;*LDLR-/-* mice showed a lowering of VLDL triglyceride levels when compared with their controls. The extent of the effect of the VLDLR on VLDL triglycerides depended on the diet or the duration of the fasting period (figure 3).



Figure 4. VLDL lipid content of VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- mice and LDLR-/- controls

Serum was collected from the overnight fasted mice in the VLDL production experiments (see Methods), both before and 90 minutes after Triton WR1339 injection. VLDL was isolated from pooled serum by ultracentrifugation (d<1.006 g/ml). VLDL phospholipid (PL), cholesterol ester (CE), free cholesterol (FC) and triglyceride (TG) content were determined. Composition of nascent VLDL was determined by subtracting the amount of VLDL lipids before Triton treatment from those 90 minutes after Composition of nascent treatment. and circulating plasma VLDL were determined in LDLR-/- mice and VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- mice.

VLDL production

To determine whether the relatively high serum triglyceride levels in *VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/*mice were due to enhanced VLDL production, apoB and triglyceride production rates were determined in *VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/-* and *LDLR-/-* controls that were fed a chow diet and were fasted overnight. Mice were injected with Triton WR1339 to impair lipolysis and VLDL clearance, and the accumulation of triglycerides and the radiolabeled apoB was determined in the serum over a period of 90 minutes. No significant differences were found between *VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/-* mice and *LDLR-/-* controls for both triglyceride (76.1 \pm 9.4 and 62.4 \pm 18.5 µmol/h/kg) and apoB (1.39 \pm 0.34 and 1.00 \pm 0.44 arbitrary units/h/kg) production rates. Furthermore, nascent VLDL triglyceride content of *VLDLR-/-*;*LDLR-/-* mice (77%) was comparable to that of *LDLR-/-* controls (83%). However, circulating serum VLDL of *VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/-* mice contained 63% triglycerides, compared with 49% in *LDLR-/-* controls (figure 4). This implies that the clearance of triglycerides from circulating VLDL is disturbed in *VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/-* mice.

Discussion

The purpose of this study was to gain insight into the role of the VLDL receptor in lipoprotein metabolism. The *in vivo* evidence that supports a role for the VLDLR in lipid metabolism is limited to the observation that *VLDLR-/-* mice show reduced adipose tissue mass (10). Thus far, *VLDLR-/-* mice were not reported to display altered serum lipid levels. However, mice have very low serum VLDL and triglyceride levels. To study the VLDLR under conditions

of relatively high serum VLDL and triglyceride levels, both VLDLR deficient and VLDLR overexpressing mice were crossbred onto an LDLR-/- background. Absence of the VLDLR was associated with elevated serum triglyceride levels under conditions of dietary stress. In contrast, overexpression of the VLDLR under similar conditions was associated with lowering of serum triglyceride levels. Thus the variation in serum triglyceride levels is consistent with the variation in VLDLR expression in both mouse models.

In VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- mice, the increase in serum triglycerides was not accompanied by a significant increase in VLDL production rate when compared with LDLR-/- controls. In addition, no significant differences were found in serum cholesterol levels between VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- mice and LDLR-/- controls. Therefore it seems not likely that the VLDLR influences serum triglyceride levels by affecting clearance of whole lipoprotein particles by the liver. Analysis of VLDL lipid composition showed that the triglyceride content of circulating VLDL in VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- mice is relatively high as compared with LDLR-/- controls. This implies that the clearance of triglycerides from circulating VLDL is disturbed in VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/mice.

The effect of the VLDLR on VLDL triglyceride metabolism could be explained by an effect on lipolysis. The principal enzyme responsible for the hydrolysis of triglycerides of circulating lipoproteins is lipoprotein lipase (LPL). It has been described to perform a bridging function between extra-cellular heparan sulphate proteoglycans and lipoprotein particles (20, 21). In addition, LPL has been reported to bind to receptors of the LDLR family, including the VLDLR, thereby enhancing their affinity for lipoproteins (3, 5). We hypothesize that the VLDLR and LPL together promote retention of circulating VLDL on the vessel wall. Subsequently, LPL could exert its lipolytic effect on triglycerides residing in the VLDL particle without affecting VLDL cholesterol. Thus VLDLR overexpression would lead to an increase, while VLDLR deficiency would lead to a decrease in the rate of lipolysis of VLDL triglycerides.

In contrast to our present results, studies expressing the VLDLR ectopically in the liver of *LDLR-/-* mice fed a high cholesterol diet showed no effects on serum triglyceride levels, while serum cholesterol levels were reduced by 50%. Furthermore, VLDLR expression in liver affected intermediate density lipoprotein (IDL) and LDL instead of VLDL fractions, and was shown to facilitate the clearance of IDL particles (10). Apparently, when expressed in liver, the VLDLR can be engaged in uptake of IDL/LDL via lipoprotein receptor mediated endocytosis. Thus VLDLR mediated binding and processing of lipoproteins seems to depend on the site of VLDLR expression.

The VLDLR-/- mouse was previously reported to have normal serum lipid levels (10). In the present paper we show that the VLDLR does affect serum triglyceride levels when specific conditions are applied. LDLR deficiency in combination with conditions of fasting, or feeding a high fat diet, revealed the effect of the VLDLR on VLDL triglyceride metabolism. Fasting and high fat feeding were previously reported to affect the regulation of VLDLR expression. VLDLR expression in mice was shown to increase in heart and decrease in adipose tissue under conditions of prolonged fasting (8). In contrast, feeding a high fat diet was reported to downregulate VLDLR mRNA expression in heart and upregulate expression in adipose tissue in LDLR-/- mice (9). These observations are in line with the hypothesis that the VLDLR is involved in the delivery of fatty acids to peripheral tissues. Upon fasting, fatty acid demand in tissues like the heart will increase, while there will be less fatty acid storage in adipose tissue. Upon feeding a high fat diet, the reverse will be true. We hypothesize that in the present study the effect of the VLDLR on serum triglyceride levels was revealed by the effect of dietary status on fatty acid fluxes. Apparently, triglyceride metabolism is tightly regulated, and backup mechanisms can compensate for VLDLR deficiency. Only when specific dietary conditions are applied do these backup mechanisms fail to compensate for VLDLR deficiency or VLDLR overexpression.

Similar to the effect of the VLDLR on VLDL triglyceride content, the reduction in adipose tissue mass observed in *VLDLR-/-* mice (10) could be explained by impaired hydrolysis of VLDL triglycerides. A second mouse model that exhibits reduced adipose tissue mass is the apolipoprotein C1 (apoC1) transgenic mouse (22). Interestingly, apoC1 was reported to strongly inhibit lipoprotein binding to the VLDLR (23), while it does not impair LPL lipolysis activity *in vitro* (24). RAP was also reported to inhibit lipoprotein binding by the VLDLR. Intriguingly, adenovirus mediated overexpression of RAP into the circulation of mice that lacked both the LDLR and the LRP in their livers showed an increase of serum triglycerides. Adenovirus mediated RAP expression led to high serum levels of RAP. The effect of RAP on the metabolism of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins could not be attributed to RAP-binding proteins in the liver (25). Considering the results of the present study, it could be hypothesized that the extra-hepatic effect of RAP is due to blocking of lipoprotein binding to receptors like the VLDLR in peripheral tissues.

In summary, our results suggest a role for the VLDLR in peripheral uptake of VLDL triglycerides. Apparently, backup mechanisms can compensate for VLDLR deficiency or overexpression. Only under stressed conditions of LDLR deficiency in combination with high fat feeding or prolonged fasting periods, is the effect of the VLDLR on VLDL triglyceride metabolism revealed.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to dr. Helen Hobbs (University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, Texas, USA) for providing the anti human VLDLR antiserum. The human VLDR cDNA was kindly provided by dr. Lawrence Chan (Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, Texas, USA). This research was supported by the Netherlands Hart Foundation. Marten Hofker is an Established Investigator of the Netherlands Heart Foundation.

References

 Takahashi, S., Kawarabayasi, Y., Nakai, T., Sakai, J., and Yamamoto, T. Rabbit very low density lipoprotein receptor: a low density lipoprotein receptor-like protein with distinct ligand specificity, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 89: 9252-6, 1992.

- Sakai, J., Hoshino, A., Takahashi, S., Miura, Y., Ishii, H., Suzuki, H., Kawarabayasi, Y., and Yamamoto, T. Structure, chromosome location, and expression of the human very low density lipoprotein receptor gene, J Biol Chem. 269: 2173-82, 1994.
- Takahashi, S., Suzuki, J., Kohno, M., Oida, K., Tamai, T., Miyabo, S., Yamamoto, T., and Nakai, T. Enhancement of the binding of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins to the very low density lipoprotein receptor by apolipoprotein E and lipoprotein lipase, J Biol Chem. 270: 15747-54, 1995.
- Battey, F. D., Gafvels, M. E., FitzGerald, D. J., Argraves, W. S., Chappell, D. A., Strauss, J. F., 3rd, and Strickland, D. K. The 39-kDa receptor-associated protein regulates ligand binding by the very low density lipoprotein receptor, J Biol Chem. 269: 23268-73, 1994.
- Argraves, K. M., Battey, F. D., MacCalman, C. D., McCrae, K. R., Gafvels, M., Kozarsky, K. F., Chappell, D. A., Strauss, J. F., 3rd, and Strickland, D. K. The very low density lipoprotein receptor mediates the cellular catabolism of lipoprotein lipase and urokinase-plasminogen activator inhibitor type I complexes, J Biol Chem. 270: 26550-7, 1995.
- Trommsdorff, M., Gotthardt, M., Hiesberger, T., Shelton, J., Stockinger, W., Nimpf, J., Hammer, R. E., Richardson, J. A., and Herz, J. Reeler/Disabled-like disruption of neuronal migration in knockout mice lacking the VLDL receptor and ApoE receptor 2, Cell. 97: 689-701, 1999.
- Multhaupt, H. A., Gafvels, M. E., Kariko, K., Jin, H., Arenas-Elliot, C., Goldman, B. I., Strauss, J. F., 3rd, Angelin, B., Warhol, M. J., and McCrae, K. R. Expression of very low density lipoprotein receptor in the vascular wall. Analysis of human tissues by in situ hybridization and immunohistochemistry, Am J Pathol. 148: 1985-97, 1996.
- Kwok, S., Singh-Bist, A., Natu, V., and Kraemer, F. B. Dietary regulation of the very low density lipoprotein receptor in mouse heart and fat, Horm Metab Res. 29: 524-9, 1997.
- Tiebel, O., Oka, K., Robinson, K., Sullivan, M., Martinez, J., Nakamuta, M., Ishimura-Oka, K., and Chan, L. Mouse very low-density lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR): gene structure, tissue-specific expression and dietary and developmental regulation, Atherosclerosis. 145: 239-51, 1999.
- Frykman, P. K., Brown, M. S., Yamamoto, T., Goldstein, J. L., and Herz, J. Normal plasma lipoproteins and fertility in gene-targeted mice homozygous for a disruption in the gene encoding very low density lipoprotein receptor, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 92: 8453-7, 1995.
- Ishibashi, S., Brown, M. S., Goldstein, J. L., Gerard, R. D., Hammer, R. E., and Herz, J. Hypercholesterolemia in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice and its reversal by adenovirusmediated gene delivery, J Clin Invest. 92: 883-93, 1993.
- Harats, D., Kurihara, H., Belloni, P., Oakley, H., Ziober, A., Ackley, D., Cain, G., Kurihara, Y., Lawn, R., and Sigal, E. Targeting gene expression to the vascular wall in transgenic mice using the murine preproendothelin-1 promoter, J Clin Invest. 95: 1335-44, 1995.
- Oka, K., Tzung, K. W., Sullivan, M., Lindsay, E., Baldini, A., and Chan, L. Human very-low-density lipoprotein receptor complementary DNA and deduced amino acid sequence and localization of its gene (VLDLR) to chromosome band 9p24 by fluorescence in situ hybridization, Genomics. 20: 298-300, 1994.
- Hogan, B., Constantini, F., and Lacey, E. Manipulating the Mouse Embryo: a Laboratory Manual. Cold Spring Harbour, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, 1986.
- Fort, P., Marty, L., Piechaczyk, M., el Sabrouty, S., Dani, C., Jeanteur, P., and Blanchard, J. M. Various rat adult tissues express only one major mRNA species from the glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate-dehydrogenase multigenic family, Nucleic Acids Res. 13: 1431-42, 1985.
- Wyne, K. L., Pathak, K., Seabra, M. C., and Hobbs, H. H. Expression of the VLDL receptor in endothelial cells, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 16: 407-15, 1996.
- Herijgers, N., Van Eck, M., Groot, P. H., Hoogerbrugge, P. M., and Van Berkel, T. J. Effect of bone marrow transplantation on lipoprotein metabolism and atherosclerosis in LDL receptor-knockout mice, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 17: 1995-2003, 1997.
- Aalto-Setala, K., Fisher, E. A., Chen, X., Chajek-Shaul, T., Hayek, T., Zechner, R., Walsh, A., Ramakrishnan, R., Ginsberg, H. N., and Breslow, J. L. Mechanism of hypertriglyceridemia in human apolipoprotein (apo) CIII transgenic mice. Diminished very low density lipoprotein fractional catabolic

rate associated with increased apo CIII and reduced apo E on the particles, J Clin Invest. 90: 1889-900, 1992.

- Egusa, G., Brady, D. W., Grundy, S. M., and Howard, B. V. Isopropanol precipitation method for the determination of apolipoprotein B specific activity and plasma concentrations during metabolic studies of very low density lipoprotein and low density lipoprotein apolipoprotein B, J Lipid Res. 24: 1261-7, 1983.
- Eisenberg, S., Sehayek, E., Olivecrona, T., and Vlodavsky, I. Lipoprotein lipase enhances binding of lipoproteins to heparan sulfate on cell surfaces and extracellular matrix, J Clin Invest. 90: 2013-21, 1992.
- 21. Mulder, M., Lombardi, P., Jansen, H., van Berkel, T. J., Frants, R. R., and Havekes, L. M. Heparan sulphate proteoglycans are involved in the lipoprotein lipase- mediated enhancement of the cellular binding of very low density and low density lipoproteins, Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 185: 582-7, 1992.
- Jong, M. C., Gijbels, M. J., Dahlmans, V. E., Gorp, P. J., Koopman, S. J., Ponec, M., Hofker, M. H., and Havekes, L. M. Hyperlipidemia and cutaneous abnormalities in transgenic mice overexpressing human apolipoprotein C1, J Clin Invest. 101: 145-52, 1998.
- 23. Jong, M. C., van Dijk, K. W., Dahlmans, V. E., Van der Boom, H., Kobayashi, K., Oka, K., Siest, G., Chan, L., Hofker, M. H., and Havekes, L. M. Reversal of hyperlipidaemia in apolipoprotein C1 transgenic mice by adenovirus-mediated gene delivery of the low-density-lipoprotein receptor, but not by the verylow-density-lipoprotein receptor, Biochem J. 338: 281-7, 1999.
- 24. Jong, M. C., Dahlmans, V. E., van Gorp, P. J., van Dijk, K. W., Breuer, M. L., Hofker, M. H., and Havekes, L. M. In the absence of the low density lipoprotein receptor, human apolipoprotein C1 overexpression in transgenic mice inhibits the hepatic uptake of very low density lipoproteins via a receptor- associated protein-sensitive pathway, J Clin Invest. 98: 2259-67, 1996.
- 25. van Vlijmen, B. J., Rohlmann, A., Page, S. T., Bensadoun, A., Bos, I. S., van Berkel, T. J., Havekes, L. M., and Herz, J. An extrahepatic receptor-associated protein-sensitive mechanism is involved in the metabolism of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins, J Biol Chem. 274: 35219-26, 1999.

CHAPTER 4

Protection from obesity in mice lacking the VLDL receptor

J. R. Goudriaan[†], P. J. Tacken[#], V. E. H. Dahlmans[†], M. J. J. Gijbels[#], K. Willems van Dijk[#], L. M. Havekes^{†‡} and M. C. Jong[†]

[†] TNO Prevention and Health, Gaubius Laboratory, Leiden; [#]Department of Human and Clinical Genetics, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden; [‡]Departments of Cardiology and Internal Medicine, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands

(Submitted)

Abstract

It has previously been reported that mice lacking the very low density lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR-/-) exhibit normal plasma lipid levels and a modest decrease in adipose tissue mass [Frykman et al. (1995) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 92, 8453-8457]. In the present study, the effect of VLDLR deficiency on profound weight gain was studied in mice. Obesity was induced either by feeding a high fat, high caloric (HFC) diet or by crossbreeding mice onto the genetically obese ob/ob background. After 17 weeks of HFC feeding. VLDLR-/- mice remain lean, whereas their wild-type littermates (VLDLR+/+) become obese. Similarly, weight gain of ob/ob mice is less profound in the absence of the VLDLR. Moreover, VLDLR deficiency in these two obesity-prone backgrounds induces marked hypertriglyceridemia. The protection from obesity in VLDLR-/- mice involves decreased peripheral uptake of dietary fatty acids, since VLDLR-/- mice exhibit a significant reduction in the whole body free fatty acid uptake, with no clear differences in food intake and fat absorption. These observations are supported by a strong decrease in average adipocyte size seen in VLDLR-/- mice of both obesity models, implying reduced adipocyte TG storage in the absence of the VLDLR. To our knowledge, these results represent the first demonstration that the VLDLR may directly contribute to the entry of fatty acids into tissues, and suggest that selective inhibition of the VLDLR may offer a therapeutic target for treatment of obesity.

Introduction

The very low density lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR) is a member of the low density lipoprotein receptor (LDLR) family (1). The most striking features that distinguish the VLDLR from the LDLR are i) eight ligand-binding repeats, instead of seven and ii) its expression pattern among tissues. The VLDLR is highly expressed in skeletal muscle, heart and adipose tissue, and only in trace amounts in the liver, whereas the LDLR is abundantly expressed in the liver (1, 2).

A role for the VLDLR in lipoprotein metabolism was suggested by *in vitro* experiments showing that the VLDLR binds and internalizes particles that are rich in apolipoprotein (apo) E, such as VLDL, Intermediate-Density-Lipoproteins (IDL) and chylomicrons (1, 3). The binding of these lipoprotein particles to the VLDLR was stimulated by lipoprotein lipase (LPL) (3, 4), and inhibited by a 39-kDa protein named the receptor-associated protein (RAP) (5). In addition to lipoproteins, the VLDLR has been shown to bind several other ligands including urokinase complexed to its inhibitor, plasminogen activator inhibitor type I (6), and thrombospondin-1 (7).

Based on its binding characteristics, endothelial localization (8) and tissue expression pattern, it is hypothesized that the VLDLR facilitates the binding of triglyceride (TG)-rich particles in the capillary bed and subsequent delivery of free fatty acids (FFA) to tissues active in fatty acid metabolism (3, 9, 10). In line with this hypothesis, it was shown in mice that VLDLR mRNA levels are upregulated in heart and downregulated in adipose tissue after prolonged fasting (11). Reciprocally, VLDLR mRNA levels were downregulated in heart and upregulated in adipose tissue of LDLR-deficient mice fed an atherogenic diet (12). To directly investigate a role for the VLDLR in lipid metabolism, mice were generated lacking the VLDL receptor by gene-targeting (13). *VLDLR-/-* mice exhibited no differences in plasma lipoproteins and the sole abnormality detected was a modest decrease in body weight (15-20%) (13). Recently, *VLDLR-/-* mice were cross-bred with ApoE receptor 2 (ApoER2)-deficient mice (14). These double knockout mice exhibited a striking disorganization of neurons in the cerebellum, indicating that the presence of the VLDLR in the brain, in combination with the ApoER2, is required in a signaling pathway that regulates neuronal migration (14).

Thus, in addition to its function in the brain, a clear role for the VLDLR in lipid metabolism remains to be established. Since it has been hypothesized that the VLDLR plays a role in the delivery of FFA to peripheral tissues, we investigated whether under conditions of severe dietary stress, the absence of the VLDLR may introduce a rate-limiting step in the delivery of free fatty acids to peripheral tissues. Therefore, *VLDLR-/-* mice and wild-type littermates (*VLDLR+/+*) were fed a high fat, high caloric (HFC) diet to enhance the intake of fatty acids. Previous studies have shown that this HFC diet induces obesity and insulin resistance in normal C57BL/6J mice (15). In addition, *VLDLR-/-* mice are fully protected from HFC diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance. Also in the more severe genetic model of obesity, *VLDLR-/-* ob/ob mice gained significantly less weight as compared to their ob/ob wildtype littermates. The protection from obesity upon VLDLR-deficiency is most likely due to an impaired uptake of fatty acids by adipose tissue, since whole body FFA uptake was strongly decreased in *VLDLR-/-* mice with no significant differences in food intake and fat absorption.

Methods

Animals

VLDLR-/- mice were obtained from the Jackson Laboratories. Non-transgenic littermates (VLDLR+/+) were used as controls. Heterozygous *ob/-* mice (Jackson Laboratories) were crossbred with VLDLR +/- mice to obtain VLDLR-/- mice on a homozygous *ob/ob* background (VLDLR-/- *ob/ob*). *Ob/ob* littermates (VLDLR+/+ *ob/ob*) were used as controls. All mice in the study were males on the C57BL/6J background and were housed individually under standard conditions with free access to water and food. Food was withdrawn at 9:00 a.m. and the experiments were either performed at 1:00 p.m. (4 hours fasting) or at 9:00 a.m. the next day (24 hours fasting).

Diet and dietary treatment

After weaning, mice were fed a standard-rat-mouse chow diet. After 6 months of age, 10 VLDLR-/- and 12 VLDLR+/+ mice were given a high-fat, high-caloric (HFC) diet (46.2% of the calories as fat) for a period of 17 weeks. The HFC diet contained 24% corn oil, 24% casein, 20% cerelose, 18% cornstarch and 6% cellulose, by weight (Hope Farms, Woerden, the Netherlands). 7 VLDLR-/- ob/ob and 8 VLDLR+/+ ob/ob mice were fed standard-rat-mouse chow diet (17.2% of the calories as fat) and were followed in time. Food intake was monitored individually.

Histological analysis of adipose tissue

Adipose tissues after formalin fixation were cut in sections (3 μ m) and stained with hematoxylin phloxin saffron. For the quantification of adipocyte size, the sectional areas of adipose tissues were analyzed using Leica Qwin image analysis software.

Plasma lipid and lipoprotein analysis

In all experiments, blood was collected by tail bleeding in chilled paraoxonized capillary tubes (16). These tubes were placed in ice and immediately centrifuged at 4 °C. Levels of total plasma cholesterol, plasma TG (without free glycerol) and free fatty acids (FFAs) were determined using enzymatically available kits #236691 (Boehringer Mannheim GmbH), #337-B (Sigma GPO-Trinder kit, St. Louis, MA, USA) and a Nefa-C kit (Wako Chemicals GmbH, Neuss, Germany), respectively. For fast protein liquid chromatography (FPLC) fractionation of lipoproteins, 50 μ l pooled plasma from at least 8 mice per group was injected onto a Superose 6 column (3.2 x 30 mm, Smart-system, Amersham Pharmacia), and eluted at a constant flow rate of 50 μ l/min with PBS (pH 7.4, containing 1 mmol / L EDTA). Fractions of 50 μ l were collected and assayed for total cholesterol and TG levels as described above.

Plasma glucose and insulin assays

Levels of plasma glucose were determined using the enzymatically available kit, #315-500 (Sigma). Plasma insulin levels were measured using a radioimmunoassay kit (Sensitive Rat Insulin Assay; Linco Research Inc., St. Charles, Missouri, USA).

Glucose tolerance test

Glucose tolerance tests were performed in 7 VLDLR-/- and 7 VLDLR+/+ mice fed a HFC diet for a period of 17 weeks, in 5 VLDLR-/- and 5 VLDLR+/+ mice on a chow diet and in 7 VLDLR-/- ob/ob and 7 VLDLR+/+ ob/ob mice. Animals were fasted for 4 hours and a basal blood sample was collected from the tip of the tail (t = 0 minutes). Mice were subsequently injected i.p. with glucose (2 g/kg), and additional blood samples were collected at 15, 30, 60 and 120 min. All blood samples were spun and the separated plasma was measured for glucose as described above.

Fat absorption

Fat absorption was measured by comparing the amount and kind of fatty acids present in the HFC diet with that in the feces. Feces were collected from metabolic cages and food intake was measured over a period of 3 days. After freeze-drying and mechanically homogenizing, aliquots (15 mg) of HFC diet and feces were extracted (methanol-hexane 4:1 (v/v) with 0.01% butylated hydroxytoluene), hydrolyzed and methylated (17). Heptadecanoic acid (C17:0) was added to all samples as an internal standard before the extraction and methylation procedure. Fatty acid methyl esters were separated and quantified by gas liquid chromatography on a Varian gas chromatograph (model 3800) equipped with a CP-Sil88column (50 m x 0.25 mm [inner diameter]) and a flame ionization detector. Dietary and fecal fatty acids were quantified by peak area comparison with the internal standard.

³H-FFA turnover experiments

To study the in vivo fatty acid turnover, VLDLR-/- and VLDLR+/+ mice after 4 weeks on HFC diet, were fasted (4 hours) and anesthetized with an intraperitoneal injection of 0.5 mL/kg hypnorm (Janssen Pharmaceutica) and 12.5 mg/kg midazolam (Roche, Netherlands). Body temperature was maintained at 37 °C by use of heat lamps. An indwelling catheter was then inserted in the right jugular vein and ³H-labeled fatty acids were infused at a rate of 200 µl/h $(0.08 \ \mu\text{Ci/min} [9,10(n)-{}^{3}\text{H}]$ palmitic acid (Amersham) dissolved in a BSA solution (2 mg/ml in sterile saline). At t = 0 a bolus (1.25 μ Ci palmitic acid) was injected into the tail vein of the mice. A blood sample (100 µl) was collected from the tip of the tail at 1 hour after the start of infusion, when steady state has been reached. The whole body uptake of ³H-FFA in plasma was determined as previously described (18, 19). Briefly, basal plasma FFA concentrations were measured enzymatically as described above. The amount of plasma radioactivity in the FFA and TG fraction was determined after lipid extraction and separation from the other lipid components by thin layer chromatography (TLC) on silica gel plates (Merck) by using hexane/diethylether/acetic acid (83:16:1, vol/vol/vol) as resolving solution. [¹⁴C]-trioleate and [¹⁴C]-palmitic acid (Amersham) were used as internal standards. ³H-palmitate oxidation was assessed by measuring ${}^{3}H-H_{2}O$ (19). This was done by subtracting the dpm in an aliquot (10 µl) of plasma, which had been evaporated to dryness and then resolved in H_2O , from the dpm of an unevaporated aliquot. The amount of storage (esterfication) of FFA was calculated by subtracting the FFA oxidation from the FFA turnover (19).

Statistical analysis

The Mann-Whitney nonparametric test for 2 independent samples was used to define differences between VLDLR-/- and VLDLR+/+ mice. The criterion for significance was set at P<0.05. All data are presented as means \pm SD.

Results

To investigate the effects of VLDLR deficiency under conditions of severe dietary stress, VLDLR-/- and VLDLR+/+ mice were fed a HFC diet for a period of 17 weeks. During this period, male VLDLR-/- mice gained little body weight upon HFC feeding, whereas the body weight of the male VLDLR+/+ mice continued to increase (Fig. 1 and Fig. 2A). Similar findings were observed with females (results not shown). The difference in body weight between VLDLR-/- and VLDLR+/+ mice was reflected by a marked reduction in both subcutaneous (~80%) and visceral (~70%) adipose tissue mass in VLDLR-/- mice (Fig. 2B), indicating that VLDLR-/- mice are strongly protected from diet-induced obesity. Histological analysis of epididymal fat pads (Fig. 2C) revealed that adipocytes from VLDLR-/- mice were significantly smaller than those from VLDLR+/+ mice (3679±453 vs 7889±572 µm2, P=0.009) under condition of HFC feeding. Similar differences were found for subcutaneous fat as well (not shown).
Chapter 4



Figure 1 Growth curves of *VLDLR-/-* and *VLDLR+/+* mice on a HFC diet

At 6 months of age, mice were fed a HFC diet for a period of 17 weeks and were weighed weekly. Values represent the mean \pm SD of 10 *VLDLR-/-* and 12 *VLDLR+/+* mice. **P*<0.05 at all time points, indicating the difference between *VLDLR-/-* and *VLDLR+/+* mice, using nonparametric Mann-Whitney tests.



Figure 2: Gross appearance and adipose tissue of *VLDLR-/-* and *VLDLR+/+* mice after 17 weeks of HFC feeding

(2A) Typical male littermates, (2B) Subcutaneous (s) and visceral (v) adipose tissue pads, and (2C) Paraffinembedded sections of white adipose tissue.

VLDLR +/+

В

С





VLDLR +/+ VLDLR -/-



VLDLR +/+ VLDLR -/-

Diet-induced obesity is frequently associated with insulin resistance, so we next investigated whether depletion of the VLDLR would affect insulin sensitivity. Plasma glucose and insulin levels were significantly reduced in VLDLR-/- mice compared to VLDLR+/+ mice after 17 weeks of HFC diet feeding (Table 1). These results indicate that VLDLR-/- mice remain insulin sensitive, whereas VLDLR+/+ mice have indeed become insulin resistant after high fat feeding. This is sustained by an intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test (Fig. 3A). VLDLR-/- mice on a HFC diet were much more efficient in the clearance of an intraperitoneal injected bolus of glucose than VLDLR+/+ mice, demonstrating that the absence of the VLDLR significantly hampers the development of insulin resistance upon introducing diet-induced obesity.

Table 1: Comparison of biochemical parameters in VLDLR-/- and VLDLR+/+ mice on a HFC diet and on the obese ob/ob background

Genotype	n	Glucose (mmol/L)	Insulin (ng/mL)	TC (mmol/L)	TG (mmol/L)	FFA (mmol/L)
Diet-induced obesity						
VLDLR+/+	12	9.8 ± 1.7	4.6 ± 2.5	3.2 ± 0.5	0.5 ± 0.2	0.8 ± 0.1
VLDLR-/-	10	6.6 ± 3.7*	1.8 ± 0.5*	$\textbf{3.3}\pm\textbf{0.3}$	$1.2 \pm 0.2^{*}$	0.9 ± 0.1
Genetically-induced of	besity					
VLDLR+/+ ob/ob	7	14.6 ± 4.2	6.5 ± 2.2	5.0 ± 0.9	0.7 ± 0.2	0.8 ± 0.1
VLDLR-/- ob/ob	7	12.9 ± 5.7	5.5 ± 0.8	5.5 ± 1.0	1.9 ± 0.7*	$1.1\pm0.1\texttt{*}$

In the diet-induced obesity group VLDLR-/- and VLDLR+/+ mice were fed a HFC diet for 17 weeks. The genetically-determined obese VLDLR-/- ob/ob and VLDLR+/+ ob/ob mice were compared at 17 weeks of age. Plasma glucose, insulin, cholesterol (TC), triglyceride (TG) and free fatty acid (FFA) levels were measured after 24 hours fasting as described in the methods section. Values represent the mean \pm SD. *P<0.05, indicating the difference between VLDLR-/- and VLDLR+/+ mice, using nonparametric Mann-Whitney tests.





Figure 3: Glucose tolerance tests in VLDLR-/and VLDLR+/+ mice on both a HFC (3A) and a chow diet (3B)

After 17 weeks of HFC or chow feeding VLDLR+/+and VLDLR-/- mice were fasted for 4 hours and then intraperitoneal injected with a glucose bolus (2g/kg). Changes in plasma glucose concentration were monitored in time. Values represent the mean \pm SD of 7 mice per group on a HFC diet and 5 mice per group on a regular chow diet. *P<0.05, indicating the difference between VLDLR-/- and VLDLR+/+ mice, using nonparametric Mann-Whitney tests. We next wanted to investigate whether the protection from insulin resistance in VLDLR-/- mice was either directly due to the absence of the VLDLR, or indirectly related to the less severe obesity in these mice. Therefore, we performed a glucose tolerance test in VLDLR-/- and VLDLR+/+ mice on a regular chow diet that were exactly matched for body weight. It is shown in Figure 3B that there were no obvious differences in glucose tolerance between VLDLR-/- and VLDLR+/+ when matched for body weight, indicating that improved insulin sensitivity in VLDLR-/- mice is directly related to reduced obesity.

To investigate whether the protection from diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance upon VLDLR deficiency was associated with changes in plasma lipid metabolism, several lipid parameters were measured in plasma after 17 weeks of HFC feeding. Plasma TG levels in VLDLR-/- mice were significantly higher than in VLDLR+/+ mice (Table 1). In contrast, no significant differences were found in plasma FFA levels. The elevated levels of plasma TG in VLDLR-/- mice were mainly due to an accumulation of TG in the VLDL-sized fractions (compare Fig. 4B with Fig. 4A). The VLDL fraction contained also more cholesterol in VLDLR-/mice compared to VLDLR+/+ mice, although there were no significant differences in plasma total cholesterol levels (Table 1).





Genotype	Food intake	Fat absorption (%)		
	g / 24 h	C16:0	C18:1	C18:2
VLDLR+/+	3.3 ± 0.9	98.8 ± 0.7	99.7 ± 0.2	99.8 ± 0.2
VLDLR-/-	2.7 ± 0.9	99.2 ± 0.3	$\textbf{99.8} \pm \textbf{0.1}$	$\textbf{99.9}\pm\textbf{0.1}$

Table 2: Food intake and fat absorption in VLDLR-/- and VLDLR+/+ mice fed a HFC diet

Food intake was monitored individually and represents the average at 17 weeks of HFC feeding. Feces were collected and food intake was measured over a period of 3 days to calculate the fat absorption by determining the kind and amount of fatty acids in both the HFC diet and the feces by GC analysis. Fat absorption is calculated as the amount of fatty acids (%) from the diet that did not appear in the feces. Values represent the mean \pm SD of 10 *VLDLR*-/- and 11 *VLDLR*+/+ mice (food intake) and 5 *VLDLR*-/- and 7 *VLDLR*+/+ mice (fat absorption).

To investigate the mechanisms underlying the protection from HFC diet-induced obesity in VLDLR-/- mice, food intake, intestinal fat absorption and whole body FFA uptake were determined. Average food intake was similar in VLDLR-/- mice compared to VLDLR+/+ mice (Table 2). As shown in Table 2, VLDLR-/- mice show almost complete absorption of the main fatty acids in the HFC diet, comparable to VLDLR+/+ mice. Turnover studies in VLDLR-/- and VLDLR+/+ mice with continuous infusion of ³H-FFA to estimate whole body FFA uptake, showed a significant reduction in the whole body FFA uptake and peripheral FFA oxidation in VLDLR-/- mice, indicative for a decreased flux of fatty acids into peripheral tissues (Fig. 5A). No significant differences in FFA whole body storage were found between VLDLR-/- and VLDLR+/+ mice (Fig. 5A). Furthermore, the appearance of ³H-FFA into plasma TG was significantly increased in VLDLR-/- mice compared to VLDLR+/+ mice (Fig. 5B).



Figure 5: Whole body free fatty acid (FFA) turnover (5A) and appearance of FFA into plasma triglycerides (TG) (5B) in *VLDLR-/-* and *VLDLR+/+* mice

After 4 weeks on the HFC diet, VLDLR+/+ and VLDLR-/- mice were continuously infused with ³H-FFA via the jugular vein (0.08 µCi/min) for 1 hour. The amount of radioactivity in plasma in the FFA and TG fraction was determined after lipid extraction and the FFA uptake, peripheral oxidation and storage were calculated as described in the methods section. Values represent the mean ± SD of 10 VLDLR-/- and 7 VLDLR+/+ mice. *P<0.05, indicating the difference between VLDLR-/- and VLDLR+/+ mice, using nonparametric Mann-Whitney tests.

We wondered whether the protection from development of obesity in VLDLR-/- mice on the HFC diet also holds true for VLDLR-/- on a genetic ob/ob background. The growth curve (Fig. 6) and gross appearance (Fig. 7A) of these mice clearly show that VLDLR-/- ob/ob mice gained less weight as compared to VLDLR+/+ ob/ob mice. These effects on weight gain were reflected by both a reduction in subcutaneous (~60%) and in visceral (~55%) adipose tissue mass in VLDLR-/- ob/ob mice (Fig. 7B). Histological analysis of epididymal fat pads (Fig. 7C) revealed that similar to HFC feeding, adipocytes from VLDLR-/- ob/ob mice were significantly smaller than those from VLDLR+/+ ob/ob mice (5682±177 vs 9860±1348 μ m2, P=0.014). Analysis of subcutaneous fat also showed a smaller average adipocyte area for VLDLR-/- ob/ob mice as compared to VLDLR+/+ ob/ob mice (results not shown).



Figure 6: Growth curves of VLDLR-/- and VLDLR+/+ mice on an *ob/ob* background

7 VLDLR-/- ob/ob and 8 VLDLR+/+ ob/ob mice were fed a regular chow diet and were weighed weekly from week 4,5 to week 17,5 after birth. Values represent the mean \pm SD. *P<0.05, indicating the difference between VLDLR-/- ob/ob and VLDLR+/+ ob/ob mice, using nonparametric Mann-Whitney tests.



Figure 7: Gross appearance and adipose tissue of *VLDLR-/- ob/ob* and *VLDLR+/+ ob/ob* mice

(7A) Typical male littermates, (7B) Subcutaneous (s) and visceral (v) adipose tissue pads, and (7C) Paraffinembedded sections of white adipose tissue.



VLDLR +/+ ob/ob VLDLR -/- ob/ob

In line with the observations in the *VLDLR-/-* mice on a HFC diet, *VLDLR-/-* ob/ob mice exhibited increased plasma TG levels compared to *VLDLR+/+* ob/ob mice (Table 1), mainly due to an accumulation of TG in the VLDL-sized fractions (compare Fig. 8*B* with Fig. 8*A*). The VLDL fraction contained also more cholesterol in *VLDLR-/-* ob/ob mice compared to *VLDLR+/+* ob/ob mice (Fig. 8). In contrast with the observations in the *VLDLR-/-* mice on a HFC diet, *VLDLR-/-* ob/ob mice had significantly higher FFA levels. No differences in plasma glucose and insulin levels were observed in *VLDLR-/-* ob/ob mice as compared to *VLDLR+/+* ob/ob mice (Table 1). A glucose tolerance test in *VLDLR-/-* ob/ob and *VLDLR+/+* ob/ob mice showed also no significant differences in glucose clearance (Fig. 9). Furthermore, no differences in food intake could be detected between *VLDLR-/-* ob/ob mice and *VLDLR+/+* ob/ob mice (6.9 \pm 1.7 vs 6.6 \pm 1.2 g/24 h, respectively).



Figure 8: Lipoprotein profiles of VLDLR+/+ (8A) and VLDLR-/- (8B) mice on an ob/ob background Plasma of VLDLR-/- ob/ob and VLDLR+/+ ob/ob mice was pooled and separated on the base of size by FPLC. The total cholesterol (TC, closed symbols) and triglyceride (TG, open symbols) content of each individual fraction was measured enzymatically, as described in the methods section.



Figure 9: Glucose tolerance tests in VLDLR-/- and VLDLR+/+ mice on an ob/ob background

At 4 months of age, VLDLR+/+ ob/ob and VLDLR-/-ob/ob mice were intraperitoneal injected with a glucose bolus (2g/kg) after 4 hours of fasting and changes in plasma glucose concentration were monitored. Values represent the mean \pm SD of 7 mice per group.

Discussion

Earlier studies have reported that VLDLR-/- mice at the age of 5 months have slightly lower body weights on both a chow and a high-sucrose diet, due to a 50% decrease in adipose tissue mass (13). However, it still remained to be determined whether this was due either to early developmental differences or to altered adipocyte FFA metabolism. In the present study, VLDLR-/- mice at the age of 6 months also display a slightly reduced body weight as compared to VLDLR+/+ controls when fed a chow diet. Strikingly, upon switching to the high fat, high caloric (HFC) diet, containing predominantly linoleic acid (corn oil), VLDLR-/- mice fail to gain any further weight. Furthermore, the average adipocyte size of VLDLR-/- mice was significantly reduced as compared to their wild-type littermates, implying a reduction in cellular TG storage. The reduction in weight gain, adipose tissue mass and adipocyte size in the absence of the VLDLR also holds true for more severe forms of obesity, as in the genetically obese *ob/ob* model (Fig. 7). Altogether, these data indicate that in the absence of the VLDLR, mice are protected from development of obesity.

We investigated four possible explanations for the protection from obesity in the absence of the VLDLR: (1) increased energy expenditure; (2) fat malabsorption; (3) decreased food intake, and (4) decreased flux of fatty acids into peripheral tissues. In *ob/ob* mice it has been shown that obesity results partly from decreased energy metabolism reflected by a strong reduction in core body temperature (20). Body temperature in *VLDLR-/-* mice was similar to that in *VLDLR*+/+ mice, both on the HFC diet as well as on the *ob/ob* background (37.0 ± 0.2 vs 37.1 ± 0.2 °C and 36.4 ± 0.6 vs 35.9 ± 0.4 °C, respectively), suggesting that the protection from obesity in the absence of the VLDLR is not likely to involve increased energy expenditure. Protection from obesity in the absence of the VLDLR is not likely due to fat malabsorption (Table 2). Furthermore, no significant differences were found with respect to food intake (Table 2).

Since the VLDLR is predominantly expressed in tissues active in FA metabolism such as the heart, muscle and adipose tissue, it is hypothesized that the VLDLR plays a role in the delivery of FA to peripheral tissues. Thus, in order to study the possibility of an altered flux of fatty acids into peripheral tissues with VLDLR deficiency, we performed FFA turnover experiments with continuous infusion of ³H-palmitate. These experiments reveal a significant reduction in whole body FFA uptake in *VLDLR-/-* mice, which was reflected by a significant decrease in the peripheral FFA oxidation (Fig. 5A). Although this method does not allow exact identification of the affected peripheral tissues, these data suggest that absence of the VLDLR may impair FA transport from the circulation into adipose tissue and, as such, may contribute to the protection from obesity.

Given the observation that VLDLR-/- mice exhibit a significant reduction in whole body FFA uptake upon palmitate infusion, the question remains to be answered as to where these fatty acids are going. Although plasma FFA levels are elevated in VLDLR-/- mice on the ob/ob background, no significant differences in plasma FFA levels were found between VLDLR-/- and VLDLR+/+ mice after 17 weeks of HFC feeding (Table 1). However, the appearance of tracer-FFA in plasma VLDL-TG is increased in VLDLR-/- mice on the HFC diet (Fig. 5B). These findings are in line with the observed hypertriglyceridemia in these mice and with recently generated data in our laboratory showing that VLDLR-/- mice crossbred onto the LDLRdeficient background exhibit elevated levels of TG as well (21). The mechanisms underlying the development of hypertriglyceridemia in VLDLR-/- mice may involve either an enhanced VLDL-TG production and/or a decrease in VLDL-TG lipolysis in peripheral tissues. Arguments in favor of an enhanced VLDL-TG production is that decreased peripheral uptake of FFA due to VLDLR deficiency will lead to an increased flux of FFA to the liver, which subsequently may result in an increased VLDL-TG production (22). However, recent studies showed that VLDLR deficiency does not affect VLDL-TG production in LDLR -/- mice (21). Argumentative for an impaired TG lipolysis is that, in coordination with LPL, the VLDLR is proposed to act as a docking protein for an efficient VLDL-TG lipolysis. LPL is the main enzyme involved in the hydrolysis of TG and has been shown to bind to the VLDLR (3, 4). Furthermore LPL stimulates the binding of lipoprotein particles to the VLDLR through a bridging function between extracellular heparan sulphate proteoglycans and lipoprotein particles (3, 4). Based on these observations, absence of the VLDLR may hamper an efficient hydrolysis of VLDL-TG so that less FFA are generated and taken up by peripheral tissues. Such a hypothesis would be in line with studies by Weinstock et al. (23), showing that decreased FFA generation due to deficiency for adipose tissue LPL impairs growth rate and adipose tissue accretion of *ob/ob* mice very similar to what we currently find for VLDLR deficiency. Taken together, the results of the present study suggest that the VLDLR plays a role in adipose tissue TG storage, possibly through regulation of the entry of VLDL-derived fatty acids into adipose tissue.

In addition to protection from diet-induced obesity, VLDLR-/- mice are also protected from diet-induced insulin resistance. This was reflected by lower plasma glucose and insulin levels as compared to VLDLR+/+ mice. Moreover, VLDLR-/- mice effectively cleared a glucose bolus that was administrated intraperitoneally, while VLDLR+/+ mice stayed hyperglycemic. Most likely, protection from insulin resistance in VLDLR -/- mice is secondary to protection from obesity, since no significant differences were found in the glucose tolerance tests between chow-fed non-obese wild-type and VLDLR-/- mice that were matched for body weight (Fig. 3B). Furthermore, no obvious improvements in insulin sensitivity or glucose handling were observed in VLDLR-/- mice on the ob/ob background (Fig. 9). These latter findings can possibly be explained by the fact that although VLDLR-/- ob/ob mice show reduced obesity as compared to VLDLR+/+ ob/ob mice, body weights are still increased compared to normal wild-type mice on a chow diet (results not shown).

The results of the current study suggest that selective inhibition of the VLDLR may prevent obesity. Previous studies have shown that RAP inhibits ligand binding to the VLDLR *in vitro* (5). Overexpression of RAP in LDLR-deficient mice causes severe hypertriglyceridemia, which was suggested to be due to an impaired clearance of TG by the LDLR-related protein (LRP) (24). However, recently generated mice that are deficient in both the LDLR and LRP exhibit significantly lower plasma TG levels compared to the LDLR single deficient mice with RAP overexpression (25), indicating the existence of an additional pathway in TG removal next to the LDLR and LRP (26). Our current results indicate that the VLDLR might represent this additional pathway. Additional evidence is presented in studies showing that, in addition to RAP, apolipoprotein C1 (ApoC1) also inhibits lipoprotein binding to the VLDLR both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (27). Similar to LDLR single deficient mice transfected with RAP, overexpression of APOC1 on the LDLR-deficient background causes a more severe hypertriglyceridemia compared to the LDLR/LRP double-deficient mice (28). Furthermore, in line with the protection from obesity in *VLDLR-/-* mice, overexpression of ApoC1 is also associated with diminished adipose tissue mass (29).

In summary, VLDLR deficiency protects mice from diet-induced as well as geneticallydetermined obesity possibly through interference with the entry of fatty acids into adipose tissue. As such these data represent the first demonstration that the VLDLR participates in the regulation of adipose tissue formation and suggests that selective inhibition of the VLDLR may offer a therapeutic target for treatment of obesity.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Wim van Duyvenvoorde, Hans van der Boom and Erik Offermans for excellent technical assistance. This research was supported by the Netherlands Foundation for Scientific Research and by the Netherlands Heart Foundation (project 903-39-192/194 and 97067, respectively).

References

- Takahashi, S., Kawarabayasi, Y., Nakai, T., Sakai, J. and Yamamoto, T. 1992. Rabbit very low density lipoprotein receptor: A low density lipoprotein receptor-like protein with distinct ligand specificity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 89: 9252-9262.
- Sakai, J., Hoshino, A., Takahashi, S., Miura, Y., Ishii, H., Suzuki, H., Kawarabayasi, Y. and Yamamoto T. 1994. Structure, chromosome location, and expression of the human very low density lipoprotein receptor gene. J. Biol. Chem. 269: 2173-2182.
- Takahashi, S., Suzuki, J., Kohno, M., Oida, K., Tamai, T., Miyabo, S., Yamamoto, T. and Nakai T. 1995. Enhancement of the binding of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins to the very low density lipoprotein receptor by apolipoprotein E and lipoprotein lipase. J. Biol. Chem. 270: 15747-15754.
- 4. Niemeier, A., Gåfvels, M., Heeren, J., Meyer, N., Angelin, B. and Beisiegel, U. 1996. VLDL receptor mediates the uptake of human chylomicron remnants in vitro. *J. Lipid. Res.* 37:1733-1742.
- Battey, F.D., Gåfvels, M.E., FitzGerald, D.J., Argraves, W.S., Chappell, D.A., Strauss, J.F., and Strickland, D.K. 1994. The 39-kDa receptor-associated protein regulates ligand binding by the very low density lipoprotein receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 269: 23268-23273.
- Argraves, K.M., Battey, F.D., MacCalman, C.D., McCrae, K.R., Gåfvels, M.E., Kozarsky, K.F., Chappell, D.A., Strauss, J.F., and Strickland, D.K. 1994. The very low density lipoprotein receptor mediates the cellular catabolism of lipoprotein lipase and urokinase-plasminogen activator inhibitor type I complexes. J. Biol. Chem. 270: 26550-26557.
- Mikhailenko, I., Krylov, D., McTigue Argraves, K., Roberts, D.D., Liau, G. and Strickland, D.K. 1997. Cellular internalization and degradation of thrombospondin-1 is mediated by the amino-terminal heparin binding domain (HBD). J. Biol. Chem. 272: 6784-6791.
- Wyne, K.L., Pathak, R.K., Seabra, M.C. and Hobbs, H.H. 1996. Expression of the VLDL Receptor in endothelial cells. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 16: 407-414.
- 9. Yamamoto, T., Takahashi, S., Sakai, J. and Kawarabayasi, Y. 1993. The very low density lipoprotein receptor. *Trends. Cardiovasc. Med.* 3: 144-148.
- Beisiegel, U. and Heeren, J. 1997. Lipoprotein lipase (EC 3.1.1.34) targeting of lipoproteins to receptors. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 56: 731-737.
- Kwok, S., Singh-Bist, A., Natu, V. and Kraemer, F.B. 1997. Dietary regulation of the very low density lipoprotein receptor in mouse heart and fat. *Horm. Metab. Res.* 10: 524-529.
- Tiebel, O., Oka, K., Robinson, K., Sullivan, M., Martinez, J., Nakamuta, M., Ishimura-Oka, K. and Chan, L. 1999. Mouse very low-density lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR): gene structure, tissue-specific expression and dietary and developmental regulation. *Atherosclerosis.* 145: 239-251.

- Frykman, P.K., Brown, M.S., Yamamoto, T., Goldstein, J.L. and Herz, J. 1995. Normal plasma lipoproteins and fertility in gene-targeted mice homozygous for a disruption in the gene encoding very low density lipoprotein receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 92: 8453-8457.
- Trommsdorff, M., Gotthardt, M., Hiesberger, T., Shelton, J., Stockinger, W., Nimpf, J., Hammer, R.E., Richardson, J.A. and Herz, J. 1999. Reeler/Disabled-like disruption of neuronal migration in knockout mice lacking the VLDL Receptor and ApoE Receptor 2. *Cell.* 97: 689-701.
- Surwit, R.S., Kuhn, C.M., Cochrane, C., McCubbin, J.A. and Feinglas, M.N. 1988. Diet-induced type II diabetes in C57BL/6J mice. *Diabetes*. 37: 1163-1167.
- Zambon, A., Hashimoto, S.I. and Brunzell, J.D. 1993. Analysis of techniques to obtain plasma for measurement of levels of free fatty acids. J. Lipid. Res. 34: 1021-1028.
- Lepage, G. and Roy, C.C. 1986. Direct transesterification of all classes of lipids in a one-step reaction. J. Lipid. Res. 27: 114-120.
- Bonadonna, R.C., Groop, L.C., Zych, K., Shank, M. and DeFronzo, R.A. 1990. Dose-dependent effect of insulin on plasma free fatty acid turnover and oxidation in humans. *Am. J. Physiol.* 259: E736-E750.
- Shimabukuro, M., Koyama, K., Chen, G., Wang, M-Y., Trieu, F., Lee, Y., Newgard, C.B. and Unger, R.U. 1997. Direct antidiabetic effect of leptin through triglyceride depletion of tissues. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA. 94: 4637-4641.
- 20. Pelleymounter, M.A., Cullen, M.J., Baker, M.B., Hecht, R., Winters, D., Boone, T., and Collins, F. 1995. Effects of the obese gene product on body weight regulation in ob/ob mice. *Science*. 269:540-543
- Tacken, P.J., Teusink, B., Jong, M.C., Havekes, L.M., Willems van Dijk, K., and Hofker, M.H. 2000. LDL receptor deficiency unmasks altered VLDL triglyceride metabolism in VLDL receptor transgenic and knockout mice. J. Lipid Res. 41: 2055-2062.
- 22. Lewis, G.F., Uffelman, K.D., Szeto, L.W., Weller, B. and Steiner, G. 1995. Interaction between free fatty acids and insulin in acute control of very-low-density lipoprotein production in humans. J. Clin. Invest. 95: 158-166.
- 23. Weinstock, P.H., Levak-Frank, S., Hudgins, L.C., Radner, H., Friedman, J.M., Zechner, R., and Breslow, J.L. 1997. Lipoprotein lipase controls fatty acid entry into adipose tissue, but fat mass is preserved by endogenous synthesis in mice deficient in adipose tissue lipoprotein lipase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* 94: 10261-10266.
- 24. Willnow, T.E., Sheng, Z., Ishibashi, S., and Herz, J. 1994. Inhibition of hepatic chylomicron remnant uptake by gene transfer of a receptor antagonist. *Science*. 264: 1471-1474.

...

- Rohlmann, A., Gotthardt, M., Hammer, R.E. and Herz, J. 1998. Inducible inactivation of hepatic LRP gene by cre-mediated recombination confirms role of LRP in clearance of chylomicron remnants. J. Clin. Invest. 101: 689-695.
- Van Vlijmen, B.J.M., Rohlmann, A., Page, S.T., Bensadoun, A., Bos, I.S.T., Van Berkel, T.J.C., Havekes, L.M., and Herz, J. 1999. An extrahepatic receptor-associated protein-sensitive mechanism is involved in the metabolism of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins. J. Biol. Chem. 274: 35219-35226.
- 27. Jong, M.C., Willems van Dijk, K., Dahlmans, V.E.H., van der Boom, H., Kobayashi, K., Oka, K., Siest, G., Chan, L., Hofker, M.H. and Havekes, L.M. 1999. Reversal of hyperlipidaemia in apolipoprotein C1 transgenic mice by adenovirus-mediated gene delivery of the low-density-lipoprotein receptor, but not by the very-low-density-lipoprotein receptor. *Biochem. J.* 338: 281-287.
- 28. Jong, M.C., Dahlmans, V.E.H., Van Gorp, P.J.J., Willems van Dijk, K., Breuer, M.L., Hofker, M.H., and Havekes, L.M. 1996. In the absence of the low density lipoprotein receptor, human apolipoprotein C1 overexpression in transgenic mice inhibits the hepatic uptake of very low density lipoproteins via a receptor-associated protein-sensitive pathway. J. Clin. Invest. 98: 2259-2267.
- Jong, M.C., Gijbels, M.J.J., Dahlmans, V.E.H., van Gorp, P.J.J., Koopman, S.-J., Ponec, M., Hofker, M.H. and Havekes, L.H. 1998. Hyperlipidemia and cutaneous abnormalities in transgenic mice overexpressing human apolipoprotein C1. J. Clin. Invest. 101: 145-152.

CHAPTER 5

VLDL receptor deficiency enhances intimal thickening after vascular injury but does not affect atherosclerotic lesion area

P. J. Tacken, D. J. M. Delsing[¶], M. J. J. Gijbels, P. H. A. Quax[¶], L. M. Havekes^{¶†}, M. H. Hofker^{*)}, K. Willems van Dijk

Department of Human and Clinical Genetics, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden; [¶]TNO Prevention and Health, Gaubius Laboratory, Leiden; [†]Departments of Cardiology and Internal Medicine, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden; ^{*}) Present address: Cardiovascular Research Institute Maastricht, Maastricht, The Netherlands

(Submitted)

Chapter 5

Abstract

The very low density lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR) has been shown to modulate cell migration and foam cell formation in vitro. This suggests a role for the VLDLR in vascular pathology associated with intimal thickening and atherogenesis. In the present paper both intimal thickening and atherosclerosis were studied using VLDLR knockout and transgenic mouse models. The role of the VLDLR in intimal thickening was established in an in vivo model for vascular injury. A non-restrictive cuff was placed around the femoral artery of VLDLR deficient (VLDLR-/-), heterozygous deficient (VLDLR+/-) and wild type (WT) mice. Intimal thickening was assessed after 3 weeks by determining the intima to media (I/M) volume ratio. Both VLDLR-/- (I/M ratio 42%) and VLDLR+/- (I/M ratio 40%) mice showed a significant increase as compared to WT littermates (I/M ratio 25%). The effect of VLDLR deficiency on atherosclerosis was examined in VLDLR-/- mice on an LDLR deficient (LDLR-/-) background. In addition, we assessed whether increased endothelial VLDLR expression levels affect atherosclerotic lesion formation. Therefore, atheroslcerosis was studied in LDLR deficient mice that overexpress the VLDLR in endothelial cells (PVL:LDLR-/-). Both VLDLR deficiency and endothelial VLDLR overexpression did not affect atherosclerotic lesion size. Interestingly, VLDLR-/-: LDLR-/- mice showed a high incidence of necrosis in both fatty streaks and atherosclerotic plaques as compared to LDLR-/- mice (75% vs. 0% and 76% vs. 45%, respectively). In conclusion, deficiency for the VLDLR profoundly increased intimal thickening after vascular injury.

Introduction

The very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) receptor (VLDLR) is a multi ligand receptor that belongs to the low density lipoprotein receptor (LDLR) family. The VLDLR has been described to bind apolipoprotein E (apoE) rich VLDL (1, 2) and lipoprotein lipase (3), while VLDLR deficient (*VLDLR-/-*) mice reveal a moderate decrease in adipose tissue mass. This suggests a role for the VLDLR in lipid metabolism (4). In addition, the VLDLR binds a number of ligands which are not directly linked to lipoprotein metabolism, including receptor associated protein (RAP) (5), reelin (6), urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA)/plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI)-1 complex (7) and several other proteinase/serpin complexes (8). Binding of reelin to the VLDLR has been hypothesized to be important for correct regulation of neuronal migration in the developing brain. *VLDLR-/-* mice that are also deficient for the apolipoprotein E receptor 2 display marked malformation of both cerebral cortex and cerebellum (9).

The VLDLR is most abundantly expressed in heart, skeletal muscle and adipose tissue (10-14). VLDLR expression is localized in endothelial and smooth muscle cells of arteries and veins, and has also been detected in neointimal smooth muscle cells and macrophage derived foam cells (15, 16). *In vitro* studies have suggested a role for the VLDLR in smooth muscle cell migration (17-19) and foam cell formation (20). Thus, the VLDLR could play a role in vascular

pathology associated with intimal thickening leading to and restenosis, and lipid accumulation leading to atherosclerosis.

Intimal thickening is a characteristic arterial response to injury, caused by migration of smooth muscle cells from the media into the intima. Intimal thickening plays a role in restenosis and the development of atherosclerotic lesions (21). In the present paper, intimal thickening has been studied in *VLDLR-/-*, VLDLR heterozygous knockout (*VLDLR+/-*) and wild type mice using a model for vascular injury. This model consists of placement of a nonocclusive cuff around the femoral artery, which has been reported to lead to reproducible intimal growth (22).

In addition to investigating its role in intimal thickening, we have examined the role of the VLDLR in atherosclerosis. The VLDLR could contribute to atherosclerotic lesion formation in several ways, such as mediating neointimal thickening by smooth muscle cells, facilitating lipid loading of macrophages and smooth muscle cells and mediating binding, uptake and/or transcytosis of VLDL by endothelial cells. Interestingly, induction of atherosclerotic lesion formation by feeding of a cholesterol-rich diet has been reported to lead to a marked induction of rabbit aortic VLDLR expression levels (16). In the present paper, the effect of VLDLR deficiency on lesion formation was tested in a mouse model for atherosclerosis, the LDLR deficient (*LDLR-/-*) mouse (23, 24). In addition, we have tested the hypothesis by Wyne et al, suggesting that the endothelial VLDLR mediates atherosclerotic lesion formation was studied on an LDLR deficient background in transgenic mice overexpressing the VLDLR in the endothelium (PVL) (26). PVL mice carry the human VLDLR gene under control of the preproendothelin-1 promoter, which drives expression in endothelial cells (27).

The results of the present study demonstrate that VLDLR deficiency leads to a profound increase in cuff induced intimal thickening by smooth muscle cells. VLDLR deficiency and endothelial VLDLR overexpression did not affect lesion size or smooth muscle cell composition of the plaque. However, *VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/-* mice showed a relatively high number of necrotic lesions when compared to *LDLR-/-* mice.

Methods

Animals

VLDLR-/- mice were purchased from Jackson (Bar Harbor, Maine, USA). VLDLR-/mice were bred to C57Bl6/J to produce VLDLR+/- mice. VLDLR+/- mice were bred to produce VLDLR-/-, VLDLR+/- and wild type mice for the neointima experiments. Experiments were performed using 10-12 weeks old male mice.

VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- and LDLR-/- male littermates and PVL;LDLR-/- and LDLR-/- female littermates were generated as was described before (26). At ten weeks of age, mice were put on a high fat diet, containing 0.25% cholesterol (Hope Farms, Woerden, The Netherlands), for 8 weeks. Subsequently the mice were sacrificed by cervical dislocation.

Femoral artery cuff placement

12 VLDLR-/-, 9 VLDLR+/- and 14 wild type mice were anesthetized with Hypnorm (Bayer, Leverkusen, Germany, 25 mg/kg) and Dormicum (Roche, Basel, Switzerland, 25 mg/kg) i.p. The right femoral artery was dissected from its surroundings and a non-restrictive polyethylene cuff (0.28 mm inner diameter, 0.61 outer diameter and 1.5 mm length, Portex, Hythe, Great Britain), was placed loosely around it (22). After 3 weeks, mice were anesthetized with Hypnorm/Dormicum and the thorax was opened. Mild pressure perfusion with Zinc Formal-FixxTM (dilution 1:4, Shandon Inc., Pittsburgh, PA, USA) was performed by cardiac puncture for 10 minutes. Subsequently, the femoral artery was harvested, fixated overnight in 3.7% formaldehyde in phosphate buffered saline and paraffin-embedded. Serial cross sections (5 μ m) were cut throughout the entire length of the cuff.

Morphometry

Six cross sections in the middle of the cuff, each at a 50 μ m interval, were used for analysis. Sections were stained with Weigert's elastin staining to visualize the elastic laminae. Image analysis software (Leica, Solms, Germany) was used to measure total cross sectional medial area between the external and internal elastic lamina. Total cross sectional intimal area was measured between the endothelial cell monolayer and the internal elastic lamina.

Atherosclerosis experiments

After receiving the high fat diet for 8 weeks, mice were fasted for 4 hours. Subsequently they were anesthetized and blood samples were collected by eye bleeding. Total serum cholesterol and triglyceride concentrations (without free glycerol) were measured enzymatically using commercial test kits (kit no. 236691 from Boehringer Mannheim GmbH, Mannheim, Germany, and kit no. 337-B from Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA respectively). Subsequently mice were sacrificed and the heart was removed, cutting the aorta just above the atria. The heart was bisected perpendicular to the heart axis below the atrial tips, fixated in 4% formaldehyde and paraffin-embedded. Serial cross sections of 5 μ m were cut throughout the entire length of the atrioventricular valve area. Three cross sections from this area were used for measuring lesion area by computer-aided morphometry (Kontron-Videoplan, Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany). Lesions were examined microscopically for the degree of monocytic infiltration, fibrosis, necrosis and granulocyte infiltration. Furthermore, the number of fatty streaks and plaques displaying necrosis were determined.

Immunohistochemistry

Smooth muscle cells were visualized by α -smooth muscle actin staining (dilution 1:1500, Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA). The primary antibody was detected with a peroxidelabeled rabbit anti-mouse antibody (dilution 1:300, Dako, Denmark). Macrophages were visualized using the rabbit AIA31240 antibody (dilution 1:5000, Accurate Chemical, New York, NY, USA). The primary antibody was detected with a biotinylated goat anti-rabbit antibody (Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Tilburg, The Netherlands). 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB, Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA) was used as chromagen for both macrophage and smooth muscle cell staining. Sections were counterstained either with hematoxylin or hematoxilin-phloxine-saffron (HPS).

Statistics

Data were reported as mean \pm S.D. The Student's t-test was used to compare groups to their controls. P-values less than 0.05 were regarded significant.

Results

Intimal thickening

To determine the effect of the VLDLR on intimal thickening, a cuff was placed around the femoral artery of VLDLR-/-, VLDLR+/- and wild type mice. Three weeks later, the cuffs were harvested and analyzed. Figure 1 shows examples of Weigert's elastin stained sections of cuffed femoral arteries from VLDLR-/- (A) and wild type (B) mice, as were used for morphometric analysis. Thick cell layers were present in the subendothelial intimal region of femoral arteries of VLDLR-/- and VLDLR+/- mice, whereas these cell layers were relatively thin in wild type mice. Immunohistochemical analysis revealed that the subendothelial cell layers of the intima consisted exclusively of smooth muscle cells (Figure 1C). Morphometric analysis of the cuffs showed a significant increase in intimal thickening in VLDLR-/- (I/M ratio 42%) and VLDLR+/- (I/M ratio 40%) mice as compared to wild type (I/M ratio 25%) littermates (figure 2).







Figure 1. Histological analysis of femoral arteries after injury

Intimal thickening was analyzed in femoral artery, 3 weeks after cuff placement. Femoral artery sections of VLDLR-/- (A) and WT (B) mice were stained with Weigert's elastin staining to visualize internal elastic lamina (arrows) and tunica media (arrowheads). The subendothelial intimal cell layer of the neointima consists of smooth muscle cells, as was visualized by (dark gray) α -smooth muscle actin staining (C).



Figure 2. Intima/media ratio after vascular injury

Intima to media ratio was determined three weeks after cuff placement in 12 VLDLR-/- (-/-), 9 VLDLR+/- (+/-) and 14 wild type (WT) mice, as described in methods.

* = significantly different from WT littermates (P<0.05), using the Student's t-test.

Serum lipid levels

To assess the role of the VLDLR in atheroslcerosis, VLDLR-/- and PVL mice were crossbred with LDLR-/- mice to generate VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- and PVL;LDLR-/- mice. After feeding of an atherogenic diet all animals were hypercholesterolemic (table I). No significant differences in serum cholesterol levels were detected between VLDLR deficient or overexpressing mice and their control groups. Serum triglyceride levels in PVL;LDLR-/- mice were significantly lower than in LDLR-/- control animals, as was described before (paper submitted). In contrast, no difference in serum triglyceride levels was found between VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- mice and LDLR-/- controls (table I).

Table I: Serum cholesterol and triglyceride levels of the different mouse models after receiving an atherogenic diet

	Ň	Sex	Cholesterol (mM)	Triglycerides (mM)
VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/-	8	M	25.7 ± 5.6	7.5 ± 2.4
LDLR-/-	11	Μ	25.5 ± 5.9	6.4 ± 3.2
PVL; <i>LDLR-/-</i>	16	F	47.2 ± 10.3	1.7 ± 0.5*
LDLR-/-	20	F	49.9 ± 10.1	3.5 ± 1.7

Serum cholesterol and triglyceride concentrations were measured in the different mouse strains. Lipid levels were measured in mice that were fasted for 4 hours. Mice were kept on a high fat diet for 8 weeks. Values shown are means \pm S.D., * = significantly different from LDLR-/- controls (P<0.05), using the Student's t-test.

Atherosclerosis

After 8 weeks of feeding an atherogenic diet, atherosclerosis was quantified in the aortic root area. Both VLDLR deficiency and endothelial VLDLR overexpression had no significant effect on atherosclerotic lesion area (figure 3). However, *VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/-* mice displayed a

high incidence of plaques with necrosis when compared to *LDLR-/-* littermates (Table II, figure 4A and 4B). Moreover, necrosis was detected in the majority of fatty streaks of *VLDLR-/-*;*LDLR-/-* mice and was absent in fatty streaks of *LDLR-/-* controls (Table II, figure 4C). Necrosis in lesions of *VLDLR-/-*;*LDLR-/-*mice was often accompanied by granulocyte infiltration (figure 4C). Immunohistochemical analysis of the lesions revealed that necrosis occurred in the macrophage rich areas (figure 4D). In the cuff experiments, *VLDLR-/-* mice showed enhanced intimal thickening as compared to wild type littermates, implying an increase in smooth muscle cell infiltration of the intima. To detect possible changes in smooth muscle cell infiltration for actin (figure 4A and 4B). No differences were found in smooth muscle cell number and location between atherosclerotic plaques of both groups.



Figure 3. Atherosclerotic lesion area

Top panel shows the mean atherosclerotic lesion area (\pm S.D.) as determined in 8 *VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/-* and 11 *LDLR-/-* littermates that were fed a high fat diet. Lower panel shows the mean atherosclerotic lesion area (\pm S.D.) as determined in 16 PVL;*LDLR-/-* and 20 *LDLR-/-* littermates that were fed a high fat diet.

Chapter 5

Table II: Necrosis in atherosclerotic lesions

	Fatty Streak	Plaque
VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/-	9/12** (75%)	19/25* (76%)
LDLR-/-	0/15 (0%)	13/31 (45%)

Values shown are number of necrotic lesions from total, as determined in 8 *VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/-* mice and 11 *LDLR-/-* littermates. Values between brackets represent percentage of necrotic lesions from total. *= significantly different from *LDLR-/-* littermates using Fisher's exact test (P<0.05).



Figure 4. Histological analysis of atherosclerotic plaques

 α -Smooth muscle actin staining of heart sections of *VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/-* mice (A) and *LDLR-/-* littermates (B). Smooth muscle cell distribution does not differ in both plaques. *VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/-* plaque is severely necrotic (arrowheads). Panel (C) shows a AIA31240 macrophage (brown) staining of a *VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/-* plaque (same plaque as depicted in panel A). Panel (D) shows necrosis (arrowheads) and granulocyte infiltration (arrow) characteristic for fatty streaks of *VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/-* mice.

Discussion

In the present study, the role of the VLDLR in initial thickening and atherosclerosis was studied in mice. A non-occlusive cuff model to induce vascular injury in mice was used to examine the effect of the VLDLR on intimal thickening. *VLDLR+/-* and *VLDLR-/-* mice both showed a profound increase in intimal thickening when compared to wild type controls. VLDLR deficiency did not affect atherosclerotic lesion size in *LDLR-/-* mice that were fed an atherogenic diet. However, *VLDLR-/-*;*LDLR-/-* mice did show a high incidence of lesions with necrosis when compared to *LDLR-/-* controls. Endothelial overexpression of the VLDLR in *LDLR-/-* mice did not influence the atherosclerotic process.

After cuff treatment in the intimal thickening studies, smooth muscle cells were present in the subendothelial intimal region of the femoral arteries. Therefore, smooth muscle cells must have migrated across the internal elastic lamina. Furthermore, immunohistological analysis revealed proliferating smooth muscle cells in the intima (data not shown). Taken together, these results suggest the VLDLR inhibits smooth muscle cell migration and/or proliferation. Lipoprotein receptors, including VLDLR and LDLR related protein (LRP), have been reported before to modulate cell migration *in vitro* (17, 28, 29). Similar to what we found *in vivo*, these studies showed an increase in cell migration when either the VLDLR or LRP are blocked or absent. In contrast, *in vitro* studies using RAP to neutralize both VLDLR and LRP function in smooth muscle cells revealed an inhibitory (18, 19) or no effect (30) on cell migration. The mechanisms underlying these apparent contrasting effects of lipoprotein receptor function on cell migration remain to be elucidated.

In addition to intimal thickening, we examined the role of the VLDLR in atherosclerotic lesion formation, using *LDLR-/-* mice as a model for atherosclerosis. Endothelial VLDLR overexpression decreased serum triglyceride levels of *LDLR-/-* females fed a high fat diet, as has been reported previously (26). In contrast to the situation in female mice (26), VLDLR deficiency did not lead to an increase in serum triglyceride levels of male *VLDLR-/-*;*LDLR-/-* mice fed a high fat diet, suggesting a sex difference in the response of serum triglycerides to VLDL deficiency.

Lipoprotein receptors, including the VLDLR, have been hypothesized to play a role in atherosclerosis by mediating lipid loading of smooth muscle cells and macrophages (for review see (31)). The VLDLR is not downregulated by intracellular cholesterol (2, 20), and induces lipid loading and foam cell formation *in vitro* (20). Remarkably, we found no effect of VLDLR deficiency on the mean atherosclerotic lesion area in *LDLR-/-* mice, suggesting the VLDLR does not play an essential role in atherosclerotic foam cell formation.

Smooth muscle cell mediated intimal thickening has been proposed to play a role in atherosclerotic neointima formation (21). In our studies, histological analysis revealed no differences in smooth muscle cell presence in atherosclerotic lesions between *VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/-* mice and *LDLR-/-* controls. Thus the role of the VLDLR in smooth muscle cell mediated intimal thickening found in response to vascular injury could not be established for atherosclerotic neointima formation.

Remarkably, VLDLR deficiency led to a high incidence of plaques displaying necrosis in macrophage rich areas, which was often accompanied by infiltration of granulocytes. Furthermore, necrosis was found in the majority of fatty streaks of *VLDLR;LDLR-/-* mice, while it was not found in fatty streaks of *LDLR-/-* mice. These results indicate that certain cells, probably macrophages, become necrotic more rapidly in the absence of the VLDLR. The nature of the mechanism underlying this increase in necrosis remains to be elucidated.

Similar to VLDLR deficiency, endothelial VLDLR overexpression did not affect atherosclerotic lesion size in *LDLR-/-* mice. These results do not support the hypothesis that the VLDLR mediates development of atherosclerosis by contributing to lipoprotein transport into the vessel wall. Furthermore, no differences were detected between the composition of atherosclerotic lesions of PVL;*LDLR-/-* mice and *LDLR-/-* controls. Thus no evidence was found to support a role for the endothelial VLDLR in atherosclerosis.

In summary, we demonstrated a profound stimulatory effect of VLDLR deficiency on intimal thickening after vascular injury. Expression modulation of the VLDLR in *LDLR-/-* mice did not affect atherosclerotic lesion size. However, VLDLR deficiency markedly enhanced necrosis of cells, both in early and advanced lesions.

Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the Netherlands Heart Foundation. Marten Hofker is an Established Investigator of the Netherlands Heart Foundation.

References

- Takahashi, S., Kawarabayasi, Y., Nakai, T., Sakai, J., and Yamamoto, T. Rabbit very low density lipoprotein receptor: a low density lipoprotein receptor-like protein with distinct ligand specificity, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 89: 9252-6, 1992.
- Sakai, J., Hoshino, A., Takahashi, S., Miura, Y., Ishii, H., Suzuki, H., Kawarabayasi, Y., and Yamamoto, T. Structure, chromosome location, and expression of the human very low density lipoprotein receptor gene, J Biol Chem. 269: 2173-82, 1994.
- Takahashi, S., Suzuki, J., Kohno, M., Oida, K., Tamai, T., Miyabo, S., Yamamoto, T., and Nakai, T. Enhancement of the binding of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins to the very low density lipoprotein receptor by apolipoprotein E and lipoprotein lipase, J Biol Chem. 270: 15747-54, 1995.
- Frykman, P. K., Brown, M. S., Yamamoto, T., Goldstein, J. L., and Herz, J. Normal plasma lipoproteins and fertility in gene-targeted mice homozygous for a disruption in the gene encoding very low density lipoprotein receptor, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 92: 8453-7, 1995.
- Battey, F. D., Gafvels, M. E., FitzGerald, D. J., Argraves, W. S., Chappell, D. A., Strauss, J. F., 3rd, and Strickland, D. K. The 39-kDa receptor-associated protein regulates ligand binding by the very low density lipoprotein receptor, J Biol Chem. 269: 23268-73, 1994.
- Hiesberger, T., Trommsdorff, M., Howell, B. W., Goffinet, A., Mumby, M. C., Cooper, J. A., and Herz, J. Direct binding of Reelin to VLDL receptor and ApoE receptor 2 induces tyrosine phosphorylation of disabled-1 and modulates tau phosphorylation, Neuron. 24: 481-9, 1999.
- Argraves, K. M., Battey, F. D., MacCalman, C. D., McCrae, K. R., Gafvels, M., Kozarsky, K. F., Chappell, D. A., Strauss, J. F., 3rd, and Strickland, D. K. The very low density lipoprotein receptor

mediates the cellular catabolism of lipoprotein lipase and urokinase-plasminogen activator inhibitor type I complexes, J Biol Chem. 270: 26550-7, 1995.

- Kasza, A., Petersen, H. H., Heegaard, C. W., Oka, K., Christensen, A., Dubin, A., Chan, L., and Andreasen, P. A. Specificity of serine proteinase/serpin complex binding to very-low- density lipoprotein receptor and alpha2-macroglobulin receptor/low- density-lipoprotein-receptor-related protein, Eur J Biochem. 248: 270-81, 1997.
- Trommsdorff, M., Gotthardt, M., Hiesberger, T., Shelton, J., Stockinger, W., Nimpf, J., Hammer, R. E., Richardson, J. A., and Herz, J. Reeler/Disabled-like disruption of neuronal migration in knockout mice lacking the VLDL receptor and ApoE receptor 2, Cell. 97: 689-701, 1999.
- Oka, K., Ishimura-Oka, K., Chu, M. J., Sullivan, M., Krushkal, J., Li, W. H., and Chan, L. Mouse verylow-density-lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR) cDNA cloning, tissue-specific expression and evolutionary relationship with the low- density-lipoprotein receptor, Eur J Biochem. 224: 975-82, 1994.
- 11. Gafvels, M. E., Paavola, L. G., Boyd, C. O., Nolan, P. M., Wittmaack, F., Chawla, A., Lazar, M. A., Bucan, M., Angelin, B. O., and Strauss, J. F., 3rd Cloning of a complementary deoxyribonucleic acid encoding the murine homolog of the very low density lipoprotein/apolipoprotein-E receptor: expression pattern and assignment of the gene to mouse chromosome 19, Endocrinology. 135: 387-94, 1994.
- Tiebel, O., Oka, K., Robinson, K., Sullivan, M., Martinez, J., Nakamuta, M., Ishimura-Oka, K., and Chan, L. Mouse very low-density lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR): gene structure, tissue-specific expression and dietary and developmental regulation, Atherosclerosis. 145: 239-51, 1999.
- Webb, J. C., Patel, D. D., Jones, M. D., Knight, B. L., and Soutar, A. K. Characterization and tissuespecific expression of the human 'very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) receptor' mRNA, Hum Mol Genet. 3: 531-7, 1994.
- Gafvels, M. E., Caird, M., Britt, D., Jackson, C. L., Patterson, D., and Strauss, J. F. d. Cloning of a cDNA encoding a putative human very low density lipoprotein/apolipoprotein E receptor and assignment of the gene to chromosome 9pter-p23, Somat Cell Mol Genet. 19: 557-69, 1993.
- 15. Multhaupt, H. A., Gafvels, M. E., Kariko, K., Jin, H., Arenas-Elliot, C., Goldman, B. I., Strauss, J. F., 3rd, Angelin, B., Warhol, M. J., and McCrae, K. R. Expression of very low density lipoprotein receptor in the vascular wall. Analysis of human tissues by in situ hybridization and immunohistochemistry, Am J Pathol. 148: 1985-97, 1996.
- Hiltunen, T. P., Luoma, J. S., Nikkari, T., and Yla-Herttuala, S. Expression of LDL receptor, VLDL receptor, LDL receptor-related protein, and scavenger receptor in rabbit atherosclerotic lesions: marked induction of scavenger receptor and VLDL receptor expression during lesion development, Circulation. 97: 1079-86, 1998.
- Webb, D. J., Nguyen, D. H., Sankovic, M., and Gonias, S. L. The very low density lipoprotein receptor regulates urokinase receptor catabolism and breast cancer cell motility in vitro, J Biol Chem. 274: 7412-20, 1999.
- Okada, S. S., Grobmyer, S. R., and Barnathan, E. S. Contrasting effects of plasminogen activators, urokinase receptor, and LDL receptor-related protein on smooth muscle cell migration and invasion, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 16: 1269-76, 1996.
- Wijnberg, M. J., Quax, P. H., Nieuwenbroek, N. M., and Verheijen, J. H. The migration of human smooth muscle cells in vitro is mediated by plasminogen activation and can be inhibited by alpha2-macroglobulin receptor associated protein, Thromb Haemost. 78: 880-6, 1997.
- Suzuki, J., Takahashi, S., Oida, K., Shimada, A., Kohno, M., Tamai, T., Miyabo, S., Yamamoto, T., and Nakai, T. Lipid accumulation and foam cell formation in Chinese hamster ovary cells overexpressing very low density lipoprotein receptor, Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 206: 835-42, 1995.
- De Meyer, G. R. and Bult, H. Mechanisms of neointima formation--lessons from experimental models, Vasc Med. 2: 179-89, 1997.
- Moroi, M., Zhang, L., Yasuda, T., Virmani, R., Gold, H. K., Fishman, M. C., and Huang, P. L. Interaction of genetic deficiency of endothelial nitric oxide, gender, and pregnancy in vascular response to injury in mice, J Clin Invest. 101: 1225-32, 1998.

- Ishibashi, S., Brown, M. S., Goldstein, J. L., Gerard, R. D., Hammer, R. E., and Herz, J. Hypercholesterolemia in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice and its reversal by adenovirusmediated gene delivery, J Clin Invest. 92: 883-93, 1993.
- Ishibashi, S., Goldstein, J. L., Brown, M. S., Herz, J., and Burns, D. K. Massive xanthomatosis and atherosclerosis in cholesterol-fed low density lipoprotein receptor-negative mice, J Clin Invest. 93: 1885-93, 1994.
- Wyne, K. L., Pathak, K., Seabra, M. C., and Hobbs, H. H. Expression of the VLDL receptor in endothelial cells, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 16: 407-15, 1996.
- Tacken, P. J., Teusink, B., Jong, M. C., Harats, D., Havekes, L. M., Willems van Dijk, K., Hofker, M. H. LDL receptor deficiency unmasks altered triglyceride metabolism in VLDL receptor transgenic and knockout mice, J. Lipid Res. 41: 2055-2062, 2000.
- Harats, D., Kurihara, H., Belloni, P., Oakley, H., Ziober, A., Ackley, D., Cain, G., Kurihara, Y., Lawn, R., and Sigal, E. Targeting gene expression to the vascular wall in transgenic mice using the murine preproendothelin-1 promoter, J Clin Invest. 95: 1335-44, 1995.
- Webb, D. J., Nguyen, D. H., and Gonias, S. L. Extracellular signal-regulated kinase functions in the urokinase receptor-dependent pathway by which neutralization of low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein promotes fibrosarcoma cell migration and matrigel invasion, J Cell Sci. 113: 123-34, 2000.
- 29. Weaver, A. M., Hussaini, I. M., Mazar, A., Henkin, J., and Gonias, S. L. Embryonic fibroblasts that are genetically deficient in low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein demonstrate increased activity of the urokinase receptor system and accelerated migration on vitronectin, J Biol Chem. 272: 14372-9, 1997.
- Degryse, B., Resnati, M., Rabbani, S. A., Villa, A., Fazioli, F., and Blasi, F. Src-dependence and pertussistoxin sensitivity of urokinase receptor- dependent chemotaxis and cytoskeleton reorganization in rat smooth muscle cells, Blood. 94: 649-62, 1999.
- Hiltunen, T. P. and Yla-Herttuala, S. Expression of lipoprotein receptors in atherosclerotic lesions, Atherosclerosis. 137 Suppl: S81-8, 1998.

CHAPTER 6

VLDL binding to the apolipoprotein E receptor 2 is enhanced by lipoprotein lipase and does not require apolipoprotein E

P. J. Tacken, F. de Beer[†], L. C. van Vark[†], L. M. Havekes^{†‡}, M. H. Hofker^{*)}, K. Willems van Dijk

Department of Human and Clinical Genetics, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden; [†] TNO-PG, Gaubius Laboratory, Leiden; [‡] Departments of Cardiology and General Internal Medicine, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden; ^{*}) Present address: Cardiovascular Research Institute Maastricht, Maastricht, The Netherlands

(Biochem J. (2000), 347; p357-361)

-

Chapter 6

Abstract

The apolipoprotein (apo) E receptor 2 (apoER2) is a recently cloned member of the low density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor (LDLR) family, showing a high homology with the LDLR and the very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) receptor (VLDLR). In the present study the binding characteristics of the apoER2 with respect to apoE and lipoprotein lipase (LPL) were investigated. Therefore, VLDL was isolated from apoE deficient mice, and from mice expressing the human APOE2 (Arg158-Cvs) and APOE3-Leiden isoforms on an Apoe-/- and Ldlr-/- double knockout background. ApoE rich rabbit B-VLDL was used as a positive control for binding. Binding experiments using Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells expressing the human apoER2 showed, that the receptor was able to bind VLDL containing either of both apoE isoforms, as well as the apoE deficient VLDL. Hence, in contrast to the VLDL receptor, the apoER2 is not strictly dependent on apoE for VLDL binding. Since LPL has been described to enhance the binding of lipoproteins to several members of the LDLR family, including the LDL receptor related protein (LRP), VLDL receptor, gp330 and the LDLR itself, VLDL binding experiments were performed in the presence of LPL. Addition of LPL resulted in a significant increase in apoER2 binding for all VLDL fractions used in this study. In conclusion, lipoprotein binding of VLDL to the apoER2 is enhanced in the presence of LPL, and is not restricted to apoE containing lipoproteins.

Introduction

The apolipoprotein (apo) E receptor 2 (apoER2) was initially cloned from a human placenta cDNA library on the basis of homology to the coated pit signaling domain of the low density lipoprotein receptor (LDLR) family members (1). It shows high homology to the LDLR and very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) receptor (VLDLR), even up to the level of the positioning of the exon/intron boundaries of the genes (2). *In vitro*, the human apoER2 binds and internalizes apoE rich rabbit β -VLDL with high affinity. The affinity for human VLDL and LDL is much lower. In humans, apoER2 expression has been detected in brain and placenta, while in rabbits expression has been found in brain, testis and ovary (1). LR8b, the chicken homologue of the apoER2, is specifically expressed in brain, and binds and internalizes the activated form of α_2 macroglobulin (3, 4). Recent findings suggest a role for the apoER2 in transmitting extracellular signals to intra-cellular signaling processes in a molecular pathway that regulates neuronal migration during fetal brain development (5). ApoE has been hypothesized to play a role in modulating this signaling pathway. Since apoER2 expression levels remain high in the adult brain, it seems likely that the apoER2 is also involved in other physiologically relevant processes.

ApoE plays a key role in the lipid metabolism as a ligand for receptor mediated uptake of apoE containing lipoproteins. It is involved in the clearance of chylomicrons, VLDL and intermediate density lipoprotein (IDL) by the liver. In addition, apoE plays a role in reverse cholesterol transport (for reviews see (6, 7)), VLDL production (8) and VLDL triacylglycerol lipolysis (9). Despite extensive knowledge of the functions of apoE in lipoprotein metabolism, the role of apoE in the lipid metabolism of the brain is poorly understood. ApoE is synthesized and secreted in high levels by astrocytes, and is found incorporated in phospholipid discoid particles and apoE enriched HDL residing in the cerebrospinal fluid (10). These lipoprotein particles are thought to be taken up by brain cells via receptor mediated endocytosis, a process in which apoE receptors of the LDL receptor family such as the apoER2 could play a role.

LPL is the principal enzyme responsible for hydrolysis of triacylglycerols of circulating lipoproteins. Like apoE, LPL is present in the brain, and is expressed in a number of cell types including neurons in the hippocampus, Purkinje cells of the cerebellum, and cells deep within the cortex (11). In addition to its lipolytic activity, LPL can enhance VLDL catabolism by performing a bridging function between extra-cellular heparan sulfate proteoglycans and the lipoprotein particle, leading to rapid internalization via receptor mediated pathways (12-14). LPL can also bind directly to lipoprotein receptors of the LDLR family, and perform a bridging function between the lipoprotein particle and the receptor (15-23). Whether LPL performs similar functions in the brain remains to be elucidated.

To study the ligand binding characteristics of the apoER2, we analyzed the effect of different apoE variants on the binding of lipoproteins to the apoER2. VLDL was isolated from APOE2 mice on an *Apoe-/-;Ldlr-/-* double knockout background. VLDL was also isolated from APOE3Leiden mice on an *Apoe-/-;Ldlr-/-* double knockout background. The APOE3Leiden variant contains a tandem duplication of codons 120-126, and is associated with a dominant inheritance of Familial Dysbetalipoproteinemia (24, 25). Both VLDL fractions bound to the apoER2 with high affinity. VLDL from *Apoe-/-* mice also bound to the apoER2, showing that apoER2 binding is not restricted to apoE containing lipoproteins. In addition, the effect of LPL on binding of the VLDL fractions to the apoER2 was analyzed. *In vitro* binding studies revealed that LPL enhanced binding of all VLDL fractions to the apoER2 significantly.

Methods

Mice

Ldlr-/- mice were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, Maine, USA). Transgenic mice expressing human APOE2 and APOE3-Leiden in the absence of endogenous mouse apoE have been described previously (26). Ldlr-/-, Apoe-/-, APOE2 and APOE3-Leiden genotype was confirmed by PCR analysis on tailtip DNA, as described earlier (27, 28). Mice were fed ad lib a regular chow diet (SRM-A: Hope Farms, Woerden, The Netherlands).

Immunoblotting

Membrane protein fractions of both apoER2 transfected and control CHO cell lines were isolated. Cells were lysed on ice by incubation in 150 mM NaCl, 10 mM EDTA, 100 mM Tris (pH 8.0), 1% (v/v) NP-40 and a protease inhibitor cocktail tablet CompleteTM, Mini (Boehringer Mannheim, Mannheim, Germany) in water. Cell extracts were subjected to SDS-PAGE on a 6% (w/v) gel under non-reducing conditions, and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes by

Chapter 6

electrophoresis. Filters were blocked for 1 hour in 3% (w/v) dried non-fat milk, 2% (v/v) normal goat serum and 0.05% Tween 20 (v/v) in phosphate buffered saline (blocking buffer). The membranes were then incubated in blocking buffer containing a 3000-fold dilution of the antiserum for 1 hour. Subsequently the membranes were washed 3 times in blocking buffer and incubated with a 1000-fold diluted goat anti-rabbit IgG horseradish peroxidase conjugate (Promega, Madison, USA) in blocking buffer for 30 minutes. The membranes were then washed three times in blocking buffer and 2 times in phosphate buffered saline. Antibody binding was visualized by using the ECL detection kit (Amersham, Amersham, UK).

Antiserum

The antiserum is a rabbit polyclonal antiserum generated against a synthetic peptide (EKDQFQCRN) corresponding to a segment of the first repeat of the binding domain of the apoER2, as described by Sun and Soutar (29).

Lipoprotein and LPL isolation

After a 5 hour fasting period, blood was collected from *Apoe-/-*, APOE2;*Apoe-/-*;*Ldlr-/*and APOE3-Leiden;*Apoe-/-*;*Ldlr-/-* mice. For the isolation of rabbit β -VLDL, a rabbit was fed on a high cholesterol diet for at least two weeks, and blood was collected after a 5 hour fasting period. The sera were ultracentrifuged to obtain the VLDL fractions (d < 1.006 g/ml). VLDL protein was determined according to Lowry et al. (30). A portion of the VLDL was labeled with ¹²⁵I by the iodine monochloride method (31). After iodination, VLDL was dialyzed extensively at 4 °C against phosphate buffered saline (PBS) for 24 hours. The apoB content of the VLDL fractions was determined by isopropanol precipitation as described by Egusa et al. (32). VLDL particle size was determined by photon correlation spectroscopy using a Malvern 4700 C system (Malvern Instruments, Malvern, UK). Measurements were performed at 25°C and a 90° angle between laser and detector.

LPL was isolated from fresh bovine milk as described previously (33). The isolated fraction was suspended in 20 mmol/l NaH₂PO₄, 50% glycerol (v/v) and stored in aliquots at -80 °C. Prior to the experiments, LPL was heat-inactivated at 56 °C for 30 minutes.

Binding studies

To study the binding of VLDL derived from transgenic mice to the apoER2, binding studies were performed using an LDL receptor deficient CHO cell line (ldlA7) that was stably transfected with either the human apoER2 cDNA (apoER2 CHO) or pSV2-Neo (control CHO) (1). Binding experiments were performed essentially as described previously (34). The cells were cultured in 24-well plates in HAM's F10 medium, supplemented with 10% (v/v) fetal calf serum, streptomycin (200 μ g/ml) and penicillin (200 U/ml) at 37°C and at a 5% CO₂ concentration in air. Cells were washed with HAM's F10 3 times and incubated for 3 h at 4°C with increasing amounts of ¹²⁵I-labeled VLDL in HAM's F10, either in the presence or absence of a 20-fold excess of unlabeled VLDL. Specific binding was calculated as binding in the

absence minus binding in the presence of excess unlabeled VLDL. Dissociation constants were calculated by nonlinear regression using GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software Inc, San Diego). The binding of the different VLDL fractions in the presence or absence of LPL (5 μ g/ml) was determined essentially as described previously (33). Binding was studied at a concentration of 10 μ g total protein/ml of labeled lipoprotein both to the apoER2 and control CHO cells. For the LPL binding experiments, binding of VLDL to the apoER2 was defined as the amount of VLDL protein bound to the apoER2 CHO cells minus the amount of VLDL protein bound to control CHO cells.

Results

Binding in vitro of apoE-/-, apoE2 and apoE3-Leiden VLDL to the apoER2

To determine whether the human apoER2 is expressed in the CHO cells, protein extracts of both apoER2 and control CHO cells were immunoblotted using rabbit polyclonal antibodies to the apoER2 (29). A protein with an apparent relative molecular mass of ~130 kDa was detected in the apoER2 CHO cells (figure 1). This protein was not detected in control CHO cells, indicating that the apoER2 CHO cells do express the human apoER2.



Figure 1. Western blot analysis of CHO cell extracts using a polyclonal antibody raised against ApoER2

Membrane protein fractions of both apoER2 CHO (apoER2) and control CHO (control) cell lines were isolated and subjected to SDS-PAGE on a 6% gel under non-reducing conditions, and subsequently transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane. The membrane was incubated with a polyclonal antiserum against the human apoER2. The position of molecular mass size markers (in kDa) run on the same gel is indicated on the left.

The effect of apoE and different isoforms of apoE on lipoprotein binding to the apoER2 was studied using VLDL that was isolated from several mouse models. VLDL binding in the absence of apoE was studied using VLDL derived from *Apoe-/-* mice. ApoE rich rabbit β -VLDL was used as a positive control for binding. Binding of different apoE variants to the apoER2 receptor in the absence of endogenous apoE was studied using VLDL derived from APOE3-

Leiden; *Apoe-/-;Ldlr-/-* and APOE2; *Apoe-/-;Ldlr-/-* mice. These mice have relatively high levels of VLDL in their plasma, which is rich in apoE (35). As shown in figure 2, all ligands that were used in this study bind to the apoER2.

The amount of apoB present in the different VLDL fractions was determined by specifically precipitating apoB in these fractions. Subsequently the protein mass of the apoB precipitate was determined (table 1). ApoB precipitation proved to be very efficient, as the percentage of radioactive label that precipitated with apoB was identical to the percentage of label present in apoB as determined by VLDL analysis using SDS-PAGE and Phosphor-Imaging quantification (results not shown). K_d values, which were calculated on the basis of the amount of apoB bound to the cells, are provided in table 1. The data show that the human apoER2 binds all VLDL fractions used in this study. The affinity of ApoER2 for rabbit β -VLDL was significantly higher than that for the other VLDL fractions. No significant differences in apoER2 affinity for APOE3-Leiden, APOE2 and Apoe-/- VLDL were found.



Figure 2. Specific binding of VLDL to apoER2 expressing and control CHO cells

Control (o) and apoER2 (•) CHO cells were incubated for three hours at 4 °C with increasing concentrations of ¹²⁵I-labeled VLDL from *Apoe-/-* mice (E-/-), APOE3-Leiden;*Apoe-/-;Ldlr-/-* mice (E3Leiden), APOE2;*Apoe-/-;Ldlr-/-* (E2) mice and rabbit β -VLDL (β -VLDL), in either the presence or absence of a 20-fold excess of unlabeled VLDL, as described in Methods. Specific binding was calculated as the amount of apoB bound per mg cell protein, which reflects particle number. Each value represents the mean ± S.D. of three experiments.

	Particle size	АроВ	K _d	
	(nm)	(% of total protein)	(µg apoB/ml)	
β-VLDL	82 ± 18	26.3	0.67 ± 0.06*	
E-/-	49 ± 11	34.0	10.9 ± 2.6**	
E3-Leiden E-/- Ldlr-/-	96 ± 26	45.1	7.6 ± 0.5**	
E2 E-/- Ldlr-/-	71 ± 12	65.5	4.6 ± 0.8**	

Table 1. VLDL particle composition and its apoER2 binding characteristics

The specific binding of ¹²⁵I-labeled VLDL to the apoER2 was determined as described in the Methods section. Dissociation constants were calculated by non linear regression methods based on the amount of apoB protein, which reflects particle number. Particle size was determined by photon correlation spectroscopy. The values represent the mean \pm S.E.M. for three measurements. * = K_d value differs significantly from E-/-, E3-Leiden and E2 VLDL, ** = K_d value differs significantly from rabbit β -VLDL, P < 0.05, Student's t-test.

VLDL binding in vitro in the presence of LPL

The effect of LPL on the binding of VLDL by the apoER2 was studied with control and apoER2 expressing CHO cells. None of the VLDL fractions bound to the control cells in the absence of LPL, and also in the presence of LPL the binding capability of the control cells was low (data not shown). As shown in figure 3, addition of LPL to apoER2 CHO cells leads to a vast increase in specific binding of all of the VLDL fractions used in the present study.





Control and apoER2 CHO cells were incubated for three hours at 4 °C with 10 μ g total protein/ml¹²⁵Ilabeled VLDL from *Apoe-/-* mice (E-/-), APOE3-Leiden;*Apoe-/-;Ldlr-/-* mice (E3L), APOE2;*Apoe-/-; Ldlr-/-* (E2) mice and rabbit β -VLDL (β -VLDL). The incubations were performed either in the presence or absence of a 20-fold excess of unlabeled VLDL, with and without addition of 5 μ g/ml heat inactivated LPL. The effect of LPL on specific binding of VLDL to the apoER2 was determined by subtracting specific VLDL binding to control CHO cells from specific VLDL binding to apoER2 CHO cells. Each value represents the mean \pm S.D. of three experiments. * = significantly different from binding in the absence of LPL, P < 0.05, Student's t-test.

Discussion

In the present study we demonstrate that the apoER2 is, despite its name, a receptor capable of binding apoE deficient VLDL. In addition, LPL was found to enhance VLDL binding to the apoER2. Hence, the apoER2 differs from the highly homologous VLDLR, which requires apoE for lipoprotein binding. The apoER2 bound APOE3-Leiden and APOE2 VLDL with high affinity, as was also found for the VLDLR (36, 37). High affinity binding of these apoE variants distinguishes both the apoER2 and the VLDLR from the LDLR, which shows a severe binding defect of apoE2 and a moderate binding defect of apoE3-Leiden (26, 38). However, both the apoER2 and the LDLR are not dependent on apoE for lipoprotein binding.

Our experiments did not exclude a role for apoE in modulating the binding of VLDL to the apoER2. The apoER2 showed the lowest affinity for Apoe-/- VLDL, which could indicate that apoE enhances binding. Whether differences in VLDL particle size and lipid content, as has been described previously (35) for the particles used in the present study, play an additional role in modulating binding to the apoER2 remains to be determined. LPL increased lipoprotein binding to the apoER2, as was also found for many other LDLR family members (15-19). The LPL mediated increase in binding was found for all VLDL fractions used in the present study.

Recently, compelling evidence has been found to support a role for both the apoER2 and the closely related VLDLR in neuronal migration during fetal brain development (5). Interestingly, the VLDLR also plays a role in lipid metabolism. The VLDLR has been found to be involved in the storage of lipids in fat tissue (39). In addition, the VLDLR has been found to lower serum cholesterol levels when ectopically expressed in the liver of several hypercholesterolemic mouse models, indicating that the VLDLR is capable of lipid transport from the circulation into the cells (36, 40). In the present paper, we show that the apoER2 displays distinct, but overlapping lipoprotein binding characteristics as compared with the VLDLR, suggesting that the apoER2 has a similar dual function in neuronal migration and lipid metabolism.

Both the apoER2 and LPL have been shown to be expressed in the cerebral cortex, cerebellum and hippocampus (1, 11, 41). The chicken homologue of the apoER2 is expressed in neurons all over the brain, including the Purkinje cells of the cerebellum, and in cells that constitute brain barriers such as endothelial cells of blood vessels, cells of the arachnoid membrane, and cells of the choroid plexus (4). LPL in the brain is also expressed by neurons, including the Purkinje cells, and LPL protein is found in many vascular structures throughout the central nervous system (11). The similarities in expression pattern between LPL and the apoER2, together with the data presented in this paper on enhanced lipoprotein binding to the apoER2 by LPL, support a role for the apoER2 in the lipid metabolism of the brain. Based on its localization, it could be hypothesized that the apoER2 is involved in transport of lipids into neurons and across brain barriers, a process that could be facilitated by LPL.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to dr. Anne Soutar (Hammersmith Hospital, London, UK) for providing the apoER2 antiserum. The apoER2 and pSV2-Neo transfected CHO cells were kindly provided by dr. Tokuo Yamamoto (Tohoku University Gene Research Center, Aoba, Sendai, Japan). This research was supported by the Netherlands Heart Foundation. Marten Hofker is an Established Investigator of the Netherlands Heart Foundation.

References

- Kim, D. H., Iijima, H., Goto, K., Sakai, J., Ishii, H., Kim, H. J., Suzuki, H., Kondo, H., Saeki, S., and Yamamoto, T. Human apolipoprotein E receptor 2. A novel lipoprotein receptor of the low density lipoprotein receptor family predominantly expressed in brain, J Biol Chem. 271: 8373-80, 1996.
- Kim, D. H., Magoori, K., Inoue, T. R., Mao, C. C., Kim, H. J., Suzuki, H., Fujita, T., Endo, Y., Saeki, S., and Yamamoto, T. T. Exon/intron organization, chromosome localization, alternative splicing, and transcription units of the human apolipoprotein E receptor 2 gene, J Biol Chem. 272: 8498-504, 1997.
- 3. Novak, S., Hiesberger, T., Schneider, W. J., and Nimpf, J. A new low density lipoprotein receptor homologue with 8 ligand binding repeats in brain of chicken and mouse, J Biol Chem. 271: 11732-6, 1996.
- Stockinger, W., Hengstschlager-Ottnad, E., Novak, S., Matus, A., M, H. t., Bauer, J., Lassmann, H., Schneider, W. J., and Nimpf, J. The low density lipoprotein receptor gene family. Differential expression of two alpha2-macroglobulin receptors in the brain, J Biol Chem. 273: 32213-21, 1998.
- Trommsdorff, M., Gotthardt, M., Hiesberger, T., Shelton, J., Stockinger, W., Nimpf, J., Hammer, R. E., Richardson, J. A., and Herz, J. Reeler/Disabled-like disruption of neuronal migration in knockout mice lacking the VLDL receptor and ApoE receptor 2, Cell. 97: 689-701, 1999.
- 6. Mahley, R. W. Apolipoprotein E: cholesterol transport protein with expanding role in cell biology, Science. 240: 622-30, 1988.
- 7. Mahley, R. W. and Ji, Z. S. Remnant lipoprotein metabolism: key pathways involving cell-surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans and apolipoprotein E, J Lipid Res. 40: 1-16, 1999.
- Kuipers, F., Jong, M. C., Lin, Y., Eck, M., Havinga, R., Bloks, V., Verkade, H. J., Hofker, M. H., Moshage, H., Berkel, T. J., Vonk, R. J., and Havekes, L. M. Impaired secretion of very low density lipoprotein-triglycerides by apolipoprotein E- deficient mouse hepatocytes, J Clin Invest. 100: 2915-22, 1997.
- Landis, B. A., Rotolo, F. S., Meyers, W. C., Clark, A. B., and Quarfordt, S. H. Influence of apolipoprotein E on soluble and heparin-immobilized hepatic lipase, Am J Physiol. 252: G805-10, 1987.
- Boyles, J. K., Pitas, R. E., Wilson, E., Mahley, R. W., and Taylor, J. M. Apolipoprotein E associated with astrocytic glia of the central nervous system and with nonmyelinating glia of the peripheral nervous system, J Clin Invest. 76: 1501-13, 1985.
- Bessesen, D. H., Richards, C. L., Etienne, J., Goers, J. W., and Eckel, R. H. Spinal cord of the rat contains more lipoprotein lipase than other brain regions, J Lipid Res. 34: 229-38, 1993.
- Eisenberg, S., Sehayek, E., Olivecrona, T., and Vlodavsky, I. Lipoprotein lipase enhances binding of lipoproteins to heparan sulfate on cell surfaces and extracellular matrix, J Clin Invest. 90: 2013-21, 1992.
- 13. Mulder, M., Lombardi, P., Jansen, H., van Berkel, T. J., Frants, R. R., and Havekes, L. M. Heparan sulphate proteoglycans are involved in the lipoprotein lipase- mediated enhancement of the cellular binding of very low density and low density lipoproteins, Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 185: 582-7, 1992.
- 14. Mulder, M., Lombardi, P., Jansen, H., van Berkel, T. J., Frants, R. R., and Havekes, L. M. Low density lipoprotein receptor internalizes low density and very low density lipoproteins that are bound to heparan sulfate proteoglycans via lipoprotein lipase, J Biol Chem. 268: 9369-75, 1993.

- Takahashi, S., Suzuki, J., Kohno, M., Oida, K., Tamai, T., Miyabo, S., Yamamoto, T., and Nakai, T. Enhancement of the binding of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins to the very low density lipoprotein receptor by apolipoprotein E and lipoprotein lipase, J Biol Chem. 270: 15747-54, 1995.
- Medh, J. D., Bowen, S. L., Fry, G. L., Ruben, S., Andracki, M., Inoue, I., Lalouel, J. M., Strickland, D. K., and Chappell, D. A. Lipoprotein lipase binds to low density lipoprotein receptors and induces receptormediated catabolism of very low density lipoproteins in vitro, J Biol Chem. 271: 17073-80, 1996.
- Nykjaer, A., Bengtsson-Olivecrona, G., Lookene, A., Moestrup, S. K., Petersen, C. M., Weber, W., Beisiegel, U., and Gliemann, J. The alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor/low density lipoprotein receptorrelated protein binds lipoprotein lipase and beta-migrating very low density lipoprotein associated with the lipase, J Biol Chem. 268: 15048-55, 1993.
- Chappell, D. A., Inoue, I., Fry, G. L., Pladet, M. W., Bowen, S. L., Iverius, P. H., Lalouel, J. M., and Strickland, D. K. Cellular catabolism of normal very low density lipoproteins via the low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein/alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor is induced by the C-terminal domain of lipoprotein lipase, J Biol Chem. 269: 18001-6, 1994.
- Chappell, D. A., Fry, G. L., Waknitz, M. A., Muhonen, L. E., Pladet, M. W., Iverius, P. H., and Strickland, D. K. Lipoprotein lipase induces catabolism of normal triglyceride-rich lipoproteins via the low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein/alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor in vitro. A process facilitated by cellsurface proteoglycans, J Biol Chem. 268: 14168-75, 1993.
- Beisiegel, U., Weber, W., and Bengtsson-Olivecrona, G. Lipoprotein lipase enhances the binding of chylomicrons to low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 88: 8342-6, 1991.
- 21. Salinelli, S., Lo, J. Y., Mims, M. P., Zsigmond, E., Smith, L. C., and Chan, L. Structure-function relationship of lipoprotein lipase-mediated enhancement of very low density lipoprotein binding and catabolism by the low density lipoprotein receptor. Functional importance of a properly folded surface loop covering the catalytic center, J Biol Chem. 271: 21906-13, 1996.
- 22. Williams, S. E., Inoue, I., Tran, H., Fry, G. L., Pladet, M. W., Iverius, P. H., Lalouel, J. M., Chappell, D. A., and Strickland, D. K. The carboxyl-terminal domain of lipoprotein lipase binds to the low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein/alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor (LRP) and mediates binding of normal very low density lipoproteins to LRP, J Biol Chem. 269: 8653-8, 1994.
- Argraves, K. M., Battey, F. D., MacCalman, C. D., McCrae, K. R., Gafvels, M., Kozarsky, K. F., Chappell, D. A., Strauss, J. F., 3rd, and Strickland, D. K. The very low density lipoprotein receptor mediates the cellular catabolism of lipoprotein lipase and urokinase-plasminogen activator inhibitor type I complexes, J Biol Chem. 270: 26550-7, 1995.
- 24. de Knijff, P., van den Maagdenberg, A. M., Stalenhoef, A. F., Leuven, J. A., Demacker, P. N., Kuyt, L. P., Frants, R. R., and Havekes, L. M. Familial dysbetalipoproteinemia associated with apolipoprotein E3-Leiden in an extended multigeneration pedigree, J Clin Invest. 88: 643-55, 1991.
- van den Maagdenberg, A. M., de Knijff, P., Stalenhoef, A. F., Gevers Leuven, J. A., Havekes, L. M., and Frants, R. R. Apolipoprotein E*3-Leiden allele results from a partial gene duplication in exon 4, Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 165: 851-7, 1989.
- 26. van Vlijmen, B. J., van Dijk, K. W., van't Hof, H. B., van Gorp, P. J., van der Zee, A., van der Boom, H., Breuer, M. L., Hofker, M. H., and Havekes, L. M. In the absence of endogenous mouse apolipoprotein E, apolipoprotein E*2(Arg-158 --> Cys) transgenic mice develop more severe hyperlipoproteinemia than apolipoprotein E*3-Leiden transgenic mice, J Biol Chem. 271: 30595-602, 1996.
- Ishibashi, S., Brown, M. S., Goldstein, J. L., Gerard, R. D., Hammer, R. E., and Herz, J. Hypercholesterolemia in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice and its reversal by adenovirusmediated gene delivery, J Clin Invest. 92: 883-93, 1993.
- van Ree, J. H., van den Broek, W. J., Dahlmans, V. E., Groot, P. H., Vidgeon-Hart, M., Frants, R. R., Wieringa, B., Havekes, L. M., and Hofker, M. H. Diet-induced hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis in heterozygous apolipoprotein E-deficient mice, Atherosclerosis. 111: 25-37, 1994.

- Sun, X. M. and Soutar, A. K. Expression in vitro of alternatively spliced variants of the messenger RNA for human apolipoprotein E receptor-2 identified in human tissues by ribonuclease protection assays, Eur J Biochem. 262: 230-9, 1999.
- Lowry, O. H., Rowebrough, N. J., Farr, A. L., and Randall, R. J. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent, J Biol Chem. 193: 265-275, 1951.
- Bilheimer, D. W., Eisenberg, S., and Levy, R. I. The metabolism of very low density lipoprotein proteins. I. Preliminary in vitro and in vivo observations, Biochim Biophys Acta. 260: 212-21, 1972.
- 32. Egusa, G., Brady, D. W., Grundy, S. M., and Howard, B. V. Isopropanol precipitation method for the determination of apolipoprotein B specific activity and plasma concentrations during metabolic studies of very low density lipoprotein and low density lipoprotein B, J Lipid Res. 24: 1261-7, 1983.
- 33. Hendriks, W. L., Van Vark, L. C., Schoonderwoerd, K., Jansen, H., and Havekes, L. M. Not the mature 56 kDa lipoprotein lipase protein but a 37 kDa protein co-purifying with the lipase mediates the binding of low density lipoproteins to J774 macrophages, Biochem J. 330: 765-9, 1998.
- 34. Mulder, M., de Wit, E., and Havekes, L. M. The binding of human lipoprotein lipase treated VLDL by the human hepatoma cell line HepG2, Biochim Biophys Acta. 1081: 308-14, 1991.
- 35. de Beer, F., Hendriks, W. L., van Vark, L. C., Kamerling, S. W., van Dijk, K. W., Hofker, M. H., Smelt, A. H., and Havekes, L. M. Binding of beta-VLDL to heparan sulfate proteoglycans requires lipoprotein lipase, whereas ApoE only modulates binding affinity, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 19: 633-7, 1999.
- 36. van Dijk, K. W., van Vlijmen, B. J., van der Zee, A., van't Hof, B., van der Boom, H., Kobayashi, K., Chan, L., Havekes, L. M., and Hofker, M. H. Reversal of hypercholesterolemia in apolipoprotein E2 and apolipoprotein E3-Leiden transgenic mice by adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of the VLDL receptor, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 18: 7-12, 1998.
- Takahashi, S., Oida, K., Ookubo, M., Suzuki, J., Kohno, M., Murase, T., Yamamoto, T., and Nakai, T. Very low density lipoprotein receptor binds apolipoprotein E2/2 as well as apolipoprotein E3/3, FEBS Lett. 386: 197-200, 1996.
- Chappell, D. A. High receptor binding affinity of lipoproteins in atypical dysbetalipoproteinemia (type III hyperlipoproteinemia), J Clin Invest. 84: 1906-15, 1989.
- Frykman, P. K., Brown, M. S., Yamamoto, T., Goldstein, J. L., and Herz, J. Normal plasma lipoproteins and fertility in gene-targeted mice homozygous for a disruption in the gene encoding very low density lipoprotein receptor, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 92: 8453-7, 1995.
- 40. Kobayashi, K., Oka, K., Forte, T., Ishida, B., Teng, B., Ishimura-Oka, K., Nakamuta, M., and Chan, L. Reversal of hypercholesterolemia in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice by adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of the very low density lipoprotein receptor, J Biol Chem. 271: 6852-60, 1996.
- Goldberg, I. J., Soprano, D. R., Wyatt, M. L., Vanni, T. M., Kirchgessner, T. G., and Schotz, M. C. Localization of lipoprotein lipase mRNA in selected rat tissues, J Lipid Res. 30: 1569-77, 1989.

CHAPTER 7

Living up to a name: the role of the very low density lipoprotein receptor in lipid metabolism

P. J. Tacken, M. H. Hofker^{*)}, L. M. Havekes^{†‡}, K. Willems van Dijk

Department of Human and Clinical Genetics, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden; [†] TNO-PG, Gaubius Laboratory, Leiden; [‡] Departments of Cardiology and General Internal Medicine, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden; ^{*)} Present address: Cardiovascular Research Institute Maastricht, Maastricht, The Netherlands

(Submitted as review)

Abstract

The very low density lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR) is a member of the low density receptor (LDLR) family. The VLDLR was hypothesized to mediate fatty acid entry into peripheral tissues based on its expression in tissues active in fatty acid metabolism and its capacity to bind apolipoprotein (apo) E rich VLDL *in vitro*. This hypothesis initially proved difficult to establish, since VLDLR knockout mice were reported to display normal plasma lipid levels. Moreover, VLDLR knockout mice that were also deficient for a second LDLR family member, the apoE receptor 2, revealed a role for the VLDLR in neuronal migration during brain development. However, in line with what its name suggests, recent studies using VLDLR deficient and transgenic mice have provided compelling evidence that the VLDLR does play a role in VLDL-triglyceride metabolism, and is important for triglyceride storage in the adipocyte.

Introduction

The very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) receptor (VLDLR) was originally cloned on the basis of its homology to the low density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor (LDLR). The human VLDLR gene is located on chromosome 9 (1-3). Its genomic organization is strikingly similar to that of the low density lipoprotein receptor (LDLR) and the apolipoprotein (apo) E receptor 2 (apoER2) (4). The VLDLR displays approximately 95% amino acid conservation between human (1-3, 5), mouse (6, 7), rabbit (8) and rat (9), and 84% amino acid conservation between human and chicken (10). Thus compared with the LDLR, which displays 76% amino acid conservation between human and rabbit, the VLDLR is very well conserved throughout evolution.

The VLDLR is most abundantly expressed in heart, skeletal muscle and adipose tissue, but not in liver (2, 5-7, 11). VLDLR expression is localized in endothelial and smooth muscle cells of arteries and veins (12). Since heart and skeletal muscle use free fatty acids (FFA) as an energy source, and adipose tissue uses FFA for energy storage, the VLDLR was hypothesized to play a role in the delivery of fatty acids to these peripheral tissues.

The VLDLR binds numerous ligands, including apoE rich VLDL, intermediate density lipoproteins (IDL) and chylomicrons (1, 8, 13), lipoprotein lipase (LPL) (13), receptor associated protein (RAP) (14), thrombospondin-1 (15), urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA)/plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI)-1 complex (16) and several other proteinase/serpin complexes (17). The biological significance of many of these VLDLR-ligand interactions is still poorly understood.

VLDLR deficient (VLDLR-/-) mice could be a valuable tool to study VLDLR function *in vivo*. Surprisingly, the initial studies on VLDLR-/- mice revealed no alterations in plasma lipid and lipoprotein levels, although adipose tissue mass of VLDLR-/- mice was reduced (18). Thus it remained unclear whether the VLDLR is involved in lipid metabolism. Further doubts were raised when it was reported that both VLDLR and the closely related apoER2 are involved in neuronal migration in the developing brain (19). Trommsdorff and co-workers showed that mice
deficient for both the VLDLR and the apoER2 display severe malformations of the cerebral cortex and cerebellum. The VLDLR and the apoER2 appear to be involved in a signal transduction pathway, in which binding of the large extracellular matrix protein reelin to the receptor induces tyrosine phosphorylation of the intracellular adaptor protein mDAB1 (20).

In addition to neuronal migration via reelin, *in vitro* studies revealed that the VLDLR modulates cell migration via a pathway depending on uPA (21), as was described before for the LDLR related protein (LRP) (22). Both LRP (23) and VLDLR (21) mediate catabolism of the uPA receptor (uPAR), which plays an important role in regulation of cell migration (24). It has been hypothesized that uPA, complexed with its inhibitor PAI-1, binds simultaneously to the uPAR and to either the LRP or the VLDLR, leading to the internalization of the whole complex (23, 25).

The hypothesis that the VLDLR plays a role in lipid metabolism dates from almost a decade ago (8), this has only recently been proven. This review will focus on recent studies establishing the role of the VLDLR in lipid metabolism, and will present a possible mechanism of action.

Regulation of VLDLR expression

VLDLR gene expression regulation has been subject of several studies, since expression regulation does reveal basal information about gene function. Several elements present in the promoter region of the VLDLR have previously been recognized to play a role in the regulation of genes implicated in lipid metabolism and maintenance of energy balance. The 5'-flanking region of the VLDLR contains two copies of a potential sterol regulatory element (SRE)-1, which was reported previously to mediate down-regulation of the LDLR by sterols (1, 26). However, VLDLR mRNA expression levels are unaffected when human monocyte leukemia THP-1 cells as well as rabbit resident alveolar macrophages are cultured in the presence of sterols, indicating that regulation via the SRE may not be straightforward (1, 27). Two transcription factors, CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein B (C/EBPB) and nuclear factor-Y (NF-Y), have been reported to bind to regulatory elements in the VLDLR promoter region (28). C/EBPs play a role in the regulation of energy hemostasis and in adipocyte differentiation (29-31). NF-Y plays a major role in the regulation of lipoprotein lipase (LPL), the principal enzyme responsible for the hydrolysis of triglycerides of circulating lipoproteins (32). Finally, the VLDLR promoter region contains a half site for the estrogen receptor (1). Administration of estradiol has been reported to dramatically increase VLDLR mRNA levels in rabbit cardiac ventricles (33).

Other factors that affect VLDLR expression include granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (34), thyroid hormone (9) and 1α -25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ (35). In several studies the role of diet in VLDLR expression regulation has been examined. A study in rats by Jokinen et al. (9) has revealed no effect of fasting and refeeding on VLDLR mRNA and protein levels. In contrast, a study in mice by Kwok et al. (36) has revealed an increase in heart and a decrease in epididymal fat VLDLR protein levels after fasting. Tiebel et al. (11) have

investigated the effect of prolonged feeding of an atherogenic diet on VLDLR mRNA expression levels in wild type, LDLR deficient (*LDLR-/-*), apoE deficient (*apoE-/-*) and *LDLR-/-*;*apoE-/-* mice. Remarkably, downregulation of the VLDLR in heart and skeletal muscle upon feeding the atherogenic diet has been found only in *LDLR-/-* mice. In contrast, VLDLR mRNA expression is upregulated upon feeding of the atherogenic diet in adipose tissue of all mouse models studied, except *LDLR-/-*;*apoE-/-* mice. Thus the effect of the diet on VLDLR expression seems to depend upon several factors, including the species studied and the presence or absence of other lipoprotein receptors and/or apoE. The mechanisms by which these factors influence the effect of the diet on VLDLR expression are still under investigation.

The VLDLR and plasma VLDL-triglyceride levels

The initial studies on VLDLR deficient (*VLDLR-/-*) mice revealed no alterations in lipoprotein profile and total plasma cholesterol, triglyceride, and FFA levels as compared with wild type mice (18). This indicates that either the VLDLR does not play a major role in lipoprotein metabolism, or backup mechanisms can compensate for VLDLR deficiency. To stress the possible backup mechanisms, we have studied VLDLR transgenic and knockout mice under conditions of LDLR deficiency combined with a high fat diet and/or prolonged fasting. Under these conditions, endothelial VLDLR overexpression is associated with a decrease, while VLDLR deficiency is associated with an increase in plasma triglyceride levels (37). This effect on plasma triglyceride levels is not due to differences in VLDL synthesis. In the absence of the VLDLR, the lipid composition of nascent VLDL is unaffected, while circulating VLDL displays high triglyceride content, suggesting the VLDLR modulates peripheral hydrolysis of VLDL triglycerides (37).

These findings are in line with previous studies on the effect of RAP on plasma triglyceride levels. The VLDLR is one of the LDLR family members blocked by RAP (14). Similar to VLDLR deficiency in *LDLR-/-* mice, adenovirus mediated overexpression of RAP into the circulation of mice that lack both the LDLR and the LRP in their livers results in an increase of plasma triglycerides (38). No RAP-binding proteins have been detected in the livers of these mice. Therefore, the increase in plasma triglyceride levels must have been mediated by an extra-hepatic RAP-sensitive mechanism, possibly the VLDLR.

The VLDLR and adipose tissue mass

In line with the hypothesis that the VLDLR is involved in peripheral free fatty acid delivery, VLDLR deficient (VLDLR-/-) mice show a 15-20% reduction in body weight due to a reduction in adipose tissue mass (18). Interestingly, transgenic mice overexpressing apolipoprotein C1 also exhibit reduced adipose tissue mass (39). ApoC1 strongly inhibits lipoprotein binding to the VLDLR (40), while it does not affect LPL mediated hydrolysis of

triglycerides *in vitro* (41). It can be postulated that apoC1 mediates its effect on adipose tissue by blocking lipoprotein binding to receptors such as the VLDLR.

Recently, we have studied the effect of VLDLR deficiency on profound weight gain in mice (42). Obesity has been induced either by feeding a high fat, high caloric (HFC) diet or by crossbreeding mice onto the genetically obese *ob/ob* background. After 17 weeks of feeding the HFC diet, *VLDLR-/-* mice remain lean, while wild type littermates become obese. Similarly, weight gain is less profound in *ob/ob* mice that are deficient for the VLDLR. VLDLR deficiency leads to marked hypertriglyceridemia in both the genetically and the diet induced obesity model. In addition, *VLDLR-/-* mice on the HFC diet display decreased plasma glucose and insulin levels, and, in contrast to wild type controls, do not develop insulin resistance. *VLDLR-/-* mice exhibit reduced whole body free fatty acid uptake as compared to control mice, with no differences in food intake and fat absorption. Histological analysis of adipose tissue of both obesity models reveals decreased adipocyte size in VLDLR deficient mice as compared to controls, suggesting adipocyte triglyceride storage is reduced when the VLDLR is absent. These results indicate that the VLDLR indeed plays a role in the entry of fatty acids into peripheral tissues, such as the adipose tissue.

VLDLR and LPL metabolism

The mechanism responsible for the effects of VLDLR expression modulation on lipoprotein metabolism remains to be elucidated. Studies using adenoviral vectors have shown that ectopic expression of the VLDLR in mouse liver results in enhanced internalization of lipoproteins (43, 44). Thus, when expressed in liver, the VLDLR seems to act as a clearance receptor for lipoproteins similar to the LDLR and LRP. However, the studies using VLDLR transgenic and knockout mice reveal that the VLDLR in the periphery primarily affects VLDL triglyceride content (37). This suggests that at its natural site of expression, the VLDLR facilitates hydrolysis of triglycerides instead of clearing entire lipoprotein particles.

The principal enzyme responsible for the hydrolysis of triglycerides of circulating lipoproteins is LPL. FFA liberated by triglyceride hydrolysis can enter adjacent tissues, either to be stored (45) or oxidized (46). Similar to the VLDLR, the major sites of LPL production are the adipose tissue, skeletal muscle and heart. In these tissues, LPL is produced by the adipocytes and the skeletal and heart muscle cells. Subsequently, the LPL is secreted and transported to the luminal side of the vascular endothelium. Interestingly, recent studies by Ira Goldberg and co-workers have shown that the VLDLR mediates transport of LPL across a layer of cultured endothelial cells (personal communication). Therefore, the VLDLR might regulate LPL levels on the vascular wall by mediating transport of LPL derived from adipocytes and muscle cells from the basal to the luminal side of endothelial cells.

In the vascular lumen, LPL is bound to heparan sulphate proteoglycans (HSPG) (47). In addition to binding to HSPG, LPL contains a carboxy-terminal binding site for lipoprotein receptors of the LDLR family. LPL is reported to bind to LRP (48-51), LDLR (52, 53), megalin (54), and the VLDLR (13), thereby enhancing binding and internalization of lipoproteins. The

mechanism behind LPL facilitated lipoprotein uptake by the lipoprotein receptors remains to be determined. It is proposed that LPL mediates lipoprotein binding to HSPG, which in turn transfers the LPL-lipoprotein complex to the lipoprotein receptor (55, 56). On the other hand, Beisiegel *et al* proposed that LPL promotes binding directly by bridging the lipoprotein particle to the receptor (48). On an LPL heterozygous knockout background, muscle specific expression of catalytically inactive LPL lowers both plasma triglyceride and cholesterol levels. Furthermore, muscle uptake of radiolabeled VLDL triglycerides and apolipoproteins is increased, implying LPL bridging of lipoproteins to lipoprotein receptors and/or HSPG occurs *in vivo* (57).

VLDLR and LPL are present on the vascular wall in the same tissues, can bind to each other and both seem to be involved in hydrolysis of triglycerides. Furthermore, deficiency for adipose tissue LPL in *ob/ob* mice results in a similar reduction in weight gain and adipose tissue mass as we have detected in VLDLR deficient *ob/ob* mice (58). Therefore, we hypothesize that the VLDLR and LPL act together in delivering FFA to peripheral tissues. We propose a model in which the VLDLR binds triglyceride-rich VLDL, bringing it into close contact with LPL bound to either the VLDLR itself or to HSPG, thereby enhancing the efficiency of triglyceride hydrolysis.

Conclusions

The VLDLR forms an intriguing example of a receptor with multiple and diverse functions. The VLDLR seems to regulate biological processes by binding and/or internalization of ligands, but also by transducing extracellular signals across the cell membrane. In addition to its role in neuronal cell migration during brain development, evidence from animal studies now shows that the VLDLR modulates VLDL triglyceride metabolism, and that it plays an important role in the building of adipocyte triglyceride stores. This indicates that the VLDLR is indeed involved in delivery of FFA to peripheral tissues, and exposes the VLDLR as a potential target for prevention of diet induced obesity and insulin resistance.

References

- Gafvels, M. E., Caird, M., Britt, D., Jackson, C. L., Patterson, D., and Strauss, J. F. d. Cloning of a cDNA encoding a putative human very low density lipoprotein/apolipoprotein E receptor and assignment of the gene to chromosome 9pter-p23, Somat Cell Mol Genet. 19: 557-69, 1993.
- Oka, K., Tzung, K. W., Sullivan, M., Lindsay, E., Baldini, A., and Chan, L. Human very-low-density lipoprotein receptor complementary DNA and deduced amino acid sequence and localization of its gene (VLDLR) to chromosome band 9p24 by fluorescence in situ hybridization, Genomics. 20: 298-300, 1994.

Sakai, J., Hoshino, A., Takahashi, S., Miura, Y., Ishii, H., Suzuki, H., Kawarabayasi, Y., and Yamamoto, T. Structure, chromosome location, and expression of the human very low density lipoprotein receptor gene, J Biol Chem. 269: 2173-82, 1994.

- 4. Kim, D. H., Magoori, K., Inoue, T. R., Mao, C. C., Kim, H. J., Suzuki, H., Fujita, T., Endo, Y., Saeki, S., and Yamamoto, T. T. Exon/intron organization, chromosome localization, alternative splicing, and transcription units of the human apolipoprotein E receptor 2 gene, J Biol Chem. 272: 8498-504, 1997.
- Webb, J. C., Patel, D. D., Jones, M. D., Knight, B. L., and Soutar, A. K. Characterization and tissuespecific expression of the human 'very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) receptor' mRNA, Hum Mol Genet. 3: 531-7, 1994.
- 6. Gafvels, M. E., Paavola, L. G., Boyd, C. O., Nolan, P. M., Wittmaack, F., Chawla, A., Lazar, M. A., Bucan, M., Angelin, B. O., and Strauss, J. F., 3rd Cloning of a complementary deoxyribonucleic acid encoding the murine homolog of the very low density lipoprotein/apolipoprotein-E receptor: expression pattern and assignment of the gene to mouse chromosome 19, Endocrinology. 135: 387-94, 1994.
- Oka, K., Ishimura-Oka, K., Chu, M. J., Sullivan, M., Krushkal, J., Li, W. H., and Chan, L. Mouse verylow-density-lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR) cDNA cloning, tissue-specific expression and evolutionary relationship with the low- density-lipoprotein receptor, Eur J Biochem. 224: 975-82, 1994.
- Takahashi, S., Kawarabayasi, Y., Nakai, T., Sakai, J., and Yamamoto, T. Rabbit very low density lipoprotein receptor: a low density lipoprotein receptor-like protein with distinct ligand specificity, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 89: 9252-6, 1992.
- Jokinen, E. V., Landschulz, K. T., Wyne, K. L., Ho, Y. K., Frykman, P. K., and Hobbs, H. H. Regulation of the very low density lipoprotein receptor by thyroid hormone in rat skeletal muscle, J Biol Chem. 269: 26411-8, 1994.
- Bujo, H., Hermann, M., Kaderli, M. O., Jacobsen, L., Sugawara, S., Nimpf, J., Yamamoto, T., and Schneider, W. J. Chicken oocyte growth is mediated by an eight ligand binding repeat member of the LDL receptor family, Embo J. 13: 5165-75, 1994.
- Tiebel, O., Oka, K., Robinson, K., Sullivan, M., Martinez, J., Nakamuta, M., Ishimura-Oka, K., and Chan, L. Mouse very low-density lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR): gene structure, tissue-specific expression and dietary and developmental regulation, Atherosclerosis. 145: 239-51, 1999.
- Multhaupt, H. A., Gafvels, M. E., Kariko, K., Jin, H., Arenas-Elliot, C., Goldman, B. I., Strauss, J. F., 3rd, Angelin, B., Warhol, M. J., and McCrae, K. R. Expression of very low density lipoprotein receptor in the vascular wall. Analysis of human tissues by in situ hybridization and immunohistochemistry, Am J Pathol. 148: 1985-97, 1996.
- Takahashi, S., Suzuki, J., Kohno, M., Oida, K., Tamai, T., Miyabo, S., Yamamoto, T., and Nakai, T. Enhancement of the binding of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins to the very low density lipoprotein receptor by apolipoprotein E and lipoprotein lipase, J Biol Chem. 270: 15747-54, 1995.
- Battey, F. D., Gafvels, M. E., FitzGerald, D. J., Argraves, W. S., Chappell, D. A., Strauss, J. F., 3rd, and Strickland, D. K. The 39-kDa receptor-associated protein regulates ligand binding by the very low density lipoprotein receptor, J Biol Chem. 269: 23268-73, 1994.
- 15. Mikhailenko, I., Krylov, D., Argraves, K. M., Roberts, D. D., Liau, G., and Strickland, D. K. Cellular internalization and degradation of thrombospondin-1 is mediated by the amino-terminal heparin binding domain (HBD). High affinity interaction of dimeric HBD with the low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein, J Biol Chem. 272: 6784-91, 1997.
- Argraves, K. M., Battey, F. D., MacCalman, C. D., McCrae, K. R., Gafvels, M., Kozarsky, K. F., Chappell, D. A., Strauss, J. F., 3rd, and Strickland, D. K. The very low density lipoprotein receptor mediates the cellular catabolism of lipoprotein lipase and urokinase-plasminogen activator inhibitor type I complexes, J Biol Chem. 270: 26550-7, 1995.
- Kasza, A., Petersen, H. H., Heegaard, C. W., Oka, K., Christensen, A., Dubin, A., Chan, L., and Andreasen, P. A. Specificity of serine proteinase/serpin complex binding to very-low- density lipoprotein receptor and alpha2-macroglobulin receptor/low- density-lipoprotein-receptor-related protein, Eur J Biochem. 248: 270-81, 1997.
- Frykman, P. K., Brown, M. S., Yamamoto, T., Goldstein, J. L., and Herz, J. Normal plasma lipoproteins and fertility in gene-targeted mice homozygous for a disruption in the gene encoding very low density lipoprotein receptor, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 92: 8453-7, 1995.

- Trommsdorff, M., Gotthardt, M., Hiesberger, T., Shelton, J., Stockinger, W., Nimpf, J., Hammer, R. E., Richardson, J. A., and Herz, J. Reeler/Disabled-like disruption of neuronal migration in knockout mice lacking the VLDL receptor and ApoE receptor 2, Cell. 97: 689-701, 1999.
- Hiesberger, T., Trommsdorff, M., Howell, B. W., Goffinet, A., Mumby, M. C., Cooper, J. A., and Herz, J. Direct binding of Reelin to VLDL receptor and ApoE receptor 2 induces tyrosine phosphorylation of disabled-1 and modulates tau phosphorylation, Neuron. 24: 481-9, 1999.
- Webb, D. J., Nguyen, D. H., Sankovic, M., and Gonias, S. L. The very low density lipoprotein receptor regulates urokinase receptor catabolism and breast cancer cell motility in vitro, J Biol Chem. 274: 7412-20, 1999.
- Weaver, A. M., Hussaini, I. M., Mazar, A., Henkin, J., and Gonias, S. L. Embryonic fibroblasts that are genetically deficient in low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein demonstrate increased activity of the urokinase receptor system and accelerated migration on vitronectin, J Biol Chem. 272: 14372-9, 1997.
- Conese, M., Nykjaer, A., Petersen, C. M., Cremona, O., Pardi, R., Andreasen, P. A., Gliemann, J., Christensen, E. I., and Blasi, F. alpha-2 Macroglobulin receptor/Ldl receptor-related protein(Lrp)dependent internalization of the urokinase receptor, J Cell Biol. 131: 1609-22, 1995.
- 24. Blasi, F. Proteolysis, cell adhesion, chemotaxis, and invasiveness are regulated by the u-PA-u-PAR-PAI-1 system, Thromb Haemost. 82: 298-304, 1999.
- Stefansson, S., Muhammad, S., Cheng, X. F., Battey, F. D., Strickland, D. K., and Lawrence, D. A. Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 contains a cryptic high affinity binding site for the low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein, J Biol Chem. 273: 6358-66, 1998.
- Smith, J. R., Osborne, T. F., Goldstein, J. L., and Brown, M. S. Identification of nucleotides responsible for enhancer activity of sterol regulatory element in low density lipoprotein receptor gene, J Biol Chem. 265: 2306-10, 1990.
- Suzuki, J., Takahashi, S., Oida, K., Shimada, A., Kohno, M., Tamai, T., Miyabo, S., Yamamoto, T., and Nakai, T. Lipid accumulation and foam cell formation in Chinese hamster ovary cells overexpressing very low density lipoprotein receptor, Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 206: 835-42, 1995.
- Kreuter, R., Soutar, A. K., and Wade, D. P. Transcription factors CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein beta and nuclear factor-Y bind to discrete regulatory elements in the very low density lipoprotein receptor promoter, J Lipid Res. 40: 376-86, 1999.
- Wang, N. D., Finegold, M. J., Bradley, A., Ou, C. N., Abdelsayed, S. V., Wilde, M. D., Taylor, L. R., Wilson, D. R., and Darlington, G. J. Impaired energy homeostasis in C/EBP alpha knockout mice, Science. 269: 1108-12, 1995.
- Yeh, W. C., Cao, Z., Classon, M., and McKnight, S. L. Cascade regulation of terminal adipocyte differentiation by three members of the C/EBP family of leucine zipper proteins, Genes Dev. 9: 168-81, 1995.
- MacDougald, O. A. and Lane, M. D. Transcriptional regulation of gene expression during adipocyte differentiation, Annu Rev Biochem. 64: 345-73, 1995.
- 32. Morin, C. L., Schlaepfer, I. R., and Eckel, R. H. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha eliminates binding of NF-Y and an octamer- binding protein to the lipoprotein lipase promoter in 3T3-L1 adipocytes, J Clin Invest. 95: 1684-9, 1995.
- Masuzaki, H., Jingami, H., Yamamoto, T., and Nakao, K. Effects of estradiol on very low density lipoprotein receptor mRNA levels in rabbit heart, FEBS Lett. 347: 211-4, 1994.
- 34. Ishibashi, T., Yokoyama, K., Shindo, J., Hamazaki, Y., Endo, Y., Sato, T., Takahashi, S., Kawarabayasi, Y., Shiomi, M., Yamamoto, T., and et al. Potent cholesterol-lowering effect by human granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor in rabbits. Possible implications of enhancement of macrophage functions and an increase in mRNA for VLDL receptor, Arterioscler Thromb. 14: 1534-41, 1994.
- 35. Kohno, M., Takahashi, S., Oida, K., Suzuki, J., Tamai, T., Yamamoto, T., and Nakai, T. 1 alpha,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 induces very low density lipoprotein receptor mRNA expression in HL-60 cells in association with monocytic differentiation, Atherosclerosis. 133: 45-9, 1997.

Ł

- 36. Kwok, S., Singh-Bist, A., Natu, V., and Kraemer, F. B. Dietary regulation of the very low density lipoprotein receptor in mouse heart and fat, Horm Metab Res. 29: 524-9, 1997.
- Tacken, P. J., Teusink, B., Jong, M. C., Harats, D., Havekes, L. M., van Dijk, K. W., and Hofker, M. H. LDL receptor deficiency unmasks altered VLDL triglyceride metabolism in VLDL receptor transgenic and knockout mice, J Lipid Res. 41: 2055-2062, 2000.
- van Vlijmen, B. J., Rohlmann, A., Page, S. T., Bensadoun, A., Bos, I. S., van Berkel, T. J., Havekes, L. M., and Herz, J. An extrahepatic receptor-associated protein-sensitive mechanism is involved in the metabolism of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins, J Biol Chem. 274: 35219-26, 1999.
- Jong, M. C., Gijbels, M. J., Dahlmans, V. E., Gorp, P. J., Koopman, S. J., Ponec, M., Hofker, M. H., and Havekes, L. M. Hyperlipidemia and cutaneous abnormalities in transgenic mice overexpressing human apolipoprotein C1, J Clin Invest. 101: 145-52, 1998.
- 40. Jong, M. C., van Dijk, K. W., Dahlmans, V. E., Van der Boom, H., Kobayashi, K., Oka, K., Siest, G., Chan, L., Hofker, M. H., and Havekes, L. M. Reversal of hyperlipidaemia in apolipoprotein C1 transgenic mice by adenovirus-mediated gene delivery of the low-density-lipoprotein receptor, but not by the verylow-density-lipoprotein receptor, Biochem J. 338: 281-7, 1999.
- 41. Jong, M. C., Dahlmans, V. E., van Gorp, P. J., van Dijk, K. W., Breuer, M. L., Hofker, M. H., and Havekes, L. M. In the absence of the low density lipoprotein receptor, human apolipoprotein C1 overexpression in transgenic mice inhibits the hepatic uptake of very low density lipoproteins via a receptor- associated protein-sensitive pathway, J Clin Invest. 98: 2259-67, 1996.
- Goudriaan, J. R., Jong, M. C., V.E.H., D., P.J., T., and L.M., H. VLDL receptor deficient mice are protected against diet induced obesity and insulin resistance, Atherosclerosis. 151: 241, 2000.
- 43. Kobayashi, K., Oka, K., Forte, T., Ishida, B., Teng, B., Ishimura-Oka, K., Nakamuta, M., and Chan, L. Reversal of hypercholesterolemia in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice by adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of the very low density lipoprotein receptor, J Biol Chem. 271: 6852-60, 1996.
- 44. van Dijk, K. W., van Vlijmen, B. J., van der Zee, A., van't Hof, B., van der Boom, H., Kobayashi, K., Chan, L., Havekes, L. M., and Hofker, M. H. Reversal of hypercholesterolemia in apolipoprotein E2 and apolipoprotein E3-Leiden transgenic mice by adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of the VLDL receptor, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 18: 7-12, 1998.
- 45. Cryer, A. Lipoprotein lipase and the uptake of lipids by adipose cells during development, Reprod Nutr Dev. 25: 255-70, 1985.
- 46. Rogers, M. P. and Robinson, D. S. Effects of cold exposure on heart clearing factor lipase and triglyceride utilization in the rat, J Lipid Res. 15: 263-72, 1974.
- Saxena, U., Klein, M. G., and Goldberg, I. J. Transport of lipoprotein lipase across endothelial cells, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 88: 2254-8, 1991.
- Beisiegel, U., Weber, W., and Bengtsson-Olivecrona, G. Lipoprotein lipase enhances the binding of chylomicrons to low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 88: 8342-6, 1991.
- Chappell, D. A., Fry, G. L., Waknitz, M. A., Muhonen, L. E., Pladet, M. W., Iverius, P. H., and Strickland, D. K. Lipoprotein lipase induces catabolism of normal triglyceride-rich lipoproteins via the low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein/alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor in vitro. A process facilitated by cellsurface proteoglycans, J Biol Chem. 268: 14168-75, 1993.
- Nykjaer, A., Bengtsson-Olivecrona, G., Lookene, A., Moestrup, S. K., Petersen, C. M., Weber, W., Beisiegel, U., and Gliemann, J. The alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor/low density lipoprotein receptorrelated protein binds lipoprotein lipase and beta-migrating very low density lipoprotein associated with the lipase, J Biol Chem. 268: 15048-55, 1993.
- 51. Williams, S. E., Inoue, I., Tran, H., Fry, G. L., Pladet, M. W., Iverius, P. H., Lalouel, J. M., Chappell, D. A., and Strickland, D. K. The carboxyl-terminal domain of lipoprotein lipase binds to the low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein/alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor (LRP) and mediates binding of normal very low density lipoproteins to LRP, J Biol Chem. 269: 8653-8, 1994.

- 52. Salinelli, S., Lo, J. Y., Mims, M. P., Zsigmond, E., Smith, L. C., and Chan, L. Structure-function relationship of lipoprotein lipase-mediated enhancement of very low density lipoprotein binding and catabolism by the low density lipoprotein receptor. Functional importance of a properly folded surface loop covering the catalytic center, J Biol Chem. 271: 21906-13, 1996.
- 53. Medh, J. D., Bowen, S. L., Fry, G. L., Ruben, S., Andracki, M., Inoue, I., Lalouel, J. M., Strickland, D. K., and Chappell, D. A. Lipoprotein lipase binds to low density lipoprotein receptors and induces receptor-mediated catabolism of very low density lipoproteins in vitro, J Biol Chem. 271: 17073-80, 1996.
- Kounnas, M. Z., Chappell, D. A., Strickland, D. K., and Argraves, W. S. Glycoprotein 330, a member of the low density lipoprotein receptor family, binds lipoprotein lipase in vitro, J Biol Chem. 268: 14176-81, 1993.
- 55. Mulder, M., Lombardi, P., Jansen, H., van Berkel, T. J., Frants, R. R., and Havekes, L. M. Low density lipoprotein receptor internalizes low density and very low density lipoproteins that are bound to heparan sulfate proteoglycans via lipoprotein lipase, J Biol Chem. 268: 9369-75, 1993.
- 56. Eisenberg, S., Sehayek, E., Olivecrona, T., and Vlodavsky, I. Lipoprotein lipase enhances binding of lipoproteins to heparan sulfate on cell surfaces and extracellular matrix, J Clin Invest. 90: 2013-21, 1992.
- 57. Merkel, M., Kako, Y., Radner, H., Cho, I. S., Ramasamy, R., Brunzell, J. D., Goldberg, I. J., and Breslow, J. L. Catalytically inactive lipoprotein lipase expression in muscle of transgenic mice increases very low density lipoprotein uptake: direct evidence that lipoprotein lipase bridging occurs in vivo, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 95: 13841-6, 1998.
- 58. Weinstock, P. H., Levak-Frank, S., Hudgins, L. C., Radner, H., Friedman, J. M., Zechner, R., and Breslow, J. L. Lipoprotein lipase controls fatty acid entry into adipose tissue, but fat mass is preserved by endogenous synthesis in mice deficient in adipose tissue lipoprotein lipase, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 94: 10261-6, 1997.

Chapter 8

General discussion & future perspectives

General discussion

Synthesis, processing and catabolism of lipoproteins are tightly regulated to retain a correct distribution of lipids in the body. The LDLR plays an important role in hepatic clearance of lipoproteins, and genetic defects in the LDLR have been described to result in increased plasma LDL levels and premature atherosclerosis.

A search for homologous receptors that might play a role in lipoprotein metabolism has resulted in the discovery of numerous receptors, together forming the LDLR family. However, *in vitro* studies have shown that LDLR family members not only bind lipoproteins, but also numerous other ligands, including plasma proteases, protease inhibitors and lipases. Therefore it has been questioned whether the LDLR family members function in lipid metabolism, act as receptors for numerous proteins or both. The LRP was the first receptor with homology to the LDLR to be cloned (1). Similar to the LDLR, the LRP is expressed in the liver and mediates clearance of chylomicron remnants (2). For the remaining mammalian LDLR family members a role in lipoprotein metabolism has yet to be established.

Of the LDLR family members, the apoER2 and the VLDLR display the highest homology to the LDLR. Recent findings have implicated the apoER2 and the VLDLR in cell signaling processes that control neuronal migration in the developing brain (3, 4). The apoER2 is not likely to play a major role in systemic lipoprotein metabolism, since it is exclusively expressed in brain, placenta and testis (5). The VLDLR is most abundantly expressed in heart, skeletal muscle and adipose tissue, but not in liver (6-10). The VLDLR is present in the vessel wall, where expression is localized in endothelial and smooth muscle cells of arteries and veins (11). Since heart and skeletal muscle use fatty acids as an energy source, and adipose tissue uses fatty acids for energy storage, the VLDLR has been hypothesized to play a role in the delivery of fatty acids to peripheral tissues. Furthermore, the VLDLR is expressed in smooth muscle cells and in macrophages of the atherosclerotic plaque (12). Therefore, the VLDLR might contribute to atherosclerotic plaque formation by modulating lipid loading of both smooth muscle cells and macrophages, thereby enhancing foam cell formation. The aim of the present thesis was to study the physiological functions of the VLDLR, and its role in lipid metabolism and atherosclerosis in particular, using VLDLR knockout and transgenic mouse models.

Mouse models to study the VLDLR

The first mouse model that was generated to study the biological functions of the VLDLR is the VLDLR-/- mouse (13). VLDLR-/- mice display 15-20% reduction in body weight as compared to wild type mice due to a reduction in adipose tissue mass. However, lipoprotein profile and total plasma cholesterol, triglyceride and FFA levels of VLDLR-/- mice are indistinguishable from those of wild type controls (13). Thus, a role for the VLDLR in lipid metabolism could not be established, although the reduction in adipose tissue mass in VLDLR-/- mice might suggest a role for the VLDLR in FFA delivery to adipocytes. It could be

hypothesized that the relatively mild phenotype of *VLDLR*-/- mice is due to backup mechanisms that compensate for VLDLR deficiency. Therefore, we chose to study the effect of VLDLR overexpression in mice.

In Chapter 2, we describe the generation of VLDLR transgenic mice, using two large DNA fragments consisting of overlapping cosmids. Together the two DNA fragments constitute the entire human VLDLR gene, including 15 kb 5' and 23 kb 3' sequences. The expression pattern of the human transgene partly overlaps with the endogenous VLDLR expression pattern of the mouse, and is characterized by high-level testis expression in germ cells. The human VLDLR transgene is not expressed in heart and aorta, possibly because regulatory sequences necessary to drive expression in these tissues are localized outside the region spanned by the transgene DNA construct. The early generations of VLDLR-Tg mice show atrophy of the testis, and reduced paternal transmission of the transgene in two independent mouse strains. This suggests that VLDLR overexpression disturbs the development of male germ cells. Interestingly, ApoER2 deficient mice have also been reported to display male fertility problems (3). Taken together, these findings suggest that lipoprotein receptors might be involved in spermatogenesis.

To study the effect of VLDLR overexpression in endothelial cells lining the vessel wall, we generated transgenic mice using the human VLDLR cDNA in combination with the preproendothelin-1 promoter, as described in Chapter 3. Histological analysis of these PVL mice reveals no abnormalities. Moreover, lipoprotein profile and total plasma cholesterol and triglyceride levels of PVL mice are similar to those of wild type controls.

VLDLR in lipoprotein metabolism

Both PVL and VLDLR-/- mice display normal plasma lipid levels when fed a chow diet, indicating that either the VLDLR is not important in lipid metabolism, or backup mechanisms can compensate VLDLR function. To increase the strain on possible backup mechanisms, we have studied the VLDLR under conditions of decreased hepatic lipoprotein clearance in combination with dietary stress. Therefore, PVL and VLDLR-/- mice were studied on an LDLR deficient background, combined with a high fat diet and/or prolonged fasting. As discussed in Chapter 3, the results of these studies show that the VLDLR indeed plays a role in lipoprotein metabolism. Endothelial VLDLR overexpression is associated with decreased, while VLDLR deficiency is associated with increased plasma triglyceride levels. The increase in plasma triglyceride levels in the absence of the VLDLR is not due to alterations in VLDL triglyceride synthesis. In the absence of the VLDLR, the lipid composition of nascent VLDL is unaffected, while circulating VLDL displays high triglyceride content. Thus, the VLDLR enhances clearance of triglycerides.

Decreased triglyceride clearance from circulating VLDL particles suggests that the reduction in adipose tissue mass of *VLDLR-/-* mice is due to reduced FFA delivery to adipocytes. To further investigate the role of the VLDLR in the adipose tissue, the effect of VLDLR deficiency on profound weight gain has been studied in *VLDLR-/-* mice, as discussed in

Chapter 4. Obesity was induced in *VLDLR-/-* mice either by feeding a high fat, high caloric (HFC) diet or by crossbreeding *VLDLR-/-* mice onto an ob/ob background. After 17 weeks of feeding the HFC diet, *VLDLR-/-* mice remain lean, while wild type littermates become obese. Similarly, weight gain of ob/ob mice is less profound in the absence of the VLDLR. In both the genetically and diet-induced obesity model, VLDLR deficiency reduces adipose tissue mass and induces hypertriglyceridemia. Histological analysis of adipose tissue reveals decreased adipocyte size in *VLDLR-/-* mice as compared to wild type controls, suggesting adipocyte triglyceride storage is reduced. In addition, *VLDLR-/-* mice exhibit reduced whole body free fatty acid uptake as compared to wild type controls. Taken together, these findings strongly support a role for the VLDLR in FFA delivery to peripheral tissues that are active in FFA metabolism, such as the adipose tissue. Furthermore, they expose the VDLR as a potential target in the prevention of diet induced obesity.

VLDLR in atherosclerosis

Thus far, the LDLR is the only member of the LDLR family for which a role in atherosclerosis has been established (14-17). In addition to the LDLR, the VLDLR has also been hypothesized to play a role in atherosclerosis. In vitro studies have shown that the VLDLR is not downregulated by intracellular cholesterol levels and mediates accumulation of cellular lipids (18, 19). This suggests the VLDLR could function as an atherogenic receptr by contributing to the transformation of macrophages and smooth muscle cells into foam cells. Furthermore, the VLDLR has been hypothesized to affect plaque formation by mediating binding, uptake and/or transcytosis of VLDL by endothelial cells (20). As discussed in Chapter 5, we have detected no differences between the mean atherosclerotic lesion area of VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- mice and LDLR-/- controls, demonstrating the VLDLR is not essential for foam cell formation. In addition, we have detected no differences between the mean atherosclerotic lesion area between PVL;LDLR-/- mice and LDLR-/- controls. Together with the data from the VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- mice, this does not support the hypothesis that the endothelial VLDLR affects atherosclerotic plaque formation. Remarkably, we detected a relatively high incidence of necrotic lesions in VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- as compared to LDLR-/- mice. The mechanism behind this increase in necrosis in the absence of the VLDLR remains to be determined.

Recent *in vitro* experiments have revealed an inhibitory effect of the VLDLR on cellular migration (21, 22). Studies using RAP to block lipoprotein receptor function have shown that the VLDLR might also be involved in migration of smooth muscle cells. However, these studies suggest a stimulatory effect of lipoprotein receptors on migration (23, 24). As discussed in Chapter 5, we have used intimal thickening as an *in vivo* model to study the effect of the VLDR on smooth muscle cell migration. Intimal thickening is a characteristic arterial response to injury, caused by migration of smooth muscle cells from the media into the intima. In addition, migration of smooth muscle cells from the media to the intima takes place in atherosclerotic plaque formation and during restenosis (25). Our studies in VLDLR-/- mice as compared

with wild type controls. This suggests the VLDLR has an inhibitory effect on smooth muscle cell migration *in vivo*. In contrast to the situation in the intimal thickening experiments, we have not detected differences in smooth muscle cell infiltration of atherosclerotic lesions between *VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/-* mice and *LDLR-/-* controls in the atherosclerosis experiments. Thus we could not establish a role for the smooth muscle cell VLDLR in atherosclerotic neointimal thickening.

Lipoprotein binding characteristics of apoER2

In addition to examining the physiological functions of the VLDLR, we have compared its lipoprotein binding capabilities to that of the closely related apoER2. In contrast to the VLDLR, the lipoprotein binding characteristics of the apoER2 have not been extensively studied. The name apoER2 has been assigned to the receptor on the basis of its capacity to bind and internalize apoE rich rabbit β -VLDL (5) and its high homology to the VLDLR, which is known to bind apoE enriched lipoproteins (26, 27). As discussed in Chapter 6, our studies reveal that the apoER2 is capable of binding VLDL containing the APOE3-Leiden and APOE2 variants with high affinity, as has been described before for the VLDLR (28, 29). Our studies also reveal that, in contrast to the VLDLR, the apoER2 binds apoE deficient VLDL. Thus, similar to the LDLR, the apoER2 does not depend on apoE for lipoprotein binding.

LPL has been reported to enhance lipoprotein binding and internalization by the VLDLR (27), LRP (30-33), LDLR (34, 35), and megalin (36). LPL binds directly to these receptors, and performs a bridging function between the lipoprotein particle and the receptor. We now show that LPL also enhances binding of lipoproteins to the apoER2 (Chapter 6).

Taken together, these *in vitro* studies show that the apoER2 might play a role in lipoprotein metabolism. The apoER2 is expressed in tissues in which lipids are transported across barrier systems, including testis, placenta and brain (5). Moreover, in the brain the apoER2 has been detected in cells that constitute brain barriers such as endothelial cells of penetrating blood vessels, cells of the arachnoid membrane, and cells of the choroid plexus (37). Therefore, it could be hypothesized that the apoER2 is involved in the transport of lipids and/or other ligands, across these barriers.

Future perspectives

From *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies it has become clear that the VLDLR is a multifunctional receptor, involved in multiple physiological processes. The studies presented in this thesis show that the VLDLR interacts with lipoprotein metabolism. However, the exact nature of the interaction remains to be elucidated. Studies by Kobayashi et al indicate that the VLDLR affects total plasma cholesterol and triglyceride levels by internalizing lipoproteins *in vivo*, when ectopically expressed in the liver (38). In contrast, our studies using VLDLR transgenic and knockout mice reveal that the VLDLR mainly affects VLDL triglyceride content, suggesting the

VLDLR affects triglyceride hydrolysis instead of clearing entire lipoprotein particles. As discussed in Chapter 7, LPL might be the link between the VLDLR and VLDL-triglyceride metabolism.

In order to clarify the pathways in which the VLDLR is involved, it is imperative that more knowledge becomes available on the exact expression pattern of the VLDLR. Although the tissue expression pattern of the VLDLR has been extensively studied in several species (6-8, 19, 26, 39, 40), controversy still exists regarding which cell types express the VLDLR. In a study by Wyne et al it has been shown that in skeletal muscle, heart, ovary, and brain the VLDLR is exclusively expressed in endothelial cells (20). However, several other studies have reported VLDLR expression in vascular smooth muscle cells (11, 12), macrophages in the atherosclerotic plaque (12, 41), and neurons in the brain (3). In addition, *in vitro* studies have revealed that VLDLR mRNA is expressed in differentiated 3T3-L1 adipocytes, but not in the 3T3-L1 preadipocytes (7, 42).

The expression of the VLDLR by adipocytes is puzzling, since lipoprotein particles are too large to passively diffuse across the endothelium in adipose tissue capillaries. Our studies in PVL mice demonstrate that endothelial VLDLR expression suffices to lower plasma triglyceride levels in *LDLR-/-* mice. To establish whether endothelial VLDLR expression alone can mediate diet induced obesity, the obesity studies discussed in Chapter 5 should be repeated with PVL mice on a VLDLR deficient background.

The VLDLR has the potential to affect many cellular processes by mediating cell signaling and by binding and/or internalizing multiple ligands. Future research should focus on VLDLR ligands that can trigger signaling events and the intracellular pathways involved in VLDLR signaling. On the other hand, the mechanisms underlying VLDLR involvement in cellular migration, lipoprotein trafficking and diet induced obesity require further investigation. Interestingly, two different splice variants of the VLDLR have been described, which are differentially expressed in a cell- and tissue-type specific manner (9, 19, 43, 44). This differential expression pattern may reflect functional differences between the two VLDLR variants.

Studies on LDLR family members in knockout mice have demonstrated that the absence of one receptor can be compensated by another LDLR relative. Mice deficient for two LDLR family members, such as the *apoER2-/-;VLDLR-/-* (3) and *LRP-/-;LDLR-/-* (2) double knockouts, have revealed receptor functions that would be difficult to detect in single knockouts. Thus, crossbreeding of mice deficient for LDLR family members that are believed to act in identical pathways, or that are expressed in the same tissues or cell types, can be an effective strategy in elucidating receptor function. To overcome the problem of embryonic and neonatal lethality, as seen in LRP and megalin deficient and apoER2-/-;VLDLR-/- mice, inducible knockouts will have to be generated to study receptor function. In addition, the rapidly increasing number of transgenic and knockout mouse models involving genes constituting ligands and intracellular adapter proteins for LDLR family members will become important tools in receptor research. The knowledge gained by studying these mouse models will provide better insight in the physiological roles of LDLR family members, and may become useful in the development of strategies to prevent diseases, including atherosclerosis, obesity and diabetes.

References

- Herz, J., Hamann, U., Rogne, S., Myklebost, O., Gausepohl, H., and Stanley, K. K. Surface location and high affinity for calcium of a 500-kd liver membrane protein closely related to the LDL-receptor suggest a physiological role as lipoprotein receptor, Embo J. 7: 4119-27, 1988.
- Rohlmann, A., Gotthardt, M., Hammer, R. E., and Herz, J. Inducible inactivation of hepatic LRP gene by cre-mediated recombination confirms role of LRP in clearance of chylomicron remnants, J Clin Invest. 101: 689-95, 1998.
- Trommsdorff, M., Gotthardt, M., Hiesberger, T., Shelton, J., Stockinger, W., Nimpf, J., Hammer, R. E., Richardson, J. A., and Herz, J. Reeler/Disabled-like disruption of neuronal migration in knockout mice lacking the VLDL receptor and ApoE receptor 2, Cell. 97: 689-701, 1999.
- Hiesberger, T., Trommsdorff, M., Howell, B. W., Goffinet, A., Mumby, M. C., Cooper, J. A., and Herz, J. Direct binding of Reelin to VLDL receptor and ApoE receptor 2 induces tyrosine phosphorylation of disabled-1 and modulates tau phosphorylation, Neuron. 24: 481-9, 1999.
- Kim, D. H., Iijima, H., Goto, K., Sakai, J., Ishii, H., Kim, H. J., Suzuki, H., Kondo, H., Saeki, S., and Yamamoto, T. Human apolipoprotein E receptor 2. A novel lipoprotein receptor of the low density lipoprotein receptor family predominantly expressed in brain, J Biol Chem. 271: 8373-80, 1996.
- Oka, K., Ishimura-Oka, K., Chu, M. J., Sullivan, M., Krushkal, J., Li, W. H., and Chan, L. Mouse verylow-density-lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR) cDNA cloning, tissue-specific expression and evolutionary relationship with the low- density-lipoprotein receptor, Eur J Biochem. 224: 975-82, 1994.
- 7. Gafvels, M. E., Paavola, L. G., Boyd, C. O., Nolan, P. M., Wittmaack, F., Chawla, A., Lazar, M. A., Bucan, M., Angelin, B. O., and Strauss, J. F., 3rd Cloning of a complementary deoxyribonucleic acid encoding the murine homolog of the very low density lipoprotein/apolipoprotein-E receptor: expression pattern and assignment of the gene to mouse chromosome 19, Endocrinology. 135: 387-94, 1994.
- Tiebel, O., Oka, K., Robinson, K., Sullivan, M., Martinez, J., Nakamuta, M., Ishimura-Oka, K., and Chan, L. Mouse very low-density lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR): gene structure, tissue-specific expression and dietary and developmental regulation, Atherosclerosis. 145: 239-51, 1999.
- Webb, J. C., Patel, D. D., Jones, M. D., Knight, B. L., and Soutar, A. K. Characterization and tissuespecific expression of the human 'very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) receptor' mRNA, Hum Mol Genet. 3: 531-7, 1994.
- Gafvels, M. E., Caird, M., Britt, D., Jackson, C. L., Patterson, D., and Strauss, J. F. d. Cloning of a cDNA encoding a putative human very low density lipoprotein/apolipoprotein E receptor and assignment of the gene to chromosome 9pter-p23, Somat Cell Mol Genet. 19: 557-69, 1993.
- Multhaupt, H. A., Gafvels, M. E., Kariko, K., Jin, H., Arenas-Elliot, C., Goldman, B. I., Strauss, J. F., 3rd, Angelin, B., Warhol, M. J., and McCrae, K. R. Expression of very low density lipoprotein receptor in the vascular wall. Analysis of human tissues by in situ hybridization and immunohistochemistry, Am J Pathol. 148: 1985-97, 1996.
- Hiltunen, T. P., Luoma, J. S., Nikkari, T., and Yla-Herttuala, S. Expression of LDL receptor, VLDL receptor, LDL receptor-related protein, and scavenger receptor in rabbit atherosclerotic lesions: marked induction of scavenger receptor and VLDL receptor expression during lesion development, Circulation. 97: 1079-86, 1998.
- Frykman, P. K., Brown, M. S., Yamamoto, T., Goldstein, J. L., and Herz, J. Normal plasma lipoproteins and fertility in gene-targeted mice homozygous for a disruption in the gene encoding very low density lipoprotein receptor, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 92: 8453-7, 1995.
- Ishibashi, S., Goldstein, J. L., Brown, M. S., Herz, J., and Burns, D. K. Massive xanthomatosis and atherosclerosis in cholesterol-fed low density lipoprotein receptor-negative mice, J Clin Invest. 93: 1885-93, 1994.
- Herijgers, N., Van Eck, M., Groot, P. H., Hoogerbrugge, P. M., and Van Berkel, T. J. Effect of bone marrow transplantation on lipoprotein metabolism and atherosclerosis in LDL receptor-knockout mice, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 17: 1995-2003, 1997.

- Boisvert, W. A., Spangenberg, J., and Curtiss, L. K. Role of leukocyte-specific LDL receptors on plasma lipoprotein cholesterol and atherosclerosis in mice, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 17: 340-7, 1997.
- Herijgers, N., Van Eck, M., Groot, P. H., Hoogerbrugge, P. M., and Van Berkel, T. J. Low density lipoprotein receptor of macrophages facilitates atherosclerotic lesion formation in C57Bl/6 mice, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 20: 1961-7, 2000.
- Suzuki, J., Takahashi, S., Oida, K., Shimada, A., Kohno, M., Tamai, T., Miyabo, S., Yamamoto, T., and Nakai, T. Lipid accumulation and foam cell formation in Chinese hamster ovary cells overexpressing very low density lipoprotein receptor, Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 206: 835-42, 1995.
- Sakai, J., Hoshino, A., Takahashi, S., Miura, Y., Ishii, H., Suzuki, H., Kawarabayasi, Y., and Yamamoto, T. Structure, chromosome location, and expression of the human very low density lipoprotein receptor gene, J Biol Chem. 269: 2173-82, 1994.
- Wyne, K. L., Pathak, K., Scabra, M. C., and Hobbs, H. H. Expression of the VLDL receptor in endothelial cells, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 16: 407-15, 1996.
- Webb, D. J., Nguyen, D. H., and Gonias, S. L. Extracellular signal-regulated kinase functions in the urokinase receptor-dependent pathway by which neutralization of low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein promotes fibrosarcoma cell migration and matrigel invasion, J Cell Sci. 113: 123-34, 2000.
- Webb, D. J., Nguyen, D. H., Sankovic, M., and Gonias, S. L. The very low density lipoprotein receptor regulates urokinase receptor catabolism and breast cancer cell motility in vitro, J Biol Chem. 274: 7412-20, 1999.
- Wijnberg, M. J., Quax, P. H., Nieuwenbroek, N. M., and Verheijen, J. H. The migration of human smooth muscle cells in vitro is mediated by plasminogen activation and can be inhibited by alpha2-macroglobulin receptor associated protein, Thromb Haemost. 78: 880-6, 1997.
- Okada, S. S., Grobmyer, S. R., and Barnathan, E. S. Contrasting effects of plasminogen activators, urokinase receptor, and LDL receptor-related protein on smooth muscle cell migration and invasion, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 16: 1269-76, 1996.
- De Meyer, G. R. and Bult, H. Mechanisms of neointima formation--lessons from experimental models, Vasc Med. 2: 179-89, 1997.
- Takahashi, S., Kawarabayasi, Y., Nakai, T., Sakai, J., and Yamamoto, T. Rabbit very low density lipoprotein receptor: a low density lipoprotein receptor-like protein with distinct ligand specificity, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 89: 9252-6, 1992.
- Takahashi, S., Suzuki, J., Kohno, M., Oida, K., Tamai, T., Miyabo, S., Yamamoto, T., and Nakai, T. Enhancement of the binding of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins to the very low density lipoprotein receptor by apolipoprotein E and lipoprotein lipase, J Biol Chem. 270: 15747-54, 1995.
- 28. van Dijk, K. W., van Vlijmen, B. J., van der Zee, A., van't Hof, B., van der Boom, H., Kobayashi, K., Chan, L., Havekes, L. M., and Hofker, M. H. Reversal of hypercholesterolemia in apolipoprotein E2 and apolipoprotein E3-Leiden transgenic mice by adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of the VLDL receptor, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 18: 7-12, 1998.
- Takahashi, S., Oida, K., Ookubo, M., Suzuki, J., Kohno, M., Murase, T., Yamamoto, T., and Nakai, T. Very low density lipoprotein receptor binds apolipoprotein E2/2 as well as apolipoprotein E3/3, FEBS Lett. 386: 197-200, 1996.
- Beisiegel, U., Weber, W., and Bengtsson-Olivecrona, G. Lipoprotein lipase enhances the binding of chylomicrons to low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 88: 8342-6, 1991.
- Chappell, D. A., Fry, G. L., Waknitz, M. A., Muhonen, L. E., Pladet, M. W., Iverius, P. H., and Strickland, D. K. Lipoprotein lipase induces catabolism of normal triglyceride-rich lipoproteins via the low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein/alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor in vitro. A process facilitated by cellsurface proteoglycans, J Biol Chem. 268: 14168-75, 1993.
- 32. Nykjaer, A., Bengtsson-Olivecrona, G., Lookene, A., Moestrup, S. K., Petersen, C. M., Weber, W., Beisiegel, U., and Gliemann, J. The alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor/low density lipoprotein receptor-

related protein binds lipoprotein lipase and beta-migrating very low density lipoprotein associated with the lipase, J Biol Chem. 268: 15048-55, 1993.

- 33. Williams, S. E., Inoue, I., Tran, H., Fry, G. L., Pladet, M. W., Iverius, P. H., Lalouel, J. M., Chappell, D. A., and Strickland, D. K. The carboxyl-terminal domain of lipoprotein lipase binds to the low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein/alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor (LRP) and mediates binding of normal very low density lipoproteins to LRP, J Biol Chem. 269: 8653-8, 1994.
- 34. Salinelli, S., Lo, J. Y., Mims, M. P., Zsigmond, E., Smith, L. C., and Chan, L. Structure-function relationship of lipoprotein lipase-mediated enhancement of very low density lipoprotein binding and catabolism by the low density lipoprotein receptor. Functional importance of a properly folded surface loop covering the catalytic center, J Biol Chem. 271: 21906-13, 1996.
- 35. Medh, J. D., Bowen, S. L., Fry, G. L., Ruben, S., Andracki, M., Inoue, I., Lalouel, J. M., Strickland, D. K., and Chappell, D. A. Lipoprotein lipase binds to low density lipoprotein receptors and induces receptormediated catabolism of very low density lipoproteins in vitro, J Biol Chem. 271: 17073-80, 1996.
- Kounnas, M. Z., Chappell, D. A., Strickland, D. K., and Argraves, W. S. Glycoprotein 330, a member of the low density lipoprotein receptor family, binds lipoprotein lipase in vitro, J Biol Chem. 268: 14176-81, 1993.
- 37. Stockinger, W., Hengstschlager-Ottnad, E., Novak, S., Matus, A., M, H. t., Bauer, J., Lassmann, H., Schneider, W. J., and Nimpf, J. The low density lipoprotein receptor gene family. Differential expression of two alpha2-macroglobulin receptors in the brain, J Biol Chem. 273: 32213-21, 1998.
- Kobayashi, K., Oka, K., Forte, T., Ishida, B., Teng, B., Ishimura-Oka, K., Nakamuta, M., and Chan, L. Reversal of hypercholesterolemia in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice by adenovirusmediated gene transfer of the very low density lipoprotein receptor, J Biol Chem. 271: 6852-60, 1996.
- Jokinen, E. V., Landschulz, K. T., Wyne, K. L., Ho, Y. K., Frykman, P. K., and Hobbs, H. H. Regulation of the very low density lipoprotein receptor by thyroid hormone in rat skeletal muscle, J Biol Chem. 269: 26411-8, 1994.
- Bujo, H., Hermann, M., Kaderli, M. O., Jacobsen, L., Sugawara, S., Nimpf, J., Yamamoto, T., and Schneider, W. J. Chicken oocyte growth is mediated by an eight ligand binding repeat member of the LDL receptor family, Embo J. 13: 5165-75, 1994.
- Nakazato, K., Ishibashi, T., Shindo, J., Shiomi, M., and Maruyama, Y. Expression of very low density lipoprotein receptor mRNA in rabbit atherosclerotic lesions, Am J Pathol. 149: 1831-8, 1996.
- Yano, T., Kobori, S., Sakai, M., Anami, Y., Matsumura, T., Matsuda, H., Kasho, M., and Shichiri, M. Beta-very low density lipoprotein induces triglyceride accumulation through receptor mediated endocytotic pathway in 3T3-L1 adipocytes, Atherosclerosis. 135: 57-64, 1997.
- 43. Magrane, J., Reina, M., Pagan, R., Luna, A., Casaroli-Marano, R. P., Angelin, B., Gafvels, M., and Vilaro, S. Bovine aortic endothelial cells express a variant of the very low density lipoprotein receptor that lacks the O-linked sugar domain, J Lipid Res. 39: 2172-81, 1998.
- 44. Iijima, H., Miyazawa, M., Sakai, J., Magoori, K., Ito, M. R., Suzuki, H., Nose, M., Kawarabayasi, Y., and Yamamoto, T. T. Expression and characterization of a very low density lipoprotein receptor variant lacking the O-linked sugar region generated by alternative splicing, J Biochem (Tokyo). 124: 747-55, 1998.

Summary

ų,

Summary

Lipoprotein metabolism needs to be tightly regulated to ensure correct distribution of lipids throughout the body. Receptors of the LDLR family, including the LRP and the LDLR itself, have been shown to play important roles in hepatic lipoprotein clearance. The VLDLR is a member of the LDLR family that has been described to bind and internalize apoE rich lipoproteins *in vitro*. These lipoproteins include VLDL, IDL and chylomicrons. The VLDLR is predominantly expressed in heart, skeletal muscle and adipose tissue, but not in liver. The VLDLR is localized in smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells of arteries and veins. Based on its binding characteristics and its expression pattern, the VLDLR has been hypothesized to play a role in the delivery of FFA to peripheral tissues.

The initial studies on VLDLR-/- mice reported that they display normal plasma lipid and lipoprotein levels. The only indication that the VLDLR is involved in lipid metabolism is the observation that VLDLR-/- mice show a decrease in adipose tissue mass. Thus, either the VLDLR does not play an important role in lipoprotein trafficking, or backup mechanisms can compensate for VLDLR deficiency. An important biological function of the VLDLR was revealed when VLDLR-/- mice were crossbred with apoER2-/- mice. The absence of both VLDLR and apoER2 resulted in malformations of cerebral cortex, cerebellum and hippocampus, and showed that both VLDLR and apoER2 play a role in signaling pathways controlling neuronal migration during brain development.

To examine the VLDLR in vivo, we generated two transgenic mouse models that overexpress the VLDLR. Chapter 2 discusses the generation of VLDLR transgenic mice by coinjection of two overlapping genomic human VLDLR fragments into murine zygotes (VLDLR-Tg mice). Human VLDLR expression in these mice is controlled by endogenous promoter sequences present in the construct. Three transgenic founders were born, of which two generated transgenic offspring. Using fiber-FISH, Southern and Northern blot analysis, we have shown that the use of two overlapping DNA fragments resulted in large integration sites, containing a high percentage of reconstituted, transcriptionally active transgenes. In both mouse strains, the expression pattern of the human VLDLR transgene only partly overlapped with the endogenous mouse VLDLR expression pattern, and was characterized by high expression levels in the testis. In contrast to the endogenous VLDLR, the human VLDLR was not expressed in heart and aorta. Human VLDLR expression in testis was detected in germ cells up to the meiotic stage by in situ mRNA analysis. Remarkably, in the F1 generation of both VLDLR-Tg mouse strains the testis was atrophic and giant cells were detected in the semineferous tubuli. Furthermore, male VLDLR-Tg mice transmitted the transgene to their progeny with low frequencies. This could imply that VLDLR overexpression in the germ cells disturbed spermatogenesis. Interestingly, male apoER2-/- mice were reported previously to display fertility problems, indicating that members of the LDLR family play a role in sperm cell development.

Chapter 3 describes the generation of a transgenic mouse model (PVL), using the human VLDLR cDNA in combination with the preproendothelin promoter to overexpress the VLDLR

in the endothelium. Subsequently, both PVL and *VLDLR-/-* mice were studied under conditions of decreased hepatic lipoprotein clearance in combination with dietary stress. Therefore, PVL and *VLDLR-/-* mice were studied on an LDLR deficient background, combined with a high fat diet and/or prolonged fasting. The absence of the VLDLR was associated with an increase, while overexpression of the VLDLR was associated with a decrease in serum triglyceride levels. No differences were detected in VLDL production or nascent VLDL composition between *VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/-* and *LDLR-/-* littermates. However, the triglyceride content of circulating VLDL in *VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/-* mice was relatively high as compared with *LDLR-/-* mice. These observations showed that the VLDLR is involved in VLDL-triglyceride metabolism, and suggested that the VLDLR affects peripheral uptake of VLDL-triglycerides.

To address the question whether decreased adipose tissue FFA uptake is responsible for the reduction in adipose tissue mass seen in VLDLR-/- mice, the effect of VLDLR deficiency on profound weight gain was studied, as discussed in Chapter 4. Obesity was induced either by feeding of a high fat, high caloric (HFC) diet or by crossbreeding mice onto an ob/ob background. After 17 weeks of HFC feeding, VLDLR-/- mice remained lean, whereas wild type mice became obese. Similarly, absence of the VLDLR resulted in less profound weight gain of ob/ob mice. VLDLR deficiency reduced adipose tissue mass and induced hypertriglyceridemia in both the genetically and diet-induced obesity model. In addition, VLDLR-/- mice fed the HFC diet exhibited significantly decreased levels of plasma glucose and plasma insulin, and cleared a glucose bolus more rapidly than wild type littermates. These results show that VLDLR-/- mice are protected from diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance. The reduction in adipose tissue mass in the absence of the VDLR was accompanied by a decrease in average adipocyte size in both obesity models, implying adipocyte triglyceride storage was reduced. Moreover, VLDLR-/mice showed a significant reduction in whole body FFA uptake as compared with wild type littermates. Thus, it seems likely that the reduced adipose tissue triglyceride stores in VLDLR-/mice result from a decrease in FFA uptake from the circulation.

In addition to its expression in healthy blood vessels, the VLDLR is expressed in atheroslerotic plaques. VLDLR expression in plaques is localized in endothelial cells and in macrophage and smooth muscle cell derived foam cells. The VLDLR is not downregulated by intracellular cholesterol levels, and mediates accumulation of cellular lipids in vitro. Taken together, these observations led to the hypothesis that the VLDLR is involved in atherosclerosis by mediating foam cell formation and/or transport of lipids from the circulation into the plaque. As discussed in Chapter 5, the role of the VLDLR in atherosclerosis was studied in PVL and VLDLR-/- mice on an LDLR deficient background. After feeding of a high fat diet for 8 weeks, no differences were detected between the mean atherosclerotic lesion area of VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/mice and LDLR-/- controls, demonstrating the VLDLR is not essential for foam cell formation. In addition, we have detected no differences between the mean atherosclerotic lesion area between PVL;LDLR-/- mice and LDLR-/- controls. Together with the data from the VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- mice, this indicates that lipid or lipoprotein transport mediated by the endothelial VLDLR is not essential for atherosclerotic plaque formation. Remarkably, VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/displayed a high incidence of necrotic lesions as compared with LDLR-/- mice. The mechanism behind this increase in necrosis remains to be determined.

Summary

Recent *in vitro* studies revealed that the VLDLR, similar to the LRP, inhibits cellular migration via a uPA dependent pathway. In contrast, studies using RAP to block receptor function revealed a stimulatory effect of LDLR family members on migration of smooth muscle cells. As discussed in Chapter 5, we used cuff induced intimal thickening as an *in vivo* model to study the effect of the VLDR on smooth muscle cell migration. Intimal thickening is a characteristic arterial response to injury, caused by migration of smooth muscle cells from the media into the intima. Intimal thickening is associated with vascular pathological processes, including restenosis and atherogenesis. Three weeks after cuff placement, *VLDLR-/-* and *VLDLR+/-* mice displayed a profound increase in intimal thickening as compared with wild type littermates, suggesting that the presence of the VLDLR reduces smooth muscle cell migration *in vivo*. In contrast, immunohistological analysis revealed no differences in smooth muscle cell infiltration of atherosclerotic lesions between *VLDLR-/-*, *LDLR-/-* mice and *LDLR-/-* controls in the atherosclerosis experiments. Thus, we could not establish a role for the smooth muscle cell VLDLR in atherosclerotic neointimal thickening.

The name apoER2 was assigned to the receptor only on the basis of its high homology to the VLDLR, which is known to bind apoE enriched lipoproteins, and its capacity to bind and internalize apoE rich rabbit β -VLDL. In Chapter 6, the lipoprotein binding characteristics of the apoER2 with respect to apoE and LPL were investigated using CHO cells expressing the apoER2. To study the effects of apoE deficiency and different apoE isoforms on the binding of VLDL to the apoER2, VLDL was isolated from *apoE-/-*, APOE2;*apoE-/-;LDLR-/-* and APOE3Leiden;*apoE-/-;LDLR-/-* mice. Rabbit β -VLDL was used as a positive control for binding. All VLDL fractions used were shown to bind to the apoER2, revealing that apoER2 binding is not restricted to apoE containing lipoproteins. Several members of the LDLR family were described to display enhanced binding and internalization of lipoproteins in the presence of LPL. Therefore, we repeated the VLDL binding experiments with LPL added to the culture medium. LPL was shown to markedly enhance lipoprotein binding to the apoER2 with all VLDL fractions tested.

Samenvatting in het Nederlands

Het lipoproteine metabolisme behoort strikt gereguleerd te worden om een correcte distributie van lipiden te waarborgen. Receptoren van de LDL receptor (LDLR) familie, inclusief de LRP en de LDLR zelf, spelen een belangrijke rol in de klaring van lipoproteinen door de lever. De VLDL receptor (VLDLR) is een lid van de LDLR familie die *in vitro* apolipoproteine (apo) E rijke lipoproteinen, zoals VLDL, IDL en chylomicronen, bindt en internaliseert. De VLDLR komt tot expressie in hart, skelet spier en vetweefsel, maar niet in de lever. De VLDLR is gelocaliseerd in gladde spiercellen van zowel slagaders als aders. Gebaseerd op de bindingskarakteristieken en het expressiepatroon werd de VLDLR verondersteld een rol te spelen in het transport van vrije vetzuren naar de perifere weefsels.

De initiële studies aan VLDLR deficiënte (VLDLR-/-) muizen laten geen afwijkingen zien in plasma lipide- en lipoproteineniveaus. De enige indicatie dat de VLDLR een rol speelt in het lipid metabolisme, is de observatie dat VLDLR-/- muizen een afname in vetweefselmassa vertonen. Dit betekent ofwel dat de VLDLR geen belangrijke rol in het lipoproteinemetabolisme speelt, of dat backup mechanismen de afwezigheid van de VLDLR in deze muizen compenseren. Een belangrijke biologische functie van de VLDLR kwam aan het licht toen VLDLR-/- muizen werden gekruist met apoE receptor 2 (apoER2) knockout muizen. De afwezigheid van beide receptoren resulteerde in afwijkingen in de morfologie van de cerebrale cortex, het cerebellum en de hippocampus, en toonde dat de VLDLR en de apoER2 een rol spelen in signaal transductie pathways die de neuronale migratie gedurende de onwikkeling van de hersenen controleren.

Om de VLDLR in vivo te bestuderen, hebben we 2 transgene muismodellen gegenereerd die de VLDLR tot overexpressie brengen. Hoofdstuk 2 bespreekt het genereren van VLDLR transgene muizen door injectie van twee overlappende genomische humane VLDLR fragmenten in zygoten (VLDLR-Tg muizen). De expressie van de humane VLDLR in deze muizen wordt gereguleerd door de endogene promotor sequenties die aanwezig zijn in het construct. Van de drie transgene founders genereerden er two transgene nakomelingen. Fiber-FISH, Southern en Nortern blot analyse lieten zien dat het gebruik van de twee overlappende DNA fragmenten resulteerde in grote integratie sites, die een hoog percentage herstelde, transcriptioneel actieve transgenen bevatten. In beide muislijnen overlapte het expressiepatroon van het humane VLDLR transgen maar gedeeltelijk met het endogene VLDLR expressiepatroon van de muis, en werd het gekarakteriseerd door hoge expressie niveaus in de testis. De humane VLDLR kwam, in tegenstelling tot de endogene VLDLR, niet tot expressie in hart en aorta. In situ mRNA analyse toonde dat de humane VLDLR in de testis tot expressie kwam in spermatocyten tot aan de meiose. De F1 generatie van beide muislijnen vertoonde atrofie van de testis, en "giant cells" in de seminifere tubili. Tevens was de efficiëntie waarmee de mannelijke VLDLR-Tg muizen het transgen overbrachten op de nakomelingen erg laag. Dit impliceert dat overexpressie van de VLDLR in spermatocyten de spermatogenese verstoort. Mannelijke apoER2 deficiënte muizen vertonen eveneens vruchtbaarheidsproblemen, wat aangeeft dat de leden van de LDLR familie misschien een rol spelen in de spermatogenese.

Hoofdstuk drie beschrijft het genereren van een transgeen muismodel (PVL) met behulp van het humane VLDLR cDNA in combinatie met de preproendotheline promotor om de VLDLR tot overexpressie te brengen in het endotheel. Vervolgens zijn de PVL en de VLDLR-/muizen bestudeert onder condities van verminderde klaring van lipoproteinen door de lever in combinatie met dieet-geïnduceerde stress. Daarvoor zijn de PVL en VLDLR-/- muizen op een LDLR deficiënte achtergrond bestudeerd, gecombineerd met een vetrijk dieet en/of langdurig vasten. Afwezigheid van de VLDLR was geassociëerd met verhoogde serum triglycerideniveaus, terwijl overexpressie van de VLDLR was geassociëerd met verlaagde serum triglycerideniveaus. Tussen de VLDLR-/-; LDLR-/- muizen en LDLR-/- controles zijn geen verschillen geconstateerd in zowel VLDL productie als de samenstelling van nieuw geproduceerd VLDL. Echter, het triglyceride gehalte van circulerend VLDL in VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- muizen was relatief hoog vergeleken met LDLR-/- muizen. Deze bevindingen tonen aan dat de VLDLR betrokken is bij het metabolisme van VLDL-triglyceriden, en waarschijnlijk een rol speelt bij de perifere opname van deze VLDL-triglyceriden.

Om te bestuderen of een verminderde vrije vetzuur opname door het vetweefsel verantwoordelijk is voor de verminderde vetweefselmassa van VLDLR-/- muizen, is het effect van VLDLR deficiëntie op een sterke gewichtstoename bestudeerd (hoofdstuk 4). Zwaarlijvigheid werd geïnduceerd door middel van een calorie- en vetrijkrijk diëet, of door de muizen op een ob/ob achtergrond te kruisen. Na 17 weken het calorie- en vetrijk dieet gegeten te hebben, waren de VLDLR-/- slank en de controle muizen zwaarlijvig. Op een ob/ob achtergrond resulteerde VLDLR deficiëntie eveneens in een gereduceerde gewichtstoename. VLDLR deficiëntie reduceerde de vetweefsel massa en induceerde hypertriglyceridemia, in zowel het genetisch als het diëet geïnduceerde model voor zwaarlijvigheid. Tevens vertoonden de VLDLR-/- muizen op het calorie- en vetrijk diëet lagere plasma glucose en insuline niveaus, en een snellere klaring van een glucose bolus dan controle muizen. Deze resultaten tonen aan dat VLDLR muizen beschermd zijn tegen diëet geïnduceerde zwaarlijvigheid en insuline resistentie. In beide modellen voor zwaarlijvigheid ging de reductie in vetweefsel massa in afwezigheid van de VLDLR gepaard met een afname in de gemiddelde adipocyt grootte, wat impliceert dat de opslag van triglyceriden in de adipocyt was gereduceerd. VLDLR-/- muizen vertoonden eveneens een significante reductie in totale vrije vetzuur opname. Daardoor is het aannemelijk dat de afname in opslag van triglyceriden in vetweefsel van VLDLR-/- muizen veroorzaakt wordt door een verminderde opname van vrije vetzuren uit de circulatie.

Behalve in gezonde bloedvaten, komt de VLDLR ook voor in atherosclerotische plaques. VLDLR expressie in plaques is gelocaliseerd in endotheel cellen, en in schuimcellen afkomstig van gladde spiercellen en macrofagen. De VLDLR wordt niet verminderd tot expressie gebracht bij hoge intracellulaire cholesterol niveaus, en kan *in vitro* accumulatie van cellulaire lipiden mediëren. Deze observaties leidden tot de hypothese dat de VLDLR betrokken is bij schuimcelvorming en/of transport van lipiden vanuit de circulatie naar de plaque. Zoals besproken in hoofdstuk 5, is de rol van de VLDLR in het atherosclerotisch proces bestudeerd in PVL en *VLDLR-/-* muizen op een *LDLR-/-* achtergrond. Na een periode van 8 weken op een vetrijk diëet vertoonden *VLDLR-/-*;*LDLR-/-* muizen en *LDLR-/-* controles geen verschillen in gemiddeld atherosclerotisch lesie oppervlak. Dit toont aan dat de VLDLR niet noodzakelijk is

voor schuimcelvorming. PVL;LDLR-/- muizen en LDLR-/- controles vertoonden eveneens geen verschillen in gemiddeld atherosclerotisch lesie oppervlak. Tesamen met de data van de VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- muizen tonen deze studies aan dat de VLDLR op het endotheel niet noodzakelijk is voor transport van lipiden vanuit de circulatie naar de plaque. Opmerkelijk was de observatie dat necrotische lesies vaker voorkwamen bij VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/- muizen dan bij LDLR-/- muizen. Het mechanisme achter deze toename in necrose is nog niet opgehelderd.

Recente *in vitro* studies tonen aan dat de VLDLR, evenals de LRP, migratie van cellen inhibeert via een uPA afhankelijke pathway. Studies waarbij RAP wordt gebruikt om de receptor functie te blokkeren tonen echter een stimulerend effect van LDLR familieleden op de migratie van gladde speircellen. Wij gebruikten cuff-geïnduceerde intima verdikking als een *in vivo* model om het effect van de VLDLR op migratie van gladde spiercellen te bestuderen (hoofdstuk 5). Verdikking van de intima is een karakteristieke arteriële respons op vaatwandschade, die wordt veroorzaakt door migratie van gladde spiercellen vanuit de media naar de intima. Intima verdikking is geassociëerd met pathologische vasculaire processen, inclusief restenose en atherosclerose. Drie weken na het plaatsen van de cuff vertoonden zowel VLDLR-/- muizen als VLDLR+/- muizen een grotere verdikking van de intima dan wild type muizen, wat suggereert dat aanwezigheid van de VLDLR de migratie van gladde spiercellen remt. Echter, in de atherosclerose experimenten kon geen verschil worden aangetoond in gladde spiercelinfiltratie van plaques tussen *VLDLR-/-;LDLR-/-* muizen en *LDLR-/-* controles. Daardoor kan niet geconcludeerd worden dat de VLDLR een rol speelt bij atherosclerotische neointima vorming door gladde spiercellen.

De apoER2 kreeg zijn naam op basis van zijn hoge mate van homologie met de VLDLR, die apoE rijke lipoproteinen bindt, en zijn capaciteit om apoE rijk \u03b3-VLDL te binden en te internalizeren. In hoofdstuk 6 zijn de bindingdkarakteristieken van de apoER2 met betrekking tot apoE en LPL onderzocht met behulp van CHO cellen die de apoER2 tot expressie brengen. Om de effecten van apoE deficiëntie en verschillende apoE isovormen op de binding van VLDL aan de apoER2 te bestuderen is VLDL geïsoleerd uit *apoE-/-*, APOE2;*apoE-/-;LDLR-/-* en APOE3Leiden;*apoE-/-;LDLR-/-* muizen. Konijnen \u03b3-VLDL is gebruikt als positieve controle voor binding. Alle VLDL fracties bonden aan de apoER2, wat aantoont dat binding aan de apoER2 niet beperkt is tot lipoproteinen die apoE bevatten. Verscheidene leden van de LDLR familie vertonen verhoogde binding en internalisatie van lipoproteinen in aanwezigheid van lipoproteïne lipase (LPL). Daarom hebben we de apoER2 bindingsexperimenten herhaald in aanwezigheid van LPL in het celkweek medium. LPL verhoogde de binding van alle geteste VLDL fracties aan de apoER2.

List of publications

Full papers

- Modulating effects of thyroid state on the induction of biotransformation enzymes by 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin. Schuur AG, Tacken PJ, Visser TJ, Brouwer A. Envirion. Toxicol. Phar. 5: (1) 7-16 Jan. 1998.
- Very low density lipoprotein binding to the apolipoprotein receptor 2 is enhanced by lipoprotein lipase, and does not require apolipoprotein E. Tacken PJ, de Beer F, van Vark LC, Havekes LM, Hofker MH, Willems van Dijk K. *Biochem. J.* 347: 357-362 Apr. 2000.
- LDL receptor deficiency unmasks altered VLDL triglyceride metabolism in VLDL receptor transgenic and knockout mice. Tacken PJ, Teusink B, Jong MC, Harats D, Havekes LM, Willems van Dijk K, Hofker MH. J. Lipid Res. 41: 2055-2062 Dec. 2000.
- 4) Prevention of diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance in mice lacking the VLDL receptor. Goudriaan JR, Tacken PJ, Dahlmans VEH, Willems van Dijk K, Havekes LM, Jong MC. Submitted.
- 5) Effective generation of very low density lipoprotein receptor transgenic mice by overlapping genomic DNA fragments: high testis expression and disturbed spermatogenesis. Tacken PJ, van der Zee A, Beumer TL, Florijn RJ, Gijbels MJJ, Havekes LM, Frants RR, Willems van Dijk K, Hofker MH. Trans. Res., in press.
- 6) VLDL receptor deficiency enhances intimal thickening after vascular injury but does not affect atherosclerotic lesion area. Tacken PJ, Delsing D, Gijbels MJJ, Quax P, Havekes LM, Hofker MH, Willems van Dijk K. *Submitted*.
- 7) Living up to a name: very low density lipoprotein receptor in lipid metabolism. Tacken PJ, Hofker MH, Havekes LM, Willems van Dijk K. Submitted.

Published abstracts

- Generation of very low density lipoprotein receptor overexpressing mice. Tacken PJ, van der Zee A, Willems van Dijk K, Frants RR, Havekes LM, Hofker MH. *Atherosclerosis* 134: (1-2) 362-363 Oct. 1997.
- VLDL receptor deficient mice are protected against diet induced obesity and insulin resistance. Goudriaan JR, Jong MC, Dahlmans VEH, Tacken PJ, Havekes LM. *Atherosclerosis* 151: (1) 241 Jul. 2000.
- VLDL receptor modulates VLDL metabolism in LDL receptor knockout mice. Tacken PJ, Teusink B, Jong MC, Harats D, Havekes LM, Willems van Dijk K, Hofker MH. Atherosclerosis 151: (1) 297 Jul. 2000.

Curriculum Vitae

Paulus Johannes Tacken werd geboren op 24 mei 1971 in Sint Oedenrode. In 1989 behaalde hij zijn VWO diploma aan het Mgr. Zwijsencollege te Veghel. In datzelfde jaar begon hij aan de studie Biologie aan de Landbouwuniversiteit Wageningen. Het propaedeutisch examen Biologie werd behaald in 1990. Het doctoraal examen Biologie, oriëntatie Cel, werd afgelegd in 1995. In het kader van het doctoraal examen werden twee afstudeervakken en een stage uitgevoerd. Het eerste afstudeervak, met als titel "De invloed van het schildklierhormoon op de activiteit van P-450 en glucuronyltransferase enzymen na inductie door TCDD", werd uitgevoerd bij de vakgroep Toxicologie, Landbouwuniversiteit Wageningen (ir. G. Schuur en dr. A Brouwer). Het tweede afstudeervak, met als titel "Search for cytokines in Carp", werd uitgevoerd bij de vakgroep Experimentele Diermorfologie en Celbiologie, Landbouwuniversiteit Wageningen (dr. Lidy Verburg). De stage, met als titel "Iron metabolism and the immune system: Cytokine expression in hemochromatotic patients", werd uitgevoerd aan de sectie Immunologie van het Instituut Biomedische Wetenschappen aan de Universiteit van Porto, Portugal (prof. dr. M. de Sousa).

Van maart 1996 tot maart 2000 was hij werkzaam als assistent in opleiding (AIO) op een door de Nederlandse Hartstichting gesubsidieerd samenwerkingsproject tussen de vakgroep Humane en Klinische Genetica, Leids Universitair Medisch Centrum, Leiden (dr. M.H. Hofker en dr. ir. K. Willems van Dijk) en het Gaubius Laboratorium, TNO-Preventie en Gezondheid (prof. dr. ir. L.M. Havekes), beide te Leiden. De resultaten van het onderzoek staan beschreven in dit proefschrift.

Vanaf december 2000 is hij werkzaam als post-doc op een door de Europese Unie gefinancierd project, met als titel "Control of lung infection, allergy and inflammation: assessment of the therapeutic potential of recombinant forms of the lung surfactant proteins SP-A and SP-D", aan de faculteit Diergeneeskunde, afdeling Biochemie, Universiteit Utrecht.